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DEFINITIONS
Bx

In this annual report, unless the
context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have
the following meanings:

2019 AGM”
[ZZ2-NFRRBFAE]

“AGM”
[RRBFAEG]

“Angame”

[Angame |

“ARPPU”

[ARPPU

“Articles”
[AAE=24mE)] ]

“Audit Committee”
[BEZZEE ]

“Board Committees”
E=T3-4

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

[E%g)

“BVI”
[EEELEHS ]

“CG Code” or “Code”
[ &GP sk [<FAl]

“China” or “PRC”

[FhE

ERFERA - BXESEREIN » THAREEUATEE

the AGM to be held on June 21, 2019
ARABBR_E—AESNAT—BETHIRRREFAZ

annual general meeting of the Company

AAFHBRBFRE

Angame Inc., a company incorporated in BVI with limited liability on July 5, 2005, which is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
—FR-EERFL AR EREBRRRHSTMKIZOERAT - REAQFH

Angame Inc. -

2 EMBLR

average revenue per month per paying user, which represents our revenue recognized
for a particular game, a particular type of games or all of our games, as applicable, in the
period divided by the number of paying users of the game, the type of games or all of our
games, as applicable, in such period

BENERFPEAFHRA - E—ER - —RERSBMAMEEE (NER) X—REBM[AA
PREEREVUIN » BR ARZRRBESL - s R B s R PP B sk (B M) RSB An N ER PR
|

the memorandum and articles of association as amended from time to time
A RSN RASET B0 AR S F5 72 K 4 S 4R )

the audit committee of the Board
EEREH (BZEER

the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
EZELZEE  FMEESREREEE

our board of Directors

ARREES

British Virgin Islands
HERLHS

the “Corporate Governance Code” as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules

LR RIKT SR+ AR [ EER T A

the People’s Republic of China, which for the purpose of this annual report and for
geographical reference only, excludes Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

hEE ARHME - @RAFRRMEREATN S - TREEE  RFRAE
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)
g% ()

“Company”, “our Company”, Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (#2% 5 E)5EE AR A F*), a company incorporated
“Digital Hollywood”, “Group”, under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on November 24, 2014 and
“our Group”, “we”, “our” or “us” except where the context indicated otherwise (1) our subsidiaries and (2) with respect to

the period before our Company became the holding company of our present subsidiaries,
the business operated by our present subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their

predecessors
[ARRAR] - [HEREE] Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (# (K B &8 &EBRAT*) - — KR T —NF+— A=
[AR&mE ] sk [FM) THBAREFASESEAEFIMRIOBRART - UEBXESEAHEN - ()RMHHER R &

QFRARBRAEAMBEARNERARFNHRHEME - BREAMBARZ RIFERME)
HAl g RBIMEENER

“Controlling Shareholder(s)” has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules and unless the context requires
otherwise, refers to Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin, Mr. HUANG Guozhan, Mr. HUANG
Degiang, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, Angel Age Limited, LXT Digital Holdings Limited
and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

[ERRARER BEAELTRAMETORE  BXESAMIEIN  BERELL  REHXL SESL
4 - F{E58 54  LYF Digital Holdings Limited * Angel Age Limited * LXT Digital Holdings
Limited 2HDQ Digital Holdings Limited

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company or any one of them
[E=%] RAREFHEPEAN—BES
“Guangzhou SYND” Guangzhou Suiyue Niandai Software Technology Company Limited (B 5% 3 & R E R

BBR7AA]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on June 12, 2010, which
is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

[N B B ER ] BMmAFREGRRERAR  —RRZE—ZSFATHEFBEKINERAF - /AAE
REWEEEENB ARG

“Guangzhou You Lai” Guangzhou You Lai Information Technology Company Limited (/i3 BRFEARA
A]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability on May 13, 2015, which is an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

[ B2 ] BMERESREARLAF  — KR _E-—RFREAT=AEFBEKIHERAR - BAQA
BfE 2 E B A )

“HK$” or “Hong Kong dollars” Hong Kong dollars and cents, both are the lawful currency of Hong Kong

(%l BEBREEEWET

“Hollywood BVI” Digital Hollywood International Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited

liability on November 25, 2014, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company
[Hollywood BVI] Digital Hollywood International Limited * — RN -Z—NFE+—A-THHEABREZHS
TMAKZEERAT - AARFNEENBAF

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR @

N ke N
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“Hollywood HK”

[Hollywood HK |

“Hong Kong”

(&)
“HTML5” or “H5”
[HTML5] =% [H5]
“IFRS”

[ BB s i s 22
“IPO”

[ERDFEE]

“Listing”
[ 7]

“Listing Date”
[ £ AH
“Listing Rules”
[ L8]

“MAUs”

[FRERREF]

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited, a company established in Hong Kong with limited
liability on December 5, 2014, which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited * —RR - —UFE+ - AR BEBRERIHERERQ
A ARRRINEEZENB AR

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEFBFRITH R

hypertext markup language 5, the fifth and current major version of the hypertext markup
language standard; used for structuring and presenting content on web pages and for
creating web applications

FEOMBYFRLES  BXFRLESRENEORE BN EEMA - AREHE LB
&zﬁﬁe*&ﬂ%%%%%&f

International Financial Reporting Standards

BB 5 HR e 22 A

the initial public offering of the Company, having become unconditional in all aspects on
December 15, 2017
ERFEEAEGRER  ARAAR_Z—+F+ A THRETHNERRHEES

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
P ) FE RS 22 PR AR 7

December 15, 2017, on which the Shares were listed and from which dealings therein
were permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

—tF+-ATER - ARG R B N B e B R AT T E B R B

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended from time to time)

EREBMERIMBERRARZES LR (ETRERT)

monthly active users, which refers to the number of individuals who login to a particular
game in the relevant calendar month; average MAUs for a particular period is the average
of the MAUs in each month during that period

BRERAFE  EHEFRUEANEHETRENAR  RMEEHENTHETRAERAFEE
ZHE S ARG RIERERA P T

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018



DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“MMORPG”

[MMORPG |

“Model Code”
[1EAE<F Al ]

“Nomination Committee”

[feRZEg
“Now To Play Game”

[Now To Play Game]

“Now To Play Game (Spain)”

[Now To Play Game (PEHLF) |

“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
[ERRRBEERERETE]

“Prospectus”

[BlRERE]
“Proficient City”

[ Proficient City ]

massively multiple online role-play games, a combination of role-playing games and
massively multiplayer online games in which a very large number of players interact with
one another within a virtual world; role-playing games, which refer to games that involve
a large number of users who interact with each other in an evolving fictional world; each
user adopts skill sets (such as melee combat or casting magic spells) and controls the
avatars’ actions; there are unlimited possible game scenarios where the evolution of the
game world is determined by the actions of the users, and the storyline continuously
evolves even when the users are offline and away from the games

REZ NBE A EES - —BEAACHEEREAREZ NBRERNES - KENMFRRN
BEERERPRIEEE  AEHREEESRAERPRTE RS/ ERE R R I EH
B BERPEAREEES (L sRFSmRER) MG AR BEAERAENE
i - RERERNEHERIVRN AP MNTE - MEAMERS T RSB ERIE R E G &S
R

the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
TR SR T PAE [ LB AESETES X HOIEAESTA]
the nomination committee of the Board

EFEgRETREEES

Now To Play Game Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability on
March 29, 2011, which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Now To Play Game Limited - —RXR T ——F=A -+ N BEBEFMERIHBRAF
RARFNEZEZEMB AR

Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia, a branch office established in Spain on July
24, 2014 by Now To Play Game, which is an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of our
Company

Now To Play Game Sucursal En Espafia * —% FNow To Play Game R =T —QF+ A =+
MBEEEE AR D i - REARBINMESEMNB AR

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by the Company on May 27, 2017
RARRZZE—TF R At B ARG RN ERERT 2

the prospectus of the Company dated December 5, 2017
ARFAEHMA-E—tF+-ALBENHEKRER

Proficient City Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability on January
25, 2011, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Proficient City Limited " —HZR T ——F - A+ hBEEBELXHSAMKINBERA
A REREINEENE A
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DEFINITIONS (Continued)

B= (&)

“Remuneration Committee”

[FER 2]

“RMB”
[ARE ]

“SDK”

[SDK]

“SFO”

“Share(s)”
[Btn |

“Shareholder(s)”
[FRER |

“Stock Exchange”
[ Bt 52 PR |

“U.S. dollars”, “USD” or “US$”

=

“7Road”
[HXE]

“7Road International”

[7Road International |

the remuneration committee of the Board

ExgRETHMERS

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEDEEEBARY

software development kit, typically a set of software development tools that allows the
creation of applications for a certain software package, software framework, hardware
platform, computer system, video game console, operating system, or similar development
platform

PHFAEES  —RAE—HERNUHHRBEITE  URSERHE  SHFER EHFae  BHA
o REBEEE  RERGSBELNRE TR EAER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
BEBEDESTIEREZ RHAGKRD - STRHER] - A M T Ek

ordinary share(s) of US$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company
RRABRAH FAREEO0.0015 TTHY & i AX

holder(s) of Shares
SUESZEPN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEBBMAERIMBERAT

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

KEVEFEHET

virtual reality, a computer technology that uses certain equipment to generate realistic
images, sounds and other sensations that simulate a user’s physical presence in a virtual
or imaginary environment

ERESR  TRETREREREAECERESNERKIENRED  ETELEEY
& BENEMEE 2B

7Road International and its fellow subsidiaries
7Road International & £ [ Z ] & A 7]

7Road International Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability on May 12, 2015, a substantial Shareholder of the Company

7Road International Group Limited ' —" XA -_T—AFAA+ AR EBHE TSR INE
REFRE RAREERRZ—

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018



DEFINITIONS (Continued)
g% ()

“7Road Shenzhen” Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd. (Z ¥l % + K& & & & R 2 &), a company
established in the PRC on January 22, 2008, one of our game developer partners and a
fellow subsidiary of 7Road International, a substantial shareholder of the Company

DRYIE L RE ] RYBELREMTARRAF - — KR ZZZ2N\F-A -+ - HEFERIORF - BEMHE
BB 2 —RARFEZRE 2 —7Road International &) 7 i & A 7

“%” per cent.
[% ] B
*  For identification purposes only * R
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~EEFR
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
DEEHR ()

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South)
Haizhu District
Guangzhou, PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

11/F, Tai Sang Bank Building
784 Nathan Road
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
BBVA Compass Bank, Spain

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Messis Capital Limited

Room 1606, 16th Floor, Tower 2
Admiralty Centre

18 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISER

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Suite 1509, 15/F, Jardine House
1 Connaught Place, Central
Hong Kong

B

B AGES R
BFETIR
RFARE2212

AN EE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

RBRPEEEEFE R

T
EINTEIRER
TR KBR3685% — 8

BERTEERMH
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RERERRAR
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CORPORATE PROFILE (Continued)
DEEHR ()

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND ERMBFERE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681 PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR ERROBFERITE
Tricor Investor Services Limited BEBAELERAF

Level 22, Hopewell Centre BB

183 Queen’s Road East BEREFR1835

Hong Kong A MR R2212

STOCK CODE iz 104X 5%

Stock Code: 2022 &5 5% : 2022

WEBSITE #8uk
www.gamehollywood.com www.gamehollywood.com
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MILESTONES
EEw

Year Events

F4 =H

2010 . Our founders became the beneficial shareholders of our first operating entity, Guangzhou SYND

—ZT-ZF s EMWAIRARARMNERCEEBEMNRAFANERRER

2011 . Proficient City was established to develop overseas operation

B «  BX3ZProficient City A3 E/BINER

2012 . Launched multiplayer web game Wartune with an exclusive license for overseas publishing in
English-speaking markets

T F . BHZMABE R Wartune - WA ERBMISNETGINEITHE

2013 . Proficient City was granted the “Facebook’s Excellent Game-Advertiser Award”

—E—=F +  Proficient City/# 8% [ Facebook{8F 75L& & £ K48 |

. Wartune was granted the “Facebook Staff Favorites Recognition”

. Wartune£58% [ Facebook B T fx = & #7582 |

. Launched Stallion Race on Facebook

+  FFacebook# ffi Stallion Race

. We were granted the “Best Overseas Publisher Award” by 7Road Shenzhen

o RARERINELBRE [SEBINEREITEALE]

2014 . Established Now To Play Game (Spain) as our liaison office in Europe

—ZT-PEF «  BX3ZNow To Play Game (IS 1B & MERUM BB 48 #1 = 52

2015 . Launched several successful casual shooting games, including a special edition featuring sports
figures and scenes licensed from Barcelona Football Club

—Z—0F o BMEERAESTEER  BEMACEREE TS RENBEAY IS ERIR

2016 . Launched our cross-platform Wing SDK

—E—RF . i %5 F 5 Wing SDK

. Entered into the VR market with our investment in a VR studio in China
. FRREPE-—KEBRBREELR - EEERBIETS

2017 . Launched Lord of Star, a mobile game in cross-platform format on Gameroom
—E—tF « FGameroomZ 5T & 1E XK F#IEEILord of Star
. Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2022) on December 15,
2017

c BOR-ZE—LHF+-A+AREBRMAER LT (RO - 2022)

2018 . French, German, Polish and Turkish versions of Dragon Awaken were launched successively, fully
penetrating into the European market
—T—N\F +  Dragon Awaken®);EE - fEE - KR - T EEMNRARES FG o 2EESTEMNTES

. Robot Tactics, the strategic mobile game featuring anime graphics, was launched on and featured
by Google Play in more than 100 countries and regions around the world

o BURTVEHEL ZIRTTHER SRR AL F BN 15 Google PlayfE £ IR 5 100 1E B 5 A i [ o) HE B

. Digital Hollywood was awarded the 6th Jincha Award for 2018 Best Mobile Publisher

c  BEREBREZNESRE[2018KEBRETEIEITH

. Be elected as the vice-president of the Gaming Industry Association Guangzhou Branch

- BEBRMTERTERSRIEREM

. Dragon Awaken was awarded “2018 Zhuoer Award for Top 10 Most Popular Windows Games” in
2018 Globe Windows Game Conference

«  Dragon AwakenEGWGCE IR EMBE—_T— )\ FEEE® [T — \FELREMABE T MEH T A&
EMREEBE ]

BREFERAR AT T N\FER @
/e
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to
approximately US$24.2 million, representing a decrease of 15.4% from
approximately US$28.6 million recorded in 2017.

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to
approximately US$13.3 million, representing a decrease of 16.4% from
approximately US$15.9 million recorded in 2017.

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2018 amounted to approximately US$0.9 million, representing a
decrease of 47.1% from approximately US$1.7 million in 2017.

Non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2018 amounted to approximately
US$3.6 million, representing a decrease of 44.6% as compared with
approximately US$6.5 million in 2017.

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018

HE-_Z-N\F+_A=1t—HILEEHRANA
42EHBET BT +FHENHN286HEE
TR 15.4% ©

HE_Z- \F+A=+—RHIEFENENNE
133BEEL BT LFHENN15988%E
T A 16.4% ©

HE_Z-\FTA=+—HILFERRAHESE
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B HE

For the year ended December 31,
BE+-—HA=+—-HLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-NF —ZT-hF T-RF T—+HF ZB-N\F
US$’000 US$'000 US$’'000 Us$'000 Us$’000
F=x FEx FEr FErx FErx

Revenue WA 22,776 28,008 28,446 28,621 24,161
Gross profit Al 19,991 17,969 15,535 15,926 13,319
Profit before income tax FR FT1S T A& A 9,147 6,481 8,552 3,982 2,008
Income tax expense FiSfHiX 2,082 1,931 1,613 2,255 1,071
Profit for the year FREF 7,066 4,550 6,940 1,727 937
Profit attributable to: PN

Owners of the Company RAEHEA A 7,502 4,474 6,940 1,727 937

Non-Controlling interests PR 2 (437) 76 - - =
Non-IFRS adjusted profit SEBIBR B 75 3R 45 22 R

attributable to owners of AT B S A

the Companynete 7,350 6,196 7,565 6,516 3,570

As at December 31,
BE+-—HA=+—HLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
—E-NF ZT-hF T-RF T—+F ZEB-N\F
Us$’000 US$’000 UsS$’000 US$’000 Us$’000
FErx FET FEx FEx FErx

Total assets BEE 29,666 32,212 26,524 63,830 63,731

Total liabilities waE 17,663 27,782 15,732 13,767 10,454

Equity attributable to owners RAREEE AELERE
of the Company 12,604 4,429 10,791 50,063 53,277

Note: To supplement our consolidated financial statements which are presented Mizr - BT RMPEERRMERELERZT MBS B

in accordance with IFRS, we also use Non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable SRR - PP UNE IR MR B S R A E B A S R A
to owners of the Company as an additional financial measure to evaluate ERRINNBIBE B EBRRMRBAE R
our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do ERRBIYEEEZSENEE Z2EE - LT EEM
not consider indicative of the performance of our business. Our unaudited BTG 248 « BPIM KRR EBZ AT IR ERMNE
net profit was derived from our profit for the year excluding share-based AaFFrERE - MAREURDAERARE L
payments and listing expenses. mAX -

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR @
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERE|E

Chairman : Mr. LU Yuanfeng
B R = FE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board and the management of Digital Hollywood
Interactive Limited, | am pleased to present to you the annual report of
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2018.

OVERVIEW OF THE GROUP

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. Our mission is to bring engaging, differentiated gameplay
experience to users across languages, cultures and borders. We offer
compelling value proposition to game developers by helping them
penetrate the international markets with one-stop solutions, including
game redesign, optimization, marketing, distribution, monetization,
payment support and other user-related services.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
FEHE (&)

We began our business as an international web game publisher and
grew quickly to become the leading web game publisher. Besides, we
strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games achieved considerable success in a number of regional
markets.

In recent years, the Group has begun to deepen the business of HTML5
multiplayer games and established a self-developed HTML5 game
platform. As such, the Group has the technical capability to achieve the
data exchange between personal computers and mobile terminals, and
embarked to launch a variety of HTML5 games of different types.

RESULTS OF THE GROUP

. As of December 31, 2018, we launched and operated 30 games
including web games, mobile games and H5 games over the world.
13 of such games were self-developed games, accounting for 43.3%
of the total number of games launched and operated.

. As of December 31, 2018, calculating based on IP addresses we
recorded, we had cumulative registered users of approximately 68.6
million located in over 200 countries and regions.

. As of December 31, 2018, our average MAUs for online games were
more than 1.8 million.

. In 2018, we launched 11 new online games in several language
versions, including English, French, German, Polish, Spanish,
Portuguese, Turkish and Chinese. The Company believes that
the strategy to further penetrate the European market through
multilingual versions will lay the foundation for our global
development.

. In 2018, the Company completed the establishment of the fully self-
developed SDK and the HTML5 game platform, Chips Games, so
as to allow various types of games to be launched on Facebook
Messenger and Facebook Canvas, realizing accounts-sharing
and seamless connection of functions between Facebook and our
proprietary H5 platform, marking the Company’s further involvement
in the HTML5 market.

AEBENBERBEERZTEHSORARER  Ld
RERMBBLOPEBRIETE - Rtz &
fEBEBERE THMEELNERBHBBEAXEER
ERBERBMFHRER  UIESEFHAPRE
BETROTISHEE - MERMOFRERDES
183 @ 5 EUS T TR ©

TER - EEFIARHHTMLS B BB 275 - 1237
EIEH?‘E’]HTMLSLEPF’S e EEREA
EMFHRBEOER LR YRABER LGZET

FHER EHTML5 35, -

%E&ﬁ

s BET-N\FF+-_A=1t—0 RMERIKR
%é‘ﬁﬁﬂlk*é%%?kﬁ%& BERBRER - F
W EMHGEEEL » Hp - 135GE B E#TE
HEMIEE BB A R43.3% -

s HETT-)N\Ft-A=T—H KREMTH
El’\JIPimiﬁaJr HFI2TRA #96,8608 & L0 i
#B2001E B Fth @m0 RETFEMA S -

e HET-)NFT-A=T—H BMOBE
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP

Revenue of the Group decreased by 15.4% from approximately US$28.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to approximately US$24.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The main reason for the decrease in revenue was the suspension of the
approval process by the PRC competent authority from March 2018 to
the end of 2018 for new online games, which dampened the enthusiasm
of game developers to develop new games and resulted in the reduction
of the number of products supplied by domestic game developers and
the slowdown of the updating progress of existing game products. Such
temporary adjustments on the administrative process imposed a negative
impact on our new game releases and existing game updates,

PROSPECTS AND STRATEGIES OF THE
GROUP

Entering 2019, the Company will continue to focus on its long-standing
pursuit for in-game customerization, passion and original contents. The
Company launched a Q-style strategic card game Trillionia which was
published worldwide. It was also the first time that the Company globally
launched a high-quality multilingual mobile game.

In regard to internationalization, the Company will further strengthen its
advantages in overseas publishment and fully implement its development
strategy of cross-platform games. In 2019, the Company will launch a
number of games, including a naval battle strategic game Legend of
Warships, which can be played on both the browser platform via personal
computers and the HTML5 platform via mobile devices; and the global
multilingual cross-platform massively multiple online role-play game,
Eternal Fury 2, which will be our first game based on the seamless
connections between Wing SDK, Chips Games SDK and Facebook.

While the Company has a steady development in business of browser
games and mobile games, the Company will enhance the layout of
HTML5 games and expand the global H5 game distribution platform,
and 11 casual HTML5 games such as Gold Miner, Candy Balls, Happy
Birds, etc. have been or are expected to be launched. Under this trend of
development, the Company is expected to further deepen the diversified
development of its game products.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to thank the
management of the Group and all our staff for their hard work over the
past year. In particular, | would like to express our thankfulness to Mr.
MENG Shugi who resigned his position as the non-executive Director
based on his personal reasons. While our Company believes there will
be no adverse impact to be felt by our Group following his resignation,
we appreciate the valuable service provided by Mr. MENG to the Board
during his tenure. | would also like to extend my sincere gratitude to our
Shareholders, business partners and stakeholders for their continued
support.

LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, March 22, 2019
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEEER

Below are the brief profiles of the current Directors and senior LNTAAESERTESRaREEEBNBEEL -

management of the Group.

DIRECTORS 5=

The Board currently comprises six Directors, of which three are executive EXeRRAAREFAN  BE-EITESR
Directors and three are independent non-executive Directors. The —HEBUFNITES c TR EBREFHNER -

following table sets forth information regarding the Directors.

Name Age Position

%"& Fi B

Date of Appointment
as Director

BERERESWAY

Executive Directors

BITES

Mr. LU Yuanfeng 39 Chairman, executive Director and
chief executive officer

BoE R U o 39 EF HITERLAERRTE

Mr. HUANG Guozhan 39 Executive Director and chief operating
officer

=mEE KA 39 HITEERERELE

Mr. HUANG Degiang 45 Executive Director and
chief technology officer

HIEREL 45 HITEENEERNE

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Mr. MENG Shugqi 40 Non-executive Director

mEATLE 40 FERTEF

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW 53 Independent non-executive Director

BBIEAL A 53 BUIFMITES

Mr. LI Yi Wen 48 Independent non-executive Director

FRXEE 48 BIUIFWTEF

Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum 64 Independent non-executive Director

BRI L 64 BUFBITESF
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, aged 39, is an executive Director, our chief executive
officer and the chairman of our Board. Mr. LU is mainly responsible for
the overall development, operation and management of the Company. Mr.
LU founded our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an executive
Director on November 24, 2014. He also serves as a director of Proficient
City, Angame, Hollywood BVI, Hollywood HK and Guangzhou You Lai.

Mr. LU has over 16 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. LU founded Guangzhou Blue Power
Digital Technology Company Limited (“Guangzhou Blue Power”) which
is primarily engaged in software development in May 2001 and served as
its chief executive officer from 2004 to January 2011, mainly responsible
for development, publication and operation of various games. From June
2001 to February 2004, Mr. LU served in various positions up to the chief
editor of the game channel at 21.com operated by 21CN Corporation
Limited which is primarily engaged in the provision of information
technology services.

Mr. LU graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2001.

Mr. HUANG Guozhan, aged 39, is an executive Director and our chief
operating officer. Mr. HUANG is responsible for the operation and
marketing of the Company. Mr. HUANG joined our Group in June 2010
and was appointed as an executive Director on November 2, 2015.
He also serves as a director of Now To Play Game, Beijing You Tang
Information Technology Company Limited (1tR % E BRI AR AR,
Guangzhou SYND and Beijing You Lai.

Mr. HUANG has over 11 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as a video game operation
and planning officer at Guangzhou Blue Power from January 2006 to
January 2011. From February 2003 to January 2006, he served as
a radio host at Guangzhou Sheng Se Chuan Bo Entertainment and
Production Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in installation services of
stage lighting and audio equipment and cultural communication, mainly
responsible for hosting and planning radio programs.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong University of Technology with
a bachelor degree in architectural engineering on June 30, 2002. Mr.
HUANG obtained a certificate as a host issued by the State Administration
of Radio, Film and Television on February 12, 2005.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Mr. HUANG Degiang, aged 45, is an executive Director and our chief
technology officer. Mr. HUANG is responsible for developing information
technology and managing the research and development of the Company.
Mr. HUANG joined our Group in June 2010 and was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief technology officer on June 28, 2017.

Mr. HUANG has over 11 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. HUANG served as the manager of the
technology department of Guangzhou Blue Power from October 2004 to
January 2011.

Mr. HUANG graduated from Guangdong Financial and Trade Cadre
Academy with a college degree in financial management in July 1997.
He was enrolled in Aptech Certified Computer Professional, an IT career
program taught by Aptech Beida Jade Bird, from December 2001 to June
2003. Mr. HUANG obtained a national certificate as an intermediate
programmer and a national certificate as a software engineer in
December 2002 and June 2003, respectively, both issued by the Ministry
of Labor and Social Security of the PRC (now known as the Ministry of
Human Resources and Social Security of the PRC). In August 2003, he
was also certified as a Sun Certified Programmer by Sun Microsystems,
Inc..
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW, aged 53, is an independent non-executive
Director of our Company. Mr. SHAW was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on November 24, 2017.

Mr. SHAW has been involved in the TMT business sector for over 14
years. Mr. SHAW served as the executive chairman of Pacific Media Plc
from 2004 to 2006, a UK-listed online and TV home shopping enterprise
with operations in Greater China. From 2011 to 2014, he was a director of
Shaw Brothers (Hong Kong) Limited (currently known as Clear Water Bay
Land Company Limited), which is primarily engaged in the production and
distribution of films. Mr. SHAW has been an adviser to Red Bee Media
(formally the broadcasting arm of the British Broadcasting Corporation).
He is currently a member of the Hong Kong advisory board of the British
Academy of Film and Television Arts (BAFTA).

Mr. SHAW graduated in economics from University College London of
University of London in 1987.

Mr. LI Yi Wen, aged 48, is an independent non-executive Director of our
Company. Mr. LI was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
on November 24, 2017.

Mr. LI has over 11 years of experience in the information technology
industry.

Mr. LI has served as a director of Aleo BME, Inc. which is primarily
engaged in biotechnology research and development since January
2016. He served as a director of Ningbo Lehui International Engineering
Equipment Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development,
manufacturing of industrial equipment from March 2016 to November
2018. From January 2011 to October 2013, he also served as a director,
chief financial supervisor and secretary of the board at Guiyang
Longmaster Information & Technology Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300288) which is primarily
engaged in wireless games and Internet medical service. He served as
the general manager of Sina Net Technology (China) Co., Ltd. which is
primarily engaged in wireless games and deputy manager of Guangzhou
Xunlong Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in wireless
games from October 2002 to February 2004 and June 2001 to October
2002, respectively.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum, aged 64, is an independent non-executive
Director of our Company. Ms. LING was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on November 24, 2017.

Ms. LING has over 30 years of experience in the auditing industry and
retired as a partner in PricewaterhouseCoopers in June 2013. Ms. LING
has served as a Council member of The Education University of Hong
Kong since April 2015, a board member of Estate Agents Authority since
November 2015, an Executive Committee member of Hong Kong Youth
Hostels Association since May 2001 and a Council member of The Hong
Kong Federation of Youth Groups since October 2014. Ms. LING has
also served as a member of Hospital Governing Committee of Hospital
Authority since April 2015 and a member of the Appeal Board Panel (Town
Planning) since October 2016. She also served as a member of The
Employees Compensation Assistance Fund Board from July 2006 to June
2012.

Ms. LING is a certified public accountant and a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, Chartered Professional Accountants, Canada, and Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. She is an Accredited General
Mediator of Hong Kong Mediation Accreditation Association Limited. Ms.
LING is also a member of Practising Members Working Committee of
the Association of Hong Kong Accountants, a member of Professional
Development Committee of Hong Kong Business Accountants Association
and an executive committee member of Regulatory Committee of The
Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association. In 2003, Ms.
Ling received the Outstanding Accountant Ambassador award from the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. LING obtained a diploma in accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic (now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
1977 and a master of science in corporate governance and directorship
from Hong Kong Baptist University in 2014.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Yuanfeng, see “- Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Guozhan, see “- Executive Directors” for details.
Mr. HUANG Deqiang, see “- Executive Directors” for details.

Mr. LIU Jiahua, aged 38, joined our Group as our chief financial officer
on March 21, 2014. He is primarily responsible for the investment and the
overall management of the finance of our Group. He has served as the
chief financial officer at Proficient City since March 2014.

Mr. LIU has over 15 years of experience in the field of financial
management.

Mr. LIU served as the finance controller at Moonbasa E-commerce Group
which is primarily engaged in the online sales of women apparels from
September 2010 to March 2014. From April 2009 to August 2010, he
served as a financial director at China Nepstar Chain Drugstore Ltd. which
is primarily engaged in pharmaceutical retail, a company previously listed
on the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: NPD). From November
2004 to February 2009, Mr. LIU served in PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian LLP.

Mr. LIU graduated from Sun Yat-sen University with a bachelor degree in
international finance on June 24, 2003.
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Mr. SHI Lijia, aged 35, joined our Group as a vice president on August
17, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall management of the
research and development of the Group.

Mr. SHI has over 8 years of experience in the game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. SHI served as the game producer in 7Road
Shenzhen which is one of our game developer partners from March 2010
to April 2015, mainly responsible for game development and general
administration.

Mr. SHI graduated from Lanzhou University with a bachelor degree in
Information and Computing Sciences in 2007.

Mr. CHEN Yangzhao, aged 41, was appointed as our vice president on
July 1, 2015. He is primarily responsible for the overall operation and
management of our Group.

Mr. CHEN has over 16 years of experience in technology and software
engineering of game industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. CHEN served as the technology manager
of Guangzhou Tianya Internet Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily
engaged in software development from January 2009 to March 2010. He
served from a platform development team member to a senior developer
at Beijing Bokee Net Information Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily
engaged in technology service from October 2005 to November 2008. He
served as the senior software engineer at Guangzhou Ruixun Computer
Technology Co., Ltd. which is primarily engaged in development and
manufacture of computers’ hardware and software from September
2002. He briefly served as a software engineer at Asiainfo Technologies
(China) Inc., a Nasdag-listed company (stock code: ASIA) which is
primarily engaged in development of network system from April 2002. Mr.
CHEN started his career in July 2001 with Guangdong Xiantong Digital
Technology Co., Ltd. as a software engineer.

Mr. CHEN graduated from South China University of Technology with a
bachelor degree in computer science and technology on July 1, 2001.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The competition in the game industry remained intense for the year ended
December 31, 2018. From March 2018 to the end of 2018, the competent
authority in the PRC suspended the approval of new online games, which
dampened the enthusiasm of game developers to develop new games.
The number of products supplied by domestic game developers reduced
and the updating progress of existing game products slowed down,
limiting the number of our new game releases and existing game updates
and in turn imposing an adverse effect on our financial performance.
Revenue of the Group decreased by 15.4% from approximately US$28.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to approximately US$24.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The profit attributable to
owners of the Company declined by 47.1% from approximately US$1.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to approximately US$0.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Non-IFRS adjusted
profit attributable to owners of the Company declined by 44.6% from
approximately US$6.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 to
approximately US$3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Although facing a less favourable economic environment, the Group was
still able to actively improve the operating standards of its game products,
and thus maintained a steady improvement in its product operating
indicators. Our MAUs increased by 5.6% from 1.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2017 to 1.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2018; our ARPPU increased by 14.3% from US$28.0 for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to US$32.0 for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Looking back at 2018, the Company was repeatedly recognized by
media and industry organizations in China and abroad: domestically,
the Company was elected as the vice-president of the Gaming Industry
Association Guangzhou Branch and awarded with the 6th Jincha Award
for 2018 Best Mobile Game Publisher, and internationally, the Company
was invited by the Spanish Gamelab Organization to attend its conference
in Barcelona and to give guidance on local game development teams and
their work.
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In terms of product operation, the Company launched 11 new online
games in several language versions, including English, French, German,
Polish, Spanish, Portuguese, Turkish and Chinese. The Company believes
that the strategy to further penetrate the European market through
multilingual versions will lay the foundation for its global development.

In 2018, Dragon Awaken, a web-based game, was published and licensed
by the Company, and received global recommendation from Facebook
Gameroom. The Company was awarded “2018 Zhuoer Award for Top
10 Most Popular Windows Games” for Dragon Awaken in 2018 Globe
Windows Game Conference. Bomb Me Brasil, a self-developed mobile
game, was recommended by Google Play and App Store in Brazil. In
addition, the Company co-operated with Gameone Group and launched a
strategic mobile game, Robot Tactics, which was highly recommended by
Google Play in more than 100 countries and regions, and also achieved a
breakout success.

The Company developed an HTML5 game platform and SDK. In 2018,
the Company completed the establishment of the fully self-developed
SDK and the HTML5 game platform, Chips Games, so as to allow
various types of games to be launched on Facebook Messenger and
Facebook Canvas, realizing accounts sharing and seamless connection
of functions between Facebook and our proprietary H5 platform, marking
the Company’s further involvement in the HTML5 market.

INDUSTRY OUTLOOK AND GROUP STRATEGIES

Please refer to the section headed “Chairman’s Statement — Prospects
and strategies of the Group” in this annual report for the industry outlook
and Group strategies.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Our operations and prospects and future financial results involve, and
could be materially and adversely affected by, certain risks. The following
highlights the principal risks exposed to the Group and is not meant to be
exhaustive:

. A small number of games have contributed a substantial majority of
our revenue.

. We work with game distribution platforms to distribute our games,
and our business may be materially and adversely affected if
they breach their contractual obligations, or if we fail to maintain
relationships with a sufficient number of platforms, or if the platforms
lose popularity among Internet users.

. Our growth prospects will suffer if we are unable to successfully
implement our game development strategies on mobile games.

. Our businesses rely on our data analysis capabilities, any impact on
which would materially and adversely affect our ability to formulate
appropriate business strategies.

. Our steady growth during the past years may not be indicative of our
future growth, and our limited operating history makes it difficult to
evaluate our growth prospects and future financial results.

. If we fail to successfully execute our growth strategies, including
launching games of new genres, themes or operating formats and
investing in new technologies, our future results of operations and
growth prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
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To mitigate the identified risks, the Company improves its management
capability and adaptability and further ensures the realisation of the
business objectives and sustainable growth. We aim at implementing the
following strategies to further capture players and enhance profitability of
our games:

. Our growth also depends on our ability to continuously launch new
games that attract and retain a significant number of users, in order
to grow our revenue and maintain our competitive position.

. We strengthen our relationships with major international game
publishing and distribution partners to expand the reach of our
games to new countries and regions.

. We further strengthen and expand our mobile games portfolio
by developing additional high-quality mobile games, and offer
more mobile specific value-adding features to enrich users’ game
experience on mobile devices.

. Our team members can utilise our various data analysis engines to
collect and store all user behavior data in a timely manner.

. We manage our expanding business, continue to offer new
games and enhance our existing games, maintain and expand our
collaboration with game distribution platforms, anticipate and adapt
to evolving user interests, industry trends and market conditions.

. We have expanded our product offerings to attract a demographically
diverse user community and will continue to identify new genres
with high monetization potential from game developers, meanwhile
we actively enhance our in-house research and development
capabilities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Overview

In 2018, profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately US$0.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$0.8 million from approximately US$1.7 million in 2017. Non-IFRS
adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company” amounted to
approximately US$3.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$2.9 million as compared with approximately US$6.5 million in 2017.

Revenue

In 2018, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately US$24.2
million, representing a decrease of approximately US$4.4 million or
15.4% as compared with approximately US$28.6 million in 2017. The
main reason for the decrease in revenue was the suspension of the
approval process by the PRC competent authority from March 2018 to
the end of 2018 for new online games, which dampened the enthusiasm
of game developers to develop new games and resulted in the reduction
of the number of products supplied by domestic game developers and
the slowdown of the updating progress of existing game products. Such
temporary adjustments on the administrative process imposed a negative
impact on our new game releases and existing game updates.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

In 2018, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to approximately
US$10.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$1.9 million
or 15.0% as compared with US$12.7 million in 2017. The gross profit
margin slightly declined to 55% in 2018 from 56% in 2017.

U] Non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company was derived
from the profit for the year, excluding listing expenses and share-based

payments of the Company.
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Other Gains/(Losses), Net

In 2018, other gains of the Group amounted to approximately US$0.7
million, representing an increase of approximately US$1.2 million as
compared with other losses amounted to approximately US$0.5 million in
2017. This was primarily due to other gains from termination of a licensing
agreement and the foreign exchange gains for transactions conducted in
currencies depreciated against U.S. dollars.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

In 2018, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$5.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
US$2.0 million or 58.8% from approximately US$3.4 million in 2017.
The increase in selling and marketing expenses was mainly due to more
expenditure in advertising and marketing promotion for promoting new
games in new regional markets and share-based payments attributable to
the share option scheme starting from 2018.

Administrative Expenses

In 2018, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to approximately
US$5.0 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$2.5 million
or 33.3% compared with approximately US$7.5 million in 2017, which
was mainly due to the net effect that no listing expense for the IPO was
incurred in 2018 (2017: approximately US$4.8 million) and share-based
payments attributable to the share option scheme starting from 2018 in
the amount of approximately US$1.5 million.

Research and Development Expenses

In 2018, research and development expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately US$1.5 million, representing an increase of approximately
US$1.0 million or 200% compared with approximately US$0.5 million
in 2017. The increase was mainly due to the increase in research and
development labor cost and share-based payments attributable to the
share option scheme starting from 2018.
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Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

In 2018, profit attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately US$0.9 million, representing a decrease of approximately
US$0.8 million or 47.1% compared with approximately US$1.7 million in
2017. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in gross profit and
share-based payments attributable to the share option scheme starting
from 2018.

Non-IFRS Adjusted Profit Attributable to Owners
of the Company

To supplement this annual report which is presented in accordance with
the IFRS, we also use non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of
the Company as an additional financial measure to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not consider
indicative of the performance of our business.

In 2018, non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to owners of the Company
amounted to approximately US$3.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately US$2.9 million or 44.6% as compared with approximately
US$6.5 million in 2017. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease
in gross profit for 2018. Our non-IFRS adjusted profit attributable to
owners of the Company for 2018 and 2017 was derived from profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the respective years excluding
the share-based payments attributable to the share option scheme of
approximately US$2.6 million in 2018 and listing expenses approximately
US$4.8 million in 2017, respectively.

Income Tax Expense

In 2018, income tax expense of the Group amounted to approximately
US$1.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately US$1.2 million
or 52.2% as compared with approximately US$2.3 million in 2017. The
decrease in income tax expense was primarily due to the decrease of
profit before income tax in 2018.
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Liquidity and Source of Funding and Borrowing

As at December 31, 2018, the Group’s total bank balances and cash
amounted to approximately US$32.6 million, representing a decrease of
25.9% as compared with US$44.0 million as at December 31, 2017. The
decrease in total bank balances and cash during the year under review
was primarily resulted from our prepayment for the shares to be issued by
Nouveau Capital Partners Corp. to the Company at a total consideration
of US$3.5 million in April 2018, expenses for the renovation of the
Group’s new headquarter building, payment for licensing fee and payment
for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income.

As at December 31, 2018, the current assets of the Group amounted
to approximately US$51.5 million, including bank balances and
cash of approximately US$32.6 million and other current assets of
approximately US$18.9 million. Current liabilities of the Group amounted
to approximately US$10.4 million, including trade payables and contract
liabilities of approximately US$7.0 million and other current liabilities of
approximately US$3.4 million. As at December 31, 2018, the current ratio
(the current assets to current liabilities ratio) of the Group was 5.0 as
compared with 4.5 as at December 31, 2017.

Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total borrowings (net of cash
and cash equivalents) over the Group’s total equity. The Group did not
have any bank borrowings and other debt financing obligations as at
December 31, 2018 and the resulting gearing ratio was nil (2017: nil).
The Group intends to finance the expansion, investments and business
operations with internal resources.

Material Investments

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company made a
prepayment of approximately US$3.5 million for the shares to be issued
by Nouveau Capital Partners Corp. to the Company, details of which
are set out in the Company’s announcement dated April 22, 2018; and
the Company invested approximately US$2.6 million to acquire certain
ordinary shares of FingerTango Inc., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6860).
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Material Acquisitions

The Group did not have any material acquisition during the year ended
December 31, 2018.

Material Disposals

The Group did not have any material disposal of subsidiaries or
associated companies during the year ended December 31, 2018.

Pledge of Assets

As at December 31, 2018, none of the Group’s assets was pledged (2017:
nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at December 31, 2018
(2017: nil).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group mainly operated
in the global market and majority of its transactions were settled in U.S.
dollars, being the functional currencies of the group entities to which the
transactions relate. We currently do not hedge transactions undertaken in
foreign currencies but manage our exposure through constant monitoring
to limit as much as possible the amount of our foreign currencies
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in
a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. We have certain
investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to
foreign currency translation risk. Currency exposure arising from the
net assets of our foreign operations is low. As at December 31, 2018,
the Group did not have significant foreign currency exposure from its
operations.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SREARE

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance by focusing on principles of integrity,
accountability, transparency, independence, responsibility and fairness.
The Company has developed and implemented sound corporate
governance policies and measures, and the Board is responsible for
performing such corporate governance duties. The Board will continue
to review and monitor the corporate governance of the Company, as well
as various internal policies and procedures, including but not limited to
those applicable to employees and Directors, with reference to the Code
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and other applicable legal and
regulatory requirements so as to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance of the Company.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company has complied
with the applicable code provisions of the Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules other than code provision A.2.1, which stipulates that
the roles of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. LU Yuanfeng is our chairman and chief executive officer. With
extensive experience in the internet industry, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is
responsible for the overall strategic planning and general management
of the Group and is instrumental to the Company’s growth and business
expansion since its establishment on November 24, 2014. The Board
considers that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person is beneficial to the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced individuals. The Board currently
comprises three executive Directors, including Mr. LU Yuanfeng, and
three independent non-executive Directors, and therefore has a fairly
strong independence element in its composition.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for leadership and the internal control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has
general powers for the management and operation of the Company’s
business. The day-to-day operations and management are delegated by
the Board to the management of the Company, who will implement the
strategy and direction as determined by the Board.

The Board currently consists of six Directors, namely Mr. LU Yuanfeng
(chairman and chief executive officer), Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr.
HUANG Degiang as executive Directors, and Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW
(“Mr. SHAW”), Mr. LI Yi Wen (“Mr. LI”) and Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum (“Ms.
LING”) as independent non-executive Directors. None of the Directors
has a relationship (including financial, family or other substantial or
related relationship) with each other. The Board has a balance of skills
and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company.

The biographies of the Directors the Company are set out on pages 18 to
22 of this annual report.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company and the Company has issued letters of appointment to each
of the independent non-executive Directors. Each of Mr. SHAW, Mr. LI
and Ms. LING was re-elected as an independent non-executive Director
on June 22, 2018. All of the executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors shall hold offices until the conclusion of the next
annual general meeting of the Company.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
Directors shall be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election,
whereas code provision A.4.2 states that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after appointment and that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.
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In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Any new Director appointed
by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company following his appointment
and shall be subject to re-election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition
to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter
of appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years or
until the third annual general meeting of the Company since the Listing
Date (whichever is sooner) and is subject to retirement by rotation at an
annual general meeting at least once every three years. These letters of
appointment are subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms. Mr. SHAW, Mr. LI and Ms. LING will be for a term of three
years start from the date on which dealings in shares of the Company
commence on the Stock Exchange, renewable by mutual consent. The
term of the letters of appointment may be renewed in accordance with the
Articles, the Listing Rules and other applicable laws.

The aggregate remuneration (including fees, salaries, contributions to
pension schemes, share-based compensation expenses, discretionary
bonuses, housing and other allowances and other benefits in kind)
payable to the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2018 was
approximately USDO0.3 million.

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities of
the Directors and performance of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Directors for the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal proceedings against the Directors.

The procedure agreed by the Board to enable Directors, upon reasonable
request, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense as required pursuant to Code
A.1.6 of the Code.
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EERERHE (F)

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, representing one-third of the Board, of whom Ms.
Imma LING Kit-sum is the Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received a written confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules, and considers them to be independent.

The Directors have access to the services of the joint company
secretaries to ensure that the Board procedures are followed. The joint
company secretaries of the Company are Mr. Yu Ching Ming and Ms.
Ng Wing Yan. In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr.
Yu Ching Ming and Ms. Ng Wing Yan have undertaken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year ended December
31, 2018. Ms. Ng Wing Yan is the assistant vice president of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and appointed as the joint
company secretary. Starting from June 8, 2018, Ms. Ko Nga Kit ceased
to be one of our joint company secretaries following her resignation
from SWCS Corporate Service Group (Hong Kong) Limited, and Ms. Ng
Wing Yan replaced Ms. Ko Nga Kit as the joint company secretary of
the Company with effect from June 8, 2018. After the aforesaid service
termination, Mr. Yu Ching Ming and Ms. Ng Wing Yan continued to act as
the joint company secretaries of the Company. Ms. Ng Wing Yan has the
necessary qualifications and experience as required under Rule 3.28 and
8.17 of the Listing Rules. The main contact person of Ms. Ng Wing Yan in
the Company is Mr. Lu Yuanfeng.

All Directors attended various trainings during the year ended December
31, 2018, including trainings regarding the updating of the Listing Rules,
the responsibilities and continuous obligations of Directors and the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide. The Company
had arranged suitable trainings for all Directors in order to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills as part of their continuous professional
development.

The Company is committed to continuously reviewing and improving its
internal systems, including those in relation to internal supervision and
control, and risk management.

The details of the board diversity policy are set out in the Company’s
website.
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Board Meeting

The Company adopts a practice to convene Board meetings regularly
which is at least four meetings per year and roughly on a quarterly basis.
A notice of a regular Board meeting shall be delivered to all the Directors
at least 14 days in advance with the matters to be discussed specified
in agenda of the meeting. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally served. Agendas or relevant documents of
the Board or committee meetings shall be despatched to the Directors or
members of the committees at least 3 days prior to the convening of the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the relevant
documents and be adequately prepared for the meetings. When Directors
or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will be
advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to make
their views known to the Chairman prior to the meeting. The minutes are
kept by the joint company secretaries of the Company and the copies are
circulated to all Directors for reference and record purpose.

The minutes of the Board meetings and committees thoroughly were
recorded all matters under consideration and decisions made including
any problems raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each board
meeting and committee meeting are sent to the Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is held.
Directors have a right to review the minutes of the Board meetings and
the committee meetings.

According to code provision A.1.1 of the Code, board meetings should be
held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of the majority of the Directors, either in person or
through electronic means of communication.
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Four Board meetings and the AGM for 2018 were held in the financial
year ended December 31, 2018. The Directors’ attendance is listed below:

ARRERE-_Z-N\F+A=+—BHFRF
EREBTHRAEFe R _F— \FRRAEF
RE - BREZEZHEBARIINT -

Number of meetings attended
H R

Board meeting AGM for 2018

—E-N\F

EZged REBEFRE

Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng

Mr. Huang Guozhan
Mr. Huang Degiang

Non-executive Director
Mr. Meng Shugqi
(resigned with effect from December 27, 2018)

Independent non-executive Director
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw

Mr. Li Yi Wen

Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum
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FEIKE

ERLE L

4/4 1M
4/4 1M
4/4 1M
2/4 17
2/4 1M
2/4 17
2/4 171
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has three principal Board Committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Each of the Board Committees operates under its terms of reference. The
terms of reference of the Board Committees are available on the website
of the Company and that of the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Company has also updated the terms of reference of
the Audit Committee reflecting the changes to the Code in respect of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems, and which
became effective on November 24, 2017. The Company further amended
the terms of reference of the Audit Committee on November 23, 2018. The
Audit Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Darren Raymond
Shaw, Mr. Li Yi Wen and Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum, our independent non-
executive Directors. Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum is the chairman of the Audit
Committee. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
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supervise, and to provide an independent view of the effectiveness of, the B EREFRE URBITEES R E M
financial reporting process and the risk management and internal control EREMF-
systems of the Group, to oversee the audit process and to perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
Two meetings of the Audit Committee were held during the year ended REBEE-Z—N\F+_A=+—HLFE FE%XZE
December 31, 2018. The attendance of the committee members is listed BEEgRBRTMAERE SXKECHEBRES W
below: T
Number of meetings
attended
Members RE HERE
Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum BRI L 2/2
Mr. Li Yi Wen TR E 2/2
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw BT A 2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee consists of two independent
non-executive Directors, being Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw and Mr. Li
Yi Wen, and one executive Director, being Mr. Lu Yuanfeng, who is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and assessing
the composition of the Board and the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board on
appointment and removal of Directors. In recommending candidates for
appointment to the Board, the Nomination Committee will convene a
meeting to consider candidates on merit against objective criteria and
with due regards to the benefits of the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations or nominations to the Board for candidates
to fill temporarily vacant or who are elected at a general meeting. A
notice issued to shareholders will provide information on the candidates.
The Board shall make the final decision on all matters in respect of
the election of its proposed candidates at any general meeting. The
selection criteria for Board members will be considered from a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to all aspects of integrity,
achievement, experience and diversity, such as gender, age, cultural and
educational background, industry experience, technical and professional
skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length of services and time to be
devoted as a Director. The Company will also take into account factors
relating to its own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

One meeting of the Nomination Committee was held during the year
ended December 31, 2018.
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Number of meetings

attended
Members 24= HERE
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng BRI ST A 1/1
Mr. Li Yi Wen TR E 171
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw ARFEAE A4 11
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Remuneration Committee FMEES

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written terms RN BIRIE T AR B B 5% - P4 B 8 5% <7 BI) Ak 37 357 B
of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in Appendix 14 to ZEg VWiV EARESE FTWEES2HE=
the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee has three members, BB BRE_REIENTES (BAEM L
comprising two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Darren REHXGE) R—RBRTES (BERELE) ©
Raymond Shaw and Mr. Li Yi Wen, and one executive Director, namely ERUEERBTNEZESHNER - FHEZESTHE
Mr. Lu Yuenfeng. Mr. Li Yi Wen is the chairman of the Remuneration EREABVIRINEFTRSMEEEHHOER
Committee. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to K2R - UAERBHEERA LT EL B S -
establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration for the

Directors and senior management and make recommendations to the

Board on employee benefit arrangement.

Z-N\EF+-A=T—BILFE  HFHZ

One meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held during the year REBZEZ
BRI REH -

ended December 31, 2018. 8

Number of meetings

attended
Members 24= HERE
Mr. Li Yi Wen FRE 1/1
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng B R I 5T A 11
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw ARFEAE A4 11
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuer” (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding dealings in
the securities of the Company by the Directors, the Group’s senior
management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Group or the Company’s
securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the year under review. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the
senior management of the Group during the year under review.

FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has in place a policy on handling and dissemination of
inside information (the “Policy”) which sets out the procedures and
internal controls for handling and dissemination of inside information in a
timely manner in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to determine the price of
the listed securities of the Company with the latest available information.
This Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure
proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate internal
control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential inside
information. Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall be
conducted by publishing the relevant information on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, according to the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the external auditor of
the Company with effect from December 8, 2017, and there has been no
change in the external auditor of the Company since the Listing Date.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the fees paid/payable to
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit and non-audit services (primarily
related to tax advisory services and due diligence services) are
approximately USD660,500 and USD68,000, respectively.

HER 5 NRES A

ARFERMNLETRAME S ETHITAE
SETEFRSGNEESTH (BESFA) FLE
FAEERAEERE (RERAURMLRZET
EMAIsEERE BB AR ERARREFZAEH
B) BEARBESFNITRTE -

KIELARENE  2REFIRBEENEEF
ENTETERETER] o o - RAR W AREERE
EefERER EBFEANEERN T ETEESTE
PACH

REHEHBEER

ARRRIVEEREOARBESHE (BE]D &
MEAREREMARHESNERARARERE &
NEBESFAEREREREM - M ASERERMA
THEEFR S LEMNMEBIINA - TETISARME
EHERRBEERNARR LWEHRERE - LK
RAMRARDA B TIRMHIES]  BRRAEEHEEN
M ARBPEREERERE - ABRETREEE
BV AR BRI IR SR BIE - AR K AP B R A%
HE  RRBINEBE 2 BEMITDETIRE EHRA
HE - BT R AR R ABETIEARRE S -

SN ER R BB

BEBOKBETMEBHMEEZERARFRIND
ZEE BT -tF Tt ANAREY RAL
™ B HIA AR BRSNS BRI R B 21

HEZZ-NF+A=+—HIFE  REAR
FEEA RS (2N R HBARENERAER
®)EN /BN TEEAKESTMESHANES
5 5 #) /660,500 7T 5268,000% 7T °

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR

e

J—\%



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow during the year ended
December 31, 2018. A statement from the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out on pages 94 to
101 of this annual report. In preparing the financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2018, the Directors have selected suitable
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and
estimated that are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The basis on which the Company generates or preserves value over the
longer term and the strategy for delivering its objectives are explained in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 25 to 33 of
this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and Shareholders’ interests and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control and risk management systems on an annual
basis so as to ensure that internal control and risk management systems
in place are adequate. Such systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The Company also has an internal audit function
which primarily carries out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control systems, and reports their findings to the Board on, at
least, an annual basis. The Company implements and strictly enforces
procedures on inside information according to the relevant procedures
stated under the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information.
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The Group’s internal control system includes a well-established
organisational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and
authority. The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to
individual department which is accountable for its own conduct and
performance and is required to operate its own department’s business
within the scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly
adhere to the strategies and policies set by the Company from time to
time. Each department is also required to keep the Board informed of
material developments of the department’s business and implementation
of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a regular basis so as to
identify, evaluate and manage significant risks in a timely manner.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Board has reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated by the
management in compliance with the agreed procedures and standards.
The review covered all material controls, including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions. In particular,
the Board considered the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions are adequate. The review was
conducted through discussions with the management of the Company,
its external and internal auditors and the assessment performed by the
Audit Committee. The Board believes that the existing risk management
and internal control systems are adequate and effective, in particular, for
financial reporting and Listing Rules compliance as well as for resolving
internal control defects (if any).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Articles were conditionally adopted by the Board on November 24,
2017 and became effective on the Listing Date. A copy of the Articles
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Since the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report, there was no
significant change in constitutional documents of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman lIslands. Pursuant to
the Articles, general meetings shall also be convened on the written
requisition of any one or more members of the Company deposited at
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists,
provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
Such meeting should be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward
at general meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange after each general meeting.

Under Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company may at all times have the right, by a written
requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require the convening of an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition;
and such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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The Board is not aware of any provision allowing the Shareholders to put
forward proposals at general meetings of the Company under the Articles
and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish
to put forward proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding
paragraph to make a written requisition to require the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Detailed procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director of the Company are published on the Company’s website.

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, Shareholders may send
written enquiries to the Company as follows:

Address: 2nd Floor, No. 368 Jiang Nan Da Dao (South), Haizhu District,
Guangzhou, PRC
Attention: Office of the Board

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HEHEERKE

This is the second environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) report
issued by the Group. The ESG report disclosed our sustainability policy
and performance for the year ended December 31, 2018. The scope of
the ESG report includes the environmental and social performance of
the Group’s headquarters in Guangzhou during the period under review
(unless otherwise stated). The relevant data for all other regional offices
have not been collected and therefore is not disclosed in this ESG report.

The preparation of the ESG report complies with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange and abides by the “Comply
or Explain” provisions of such guide. The four reporting principles —
importance, quantification, balance and consistency — are taken as the
basis for the preparation of the ESG report.

About Digital Hollywood

Digital Hollywood was listed on the Stock Exchange in 2017. The Group
are committed to becoming a leading global online game publisher while
being successful in developing and launching dozens of high-quality
mobile games.

We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other user-
related services.

We offer a diverse selection of games consisting primarily of casual
games and mid-and hardcore games in both web and mobile formats to a
demographically diverse user community.

Vision

To become and be recognized as an interactive entertainment group
providing world-class user experiences.

Objective

Connecting with happiness among players, business partners and
employees.
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Corporate culture — core values

We firmly believe that pooling people who agree with and adhere to
the common pursuit of long-term goals in creating cohesion is the most
valuable and worth-inheriting asset for us. In other words, the FA.M.I.L.Y
(Focus/Agile/Mind/In-touch/Learn/You) culture.

RENX - BNMEESR

HMBE RALEBRHABERATNERBERED
APBEEE—E BIEARBAZERENNE
RARRABERN  UESTHEANTE - A
F.A.M.I.L.Y (Focus/Agile/Mind/In-touch/Learn/
You)Xft e

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT POLICY

We are a leading global online game publisher for China-based game
developers, with fast-growing in-house development capabilities for
mobile games. In recent years, we have strategically expanded our
business focuses to develop and launch mobile games by enhancing in-
house development capabilities. This has also reflected our commitment
to sustainable development. We are committed to ensuring business
continuity, while sparing no effort in integrating ESG principles into our
business administrative practices, which has produced a positive impact
on the environment and the entire community.

The Board assumes overall responsibility for our ESG governance and
reporting, and is also responsible for assessing and determining our
management policies, strategies, related importance and objectives
and explaining how they relate to the Company’s business. As a
responsible corporate citizen, the Group has formulated different
policies on ESG and other issues to advance and manage matters
relating to social responsibility, such as product responsibility, labor
practices, environmental protection, health and safety, and supply
chain management, so as to guide the Group’s business partners in
putting sustainable development into practice. The relevant policies and
measures and our sustainable development performance in all respects
can be found in the corresponding sections of this ESG report.
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STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION

Our stakeholders mainly include employees, customers, suppliers,
business partners, Shareholders, the government and, in a broad sense,
the community. We are firmly convinced that our sustainable development
benefits from the unremitting support and trust of stakeholders. We listen
to the voices of stakeholders and respond to their needs through a range
of communication channels such as meetings, interviews, hotlines, official
websites, WeChat public accounts, emails, as well as communicate
with our stakeholders via the publication of annual and interim results
announcements, so as to maintain a close and harmonious relationship
with them and accordingly achieve long-term success.

COMMITMENT TO CUSTOMERS

As a technology company, we strive to create value for customers by
providing quality products and superior services. We offer services and
products primarily relating to web and mobile games. In recent years, we
have strategically expanded our business focuses to develop and launch
mobile games by enhancing in-house development capabilities to capture
the market opportunity from the fast-growing smartphone users, and our
mobile games have immediately achieved considerable success in a
number of regional markets. Since the beginning, we have established
an integrated business model and the resulting synergies have further
enhanced the overall performance of the Company. Our rich experience
in web game publishing has enabled us to effectively identify key success
drivers for mobile games and create game content that appeals to users.

We help China-based game developers penetrate into the international
markets with one-stop solutions, including game redesign, optimization,
marketing, distribution, monetization, payment support and other user-
related services. With our deep understanding of the international
markets, rich distribution experiences and proprietary technologies, we
continuously provide solutions to game developing partners for them to
reach and monetize their global user base, thereby bringing an extremely
attractive value to them. When a game is launched, we will update and
repair the system on a regular basis. We are committed to maintaining
relationship with players by creating a highly-interactive and information-
based online gaming community and organizing a series of activities in
and out of the game. In addition, we will collect player comments and
suggestions through various means such as questionnaires, forums
and customer services to improve the game and enhance the player
experience. The Group strictly abides by national laws and regulations
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that are relevant to the business in developing products and providing
services and have significant impact on the Group, as well as other laws
and regulations relating to the health and safety of products and services
provided, advertising, labeling and privacy matters and remedies,
including but not limited to the Regulations on Internet Publishing, the
Measures on Internet Information Services and the Measures for the
Administration of Online Games.

During the period under review, the Group was not aware of any matter
that had been in violation of laws and regulations in relation to the
provision and use of the Group’s products and services, including but
not limited to matters concerning the health and safety of products and
services, information and labels, marketing communications (including
advertisement and promotion materials), property rights (including
intellectual property rights), and privacy issues that have a significant
impact on the Group.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We are committed to protecting the achievements of our research and
development team. To this end, we have established the Intellectual
Property Management System under which standard work programs are
formulated in respect of applying for and managing intellectual property
rights and strengthening the protection of intellectual property and this
can effectively protect the intangible assets of the Group. The Group’s
intellectual property included copyrights, trademarks, patents, trade
secrets and other rights conferred by (i) the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, (ii) the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China, (iii) the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, (iv) the
Measures for the Administration of Internet Domain Names in China, (v)
the Measures for the Administration of Software Products, (vi) the Law
of the People’s Republic of China Against Unfair Competition and other
applicable laws and regulations as well as other rights relating to the
protection of games, software, designs, new technologies, techniques,
etc.

We attach great importance to confidentiality in protecting intellectual
property. All interested parties are prohibited to divulge or provide
relevant information to others in the process of product development
and creation. In accordance with the “Measures for the Administration
of Content Self-review by Internet Cultural Business Entities”, our self-
inspection system will ensure that all products comply with our intellectual
property measures and relevant regulations.
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HEALTHY NETWORK

As a company with a focus on the internet business, we have the
responsibility to uphold and strengthen a healthy network culture.

For our game development business, we strictly abide by the Measures
for the Administration of Online Games and other applicable laws and
regulations. In view of this, we have built a professional content review
team. There are professionally qualified content reviewers on the team
responsible for close scrutiny to ensure that the game elements, including
names, backgrounds, sound effects, maps, scenes, character designs,
building designs, prop designs and features, do not contain any legally
prohibited or improper wordings and materials, neither should any
pornography, gambling, violence and abetment be promoted.

DATA SECURITY

Given the nature of our business, we need to collect and process a
large amount of player data. Therefore, we are exposed to the risks of
cyber attacks and the loss and leakage of data. To minimize these risks,
we have adopted a series of data security measures, such as access
authorization, password and data transmission encryption, so that data
are stored at least in two different locations on our internal server and
further backup is implemented in our disaster recovery system.

PRIVACY PROTECTION

Ensuring data privacy is crucial to protect our business and maintain our
relationship with customers and business partners. Employees must sign
a non-disclosure agreement to confirm their responsibility for keeping
the data, including sales data, business plans, customer’s personal
data and intellectual property, in strict confidence. We have set access
authorization with respect to the customer’s personal data, restricting
employees from accessing sensitive data only unless otherwise as
required.

ADVERTISING LABELS

We ensure the compliance, accuracy and authenticity of all published
materials, including press releases, labels, articles, and web contents, in
accordance with the Advertising Law of the PRC and through the review
of the legal department.
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COMMITMENT TO EMPLOYEES
Equal opportunity

The Group always upholds the principles of fairness, openness and
justice, and applies these principles in the recruitment, assessment,
promotion, development and welfare of its staff. The Group will not allow
any employment discrimination arising out of race, color, nationality,
language, age, gender, disability, religious belief, marital status,
pregnancy, etc., and related systems are formulated in internal documents
such as the code of conduct.

Staff development

The Group adheres to the cultural core values of F.AM.LLL.Y., and has
employees kept informed of the latest industry information and new job
skills for them to realize their full potential through a variety of training
formats and courses.

Currently, the training types received by employees include, but not
limited to, conventional classroom training, on-the-job coaching and
experience sharing sessions, such as induction training, novice guidance,
mini presentations, etc.
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Through continuous optimization and improvement of the performance
management system, the Group conducts regular and timely performance
evaluation of employees and maintains an annual comprehensive
performance evaluation. The main business units conduct monthly
performance appraisal. After each appraisal, employees are required to
review their performance in their daily work and set out new achievement
targets with their supervisors. Through the two-way communication
mechanism, we can receive employee’s feedback and suggestions in a
timely manner to facilitate the growth of both parties.

The promotion of employees is determined based on the results of
their performance evaluation and potentials. The Group has also put
in place promotion mechanisms for employees. Employees may apply
for competitive promotion provided that they meet the relevant years of
service and performance requirements and that they have no records of
misconduct and are in line with the Group’s corporate culture and values.
This will accordingly stimulate the initiative of excellent employees,
conducive to selecting and cultivating talents and maintaining the
sustainability of talents.

Caring for talents

The Group has always regarded employees as the key to sustainable
business development. Accordingly, the Group provides competitive
remuneration packages and benefits to employees and organizes
diversified staff activities. The Group’s Guangzhou headquarter was
relocated to a premise with larger office space in 2018, providing a better
working environment for employees so as to attract and retain talents.

The Group strictly abides by labor laws and regulations of the PRC
and other laws and regulations regarding compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, hours of work, holidays, equal opportunities,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other treatment and benefits, including
the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social Insurance Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Regulations on the Administration of
Housing Provident Funds and Employee Paid Annual Leave Regulations,
to provide domestic employees with social insurance covering pension
insurance, unemployment insurance, medical insurance, maternity
insurance, work-related injury insurance, critical illness insurance and
supplementary medical insurance as well as housing provident funds. In
addition to public and statutory holidays, employees are entitled to paid
leaves, such as marriage leave, pregnancy check-up leave, maternity
leave, paternity leave, annual leave, bereavement leave, sick leave and
bonus leave, and other benefits including meal allowances, attendance
awards, festive gifts, welfare drinks and birthday gifts.
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Work-life balance T B4 E T

We attach great importance to the healthy development of employees’ BFEFTEREESODREEERE  BRABTRD
physical and mental health. We enrich employee’s spare time life by MIRKEEE) c EEREREFEHREE - FINPEK -
organizing various recreational activities, such as badminton, table tennis ERIR - EREFRLEY AEERE - fHAE
and basketball games, monthly birthday parties, festival events, Children’s B N—REREH - BREH ZN\FELH - BE
Family Day on the 1st of June, Thanksgiving Day, Woman’s Day on the - FEEREY FREEXRENGAMES
8th of March, Halloween and annual dinner. These recreational activities BT HREEXALEE - #5598 T B TR B ) A EEX
have greatly enriched the spiritual and cultural life of employees and WEREN ©

enhanced their cohesiveness and teamwork.

EHRPFAAE BEACOHMRENE
Basketball friendly matches Celebration for game service launched
for 100 days

FIKASRUEES) NRTFED
Moon cake workshop, Mid-Autumn Festival Children’s Family Day on the 1st of June

RBH - RERBA

Company Anniversary Party Thanksgiving Day — Executive Service Day

EREDHEEBR AT ZT—\FFER @
’—W
o—/—\%



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

RE - gRERHRS (H)

E3=h-
Birthday party

Attention to two-way communication

We strive to establish sound and humanized communication channels,
formal and informal, for our employees. Currently, the various
communication channels established include conferences, work reports,
WeChat, Enterprise WeChat, instant messaging software (QQ), emails
and performance appraisal interviews. Employees may express their
ideas and views through these communication channels.

Occupational health and safety

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe, healthy and
comfortable working environment. The Group conducts unified guidance and
supervision of the safe operation of the Group companies in accordance
with China’s laws and regulations on occupational health and safety and
industry standards. In 2018, the Group moved to a new office premise and
only employees with badges granted by the Company can enter the office
area. Non-company personnel are required to register identity information
at the front desk and enter with a temporary visitor card. To solve the
pollution problem arising from the newly decorated office and to ease
employees’ concerns on the potential negative impacts on their health from
the decoration, the Group is equipped with high-efficiency air purifiers and
protective masks in the office area. We also plant and place large quantities
of green plants throughout the office area, taking care of the health and
safety of employees with practical actions. A complete set of fire-fighting
facilities that meet fire protection standards are placed at a prominent
position in the office. Clear guidelines for emergency exit routes are available
in the office and fire inspections are conducted to prevent from potential fire
hazards.

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the provision of a safe
working environment and the protection of employees from occupational
hazards, such as the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, the Group provides annual physical examination for
employees and routinely publicizes the knowledge of occupational diseases
through different channels, to protect the health and related rights and
interests of employees.

As of December 31, 2018, no incidence of any work-related injury or fatality
was identified by the Group.
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Labor standards

Strictly abiding by laws and regulations concerning the prevention of child
labor or forced labor, such as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Minors and other
laws and regulations, the Group prohibits the employment of child labor
and forced labor. Upon the joining of an employee, the Group strictly
implements the relevant processes of employment, so that the employee’s
data file, including identity and age, will be reviewed thoroughly to
prevent the occurrence of child labor. During the review, any child or
forged identity data found will be handled in accordance with the law. The
Group strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations of the jurisdiction in
the place of operation, signing labor contracts with employees according
to law and pays social insurance and protects the personal privacy of
employees in strict accordance with provisions.

In addition, our staff handbook and labor contracts have set out details
concerning the arrangements about working hours, overtime, leave and
dismissal. The Group’s implementations are carried out in a unified
manner according to standard working hours to ensure that the working
hours of employees are reasonable. Employees are not forced to work
and, if overtime is required, they need to obtain approval in advance and
receive paid leave afterwards. In the case of forced labor, employees
have the right to appeal to the Group’s Personnel Administration Center.

As at December 31, 2018, the Group had not identified any employment
of child labor and forced labor and no labor dispute had happened.
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COMMITMENT TO THE COMMUNITY 1k B N EE

The Group always attaches great importance to the establishment and AEFE-—HIIFFERELE - (L2 ZHAMERER
maintenance of harmonious relations with the community and society. The B KM o AEEELBTRAEMNQFIHRE
Group’s priorities include, but are not limited to, recruiting and cultivating WIEBEFSHARBREELH R ERIE  BEE
outstanding university graduates in the place of operation to take up ML —E—N\FEAEERBRIEMN - HHmE - 38
positions dedicated to game development and operations. In 2018, the SRS SHEERETRE S & LFEEE
Group eagerly visited higher education schools in Guangzhou, Hunan, EEEZ o B IAEIRE REAGE - HRE
Shaoguan and other regions to conduct campus presentations and ERRESHESMEBEEUAEE -
recruitment activities and received enthusiastic responses. Promoting the

employment of university students through such activities is an effective

measure for both economic development and social harmony.

REE#HS L BERS
Campus presentation and recruitment

EHRERS  REEEmERE RERE®

Students answered questions actively at the presentation A career fair in the campus

In respect of the requests by relevant administrative departments in W EBERESFIREBERE  ERERRHOE R
accordance with laws and regulations for the supervision and inspection AMEEMRE  AEEMTURGES - BRE
on the Company, the Group actively cooperates with them to ensure the TESHEEEHEET -

fulfillment of its own social responsibilities and obligations.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group’s commitment to combating against unethical business
practices, including bribery, fraud and corruption, can be reflected in our
Anti-fraud Management System. Employees should report to us by phone
or email if there is any suspected misconduct. The relevant departments
of the Group will seriously investigate the report based on our internal
protocols and make rectification in a professional and timely manner.
Divulgement of any relevant information is strictly prohibited and offenders
will be handled in a solemn manner. A code of ethics and conduct will
also be included in the staff handbook. We will do our utmost to ensure
that employees pay attention to the code and make it part of our daily
activities, so as to create a corporate culture that upholds righteousness
and integrity. The Group strictly abides by the Law of the People’s
Republic of China against Money Laundering. We have not experienced
with any confirmed matters or open legal proceedings involving the Group
or its employees over extortion, bribery, fraud, extortion and money
laundering during the year ended December 31, 2018.

COMMITMENT TO THE SUPPLY CHAIN

As a responsible company, we attach great importance to environmental
and social factors and are committed to sustainable operations. Similarly,
we also expect our suppliers to be self-disciplined, thereby making
a positive influence on the supply chain. We have signed a code of
conduct with suppliers that requires them to meet the legal requirements
concerning occupational health and safety, anti-discrimination,
environmental protection, anti-corruption and anti-fraud.

We conduct preliminary assessment of quality and pricing for introducing
new suppliers. In purchasing important materials, such as servers,
computers and printers, qualified new suppliers will be recorded on a
supplier list. Under normal circumstances, the list should have at least
three different suppliers in each category so as to disperse the risk arising
from any of the suppliers due to disqualification or our termination of
cooperation. For the existing suppliers, we conduct an annual assessment
to maintain the most desirable list of suppliers. We will review the prices,
product quality, payment terms, delivery and after-sales services of
product suppliers as well as the service quality, staff qualification and
sense of cooperation of service providers.
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COMMITMENT TO THE ENVIRONMENT
Emissions reduction

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and regulations, such as
the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy Conservation,
and vigorously advocates green office. Neither any significant exhaust
emissions and significant direct greenhouse gas emissions nor any water
and land pollution and hazardous and non-hazardous waste generation
and the like have been identified in the daily business of the Group, and
our business will not have any significant impact on the environment
and natural resources. The Group’s products are online games and
do not need to consume packaging materials. The main consumption
of resources is concentrated in the electricity and water consumed in
the Group’s operating premises and diesel oil used by the Company’s
vehicles. The Group spares no effort in environmental protection. The
Group adopts the low-carbon office concept in reducing emissions,
uses various measures including encouraging employees to use public
transport instead of private cars to reduce emissions, and smoking is
strictly prohibited in all parts of the office premises.

The Group remains committed to paper and material recycling. For
instance, staff can collect office supplies for recycling and reuse
purposes. For waste materials that are not recyclable but still useful,
such as obsolete mainframes and keyboards, they are sorted according
to the Company’s operational needs and reusable parts are reserved for
recycling and reuse purposes. As such, the actual life cycle of electronic
devices can be extended and the aim of reducing the environmental
hazard arising from electronic product manufacturing can be achieved.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018
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Resource efficiency

The Group advocates the concept of environmental protection, energy
conservation and low carbon office. To save natural resources, we have
taken the following actions:

. Emails, instant communication tools and WeChat at Work are used
and employees are not encouraged to print paper. Only necessary
documents are printed and double-sided printing and paper recycling
are being promoted. The Group encourages paperless processes in
work attendance approval, application for using conference rooms
and internal announcements, etc.

. For used materials in offline activities, recyclable materials are used
and used materials are recycled as far as possible to comply with
the principle of recycling.

. Priority is given to energy-saving lighting and other energy-saving
appliances in purchasing to reduce electricity consumption.

. Air conditioners are turned off during non-working hours or when
the office occupancy rate is low. In non-summer seasons like winter,
the use of air conditioners is suspended to reduce exhaust gas and
electricity consumption. New office premises are equipped with
transparent glass to increase the transparency and lighting, thus
reducing the need for office lights and reducing energy consumption.

. Signs reminding employees to save water are posted in toilets to
enhance employees’ awareness of water conservation.
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COMPREHENSIVE PERFORMANCE mEEMERR
Prevention of bribery and corruption Br L BHER R BF L E S
2018 2017°
Indicators 5EZ 20184 201741
Cases involving bribery, extortion, fraud and RN - $R - MFERARE
money laundering (number of cases) M= (R) 0 0
Product and service quality ERRREEE
Service performance: PRIGRIR
2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Legal cases in which products and services are
suspected of save and health issues B MRS S B 2 BRIE R
(number of case) ARG (R) 0 0
Cases in which products and services are
suspected of infringing intellectual B R RIS IRITIC B E R
property rights (number of case) =Mhea R 0 0
Complaints due to divulgement of
customer information (number of complaint) FE#BEEF(EEMEIIRFHE (F]) 0 0

Emissons?

Air pollutant emissions (office vehicles)®:

BER 2
AFSRYHR GRAPE)

2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Nitrogen oxide (NO,) (kilogram) Agaly (F=) 1.28 N/A 73
Sulphur oxides (SO,) (kilogram) ety (F=) 0.05 N/A 3

1 The disclosure of data for the year of 2017 was mainly aimed to meet
the reporting principles of consistency in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, and the
related disclosures in the 2018 ESG report shall prevail. If the related data

has not been disclosed in the 2017 ESG report, it is expressed as N/A.

The Group’s business scope involves a small amount of paper and e-waste

emissions. As the data collection system is still in the process of being

established, the related data is not disclosed in the ESG report.

3 The calculation method and the calculation of correlation factor of the air
pollutant emission were established with reference to the “2011-2012 Regional
Power Grid Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors in China” issued by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the People’s Republic of
China. The scope of calculation of air pollutant emissions in 2018 includes a
private car owned and used by the Group.
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Greenhouse gas emissions: BE RSN
2018 2017
Indicators BE 20184 20174
Direct greenhouse gas emission®: AERBERERE
Office vehicles
(kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent) MARBE (FTr-AtRES 8,314.93 N/A 7~ R
Indirect greenhouse gas emission®: AERBEREEERES
Outsourced electricity
(kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent) SNEEN (TR_S(RES 125,136.02 107,614.84
Total greenhouse gas emissions
(kilograms of carbon dioxide equivalent) RERBAFNRE (TR-AIES) 133,450.95 107,614.84
Average total greenhouse gas emissions by
each employee6 (kilograms of B EESTREREHNASE
carbon dioxide equivalent per person) (Fr=&{tREEA) 733.25 752.55
Use of resources EEE A
Energy consumption: SE O -
2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Outsourced electricity (kilowatts-hour) SNEE S (TRE) 237,404.71 204,164.00
Average electricity consumption by BlEETFHENERES
each employee (kilowatts-hour per person) (FEEA) 1,304.42 1,427.72
Gasoline (liter) ol (AF) 3,600.00 N/A i B
Average total gasoline consumption by BiEE T TR ERRE
each employee (liter per person) (AF/N) 19.78 N/A 7~ A

The calculation method and the calculation of correlation factor of emission
were established pursuant to the Technical Guide for Air Pollutant Emission
Inventory for Road Vehicles (Trial) issued by the Ministry of Environmental
Protection of the PRC.

The scope of calculation of indirect greenhouse gas emissions includes the
indirect greenhouse gas emissions of our business caused by the use of
outsourced electricity. Its calculation method and the calculation of correlation
factor of emission were established with reference to the “2011-2012 Regional
Power Grid Average Carbon Dioxide Emission Factors in China” issued by the
National Development and Reform Commission of the PRC.

This data related to the employee number was derived from the total number
of employees of the Group as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017,
respectively.
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Paper consumption: WREFEE -
2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Total paper consumption (kilogram) FRAMREE (TR) 695.00 285.00
Average total paper consumption by
each employee (kilogram per person) BiREFERAREE (TR A) 3.82 1.99
Water consumption’: T
2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Total water consumption (cubic meter) FK#EE (LK) 753.00 2,892.00
Proportion of outsourced tap water (%) SNEE B AR IR B (%) 100 100
Total water consumption by each person
(cubic meter per person) BEEAKEE (IHKAN) 4.50 20.22
Employment EE
Employee composition: B84k :
2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Number of employee (number)® BEAZ(A)? 182 143
By gender RIS 5
Male employee (number) SEE (A) 115 96
Female employee (number) ZE 8 (AN) 67 47

7 Water consumed by the Group comes from the municipal pipe network and 7 REER ARG KRG TERE M BN FEE A SKEUK

there is no problem with water sources. RAEEHERE
8 This employee number data was the total number of employees of the Group 8 ItE B ABEIE D 5l 2#E 22018512 A31HEEE
as at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. 201712 AN AMAEBRES A -
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Occupational health and safety BERERZR
Health and safety of employees: BEIRELSR
2018 2017
Indicators 5z 20184 20174
Work-related death (number of case) ATRTEH (R) 0 0
Development and training R EEEE I
Employee training: BT :
2018 2017
Indicators B 20184 20174
Total training hours REIRE B (VNI 237.50 809.50
Per capita training hours (hours per person) NSRS (N A 1.30 5.66

BHREBEREARAR —T-N\FFER
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INDEXES OF ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND #HEBEBEIF(RE HERERRK
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE ISSUED +#3g5|) &3]
BY THE HONG KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

General -REER
disclosures Related sections BREY ESGHER
and KPls Description in the ESG report KE i EHER
Environmental Aspect FhEE
Aspect A1: Emissions BEA!: #R1Y
General Disclosure | Information on: Emissions reduction it EEBRRAZREEN  ARDIME | BN
(a) the policies; and 5 BEREEBEMNELL:
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have (@) BE: R
a significant impact on the issuer (b) BFHETABEATENRTEER
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges BhGHEH -
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
KPIA11 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Comprehensive performance KPIA1.1 FHNEERABHNEE - GABNRE
KPIA1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in fotal (in tonnes) and, where | Comprehensive performance KPIA12 | REREGHNE CUEHE) R (MER) | RAENER
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per PE (MABZSEN  §EREHE)
facility).
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Data collection system in the KPIA1L3 | FESEZEENEE (UHEHE) R (0E | REEZRID
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | process of being established VEE (WABESEN  §ERNHE)
facility).
KPIA14 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where | Data collection system in the KPIA14 FELEZEENGE (HHE) R (0E | hEEZRTH
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per | process of being established A) 28 (M SESEN - §ERHHE)
facility).
KPIA15 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results | Emissions reduction KPIA1S | EREHHENEERAERER - ROHHR
achieved.
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are | Emissions reduction KPIALE | HUREEEREZEENNAL  REE | BOHR
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved. EEMERRAERR -
Aspect A2: Use of Resources EMEA2: BRER
General Disclosure | Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, | Resource efficiency it ERERER (RIEER  kRERRMH) | AFRE
water and other raw materials. BIHR -
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. Comprehensive performance KPIA2.1 FERHSNERR/IBEEE (N2 | RARNEE
electricity, gas or o) in total (kIWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.0. Fon) BEE (I TETREHE) k2R
per unit of production volume, per facilty). (M BESEN - BERHE)
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W ARREARE ()
General -REER
disclosures Related sections BREY ESGHER
and KPIs Description in the ESG report KE i BHED
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unitof | Comprehensive performance KPIA2.2 BRAEREE (M EEREN  §ER | REENER
production volume, per facility). it5t8) -
KPIA23 Description of energy use efficiency initatives and results | Resource efficiency KPIA23 | EiEREARETARAENR BRNE
achieved.
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water | Comprehensive performance KPIA24 | EKEERRLTAENEE IR | GAENER
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results FRKHGEHERAERE
achieved.
KPI A25 Total packaging material used for finished products (in Not available KPIA25 | ERGHEERIEOEE (IBHE) R | FEA
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit (MBE) BEEEMEE:
produced.
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources BEA3: RERAAER
General Disclosure | Policies on minimising the issuer's significant impact on the ~ | Not available —RBE RERTASRERARAREREATE | FEA
environment and natural resources. B -
KPIA3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the Not available KPIA3.1 BIEBEDERERARERNEALE | THA
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to REFDEEAEYENAD
manage them.
Social Aspect HEHE
Aspect B1: Employment EMEB1: ER
General Disclosure | Information on: Equal opportunity and caring for vt EBEMREE  AERER IfRE. | TEHEBREAL
(a) the policies; and talents B8 TEHe Sl RIBRARER
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have B RN -
a significant impact on the issuer () B R
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and (b) BFHEAAGERYENABLER
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, AOIHER -
diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and | Comprehensive performance KPI B1.1 R ERER  FRAFIRLERNN | RAENER
geographical region. EELH-
FHREBEEARAR —T—/\FFR
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supply chain.

General -REER
disclosures Related sections BREY ESGHEMR
and KPIs Description in the ESG report KE i BHED
Aspect B2: Health and Safety BEB2: #EER2
General Disclosure | Information on: Occupational health and safety —%5E EBRERRIRERREESRERE |BERRER2
(a) the policies; and i
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have (a) HE: R
a significant impact on the issuer (b) EFHETAEEAZENETLER
relating to providing a safe working environment and AIEEH
protecting employees from occupational hazards.
KPIB2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Comprehensive performance KPIB2.1 RIFBEMLCHASRLE - RRENER
KPIB2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Occupational health and safety KPIB23  |HidFRANBERREZIER RE |BiRRER2
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored. BATRERRE -
Aspect B3: Development and Training EMB3 : BRI
General Disclosure | Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for | Staff development -KEE | EERAREENIERENASRREN | AILE
discharging duties at work. Description of training activites. R o BEES -
Aspect B4: Labor Standards EmB4: HI1E]
General Disclosure | Information on: Labor standards —-REE | ABHLEISRHSIN e
(a) the policies; and () HE: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have (b) EFHETANEEAZEREREER
a significant impact on the issuer ROIEER -
relating to preventing child and forced labor.
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to | Labor standards KPI B4.1 EiRFIAREANEENBEETRES | #8%Y
avoid child and forced labor. BT
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when | Labor standards KPIB42  |EMEERERENRERERERNAR | 4828
discovered. bz
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management EMEBS: HEHER
General Disclosure | Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the | Commitment to the supply chain it EEAEBORERI BRI - HEERORE
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5 HERERRE (H)

General -REER
disclosures Related sections BREY ESGHER
and KPls Description in the ESG report KE biH ERED
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility BB : EREf
General Disclosure | Information on: Commitment to customers —R%E ﬁ BRLEDNRRORRERE B | HEPHAE
(a) the policies; and Advertising labels £ ERRLESENRBIRA N - RERE
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have | Healthy network () B%:R s
a significant impact on the issuer (b) EFHETAEEAZENETLER
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and RAINER -
privacy matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
KP16.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to Comprehensive performance KPI 6.1 DEICERERLITRZ2EREER | RAENER
recalls for safety and health reasons. [EEDGERD
KPI6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received | Comprehensive performance KPI 6.2 ERENERRRBRRFBANREY, | ReBNER
and how they are dealt with o
KPI63 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting | Intellectual property KPI 6.3 HRRSERARNSERATNEN . |NEEER
intellectual property rights.
KPI16.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, | Data security KPI6.5 BUEERERRERLERE  UREE |52
how they are implemented and monitored. HIREERE -
Aspect BT: Anti-corruption EMEBT: k&S
General Disclosure | Information on: Anti-corruption ot EEMLEER 92 BEREESL: | RER
(a) the policies; and () HE: R
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have (b) BTHRTAREATENRBLER
a significant impact on the issuer AOINER
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices | Comprehensive performance KPI B7.1 RERBMEEAAGRERRIVEEE |GABNER
brought against the issuer or its employees during the WESFARENEE RFALER -
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption KPIBT.2 EhEEERERER  AREBATR |RER
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. ERRE
Aspect B8: Community Investment BB HERE
General Disclosure | Policies on community engagement to understand the Commitment to the community “HEE | BEMMELERBRLEMENRREN | SHENES
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to BREFBEHELRRERRNE -
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Board is pleased to present the annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on November 24,
2014 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. The Group is a leading global online game
publisher for China-based game developers, with fast-growing in-house
development capabilities for mobile games.

The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s revenue and operating profit for the year by principal activities is
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business during the year, which includes a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators, particulars of important events affecting the Group during
the year, and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s
business, could be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate Governance
Report” in this annual report. In addition, a discussion on relationships
with its key stakeholders is included in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. The review and discussion form part of this
directors’ report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHRE (H)

RESULTS, DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

The consolidation results of the Group for the year ended December 31,
2018 are set out on pages 102 to 212 of this annual report.

The Board has resolved not to recommend payment of any final dividend
for the year ended December 31, 2018.

The Company currently does not have any pre-determined dividend
payout ratio. The amount of dividends actually distributed to the
Shareholders will depend on the Company’s earnings and financial
condition, operating requirements, capital requirements and any other
conditions that the Directors may deem relevant and will be subject to
approval of the Shareholders. The Board has the absolute discretion to
recommend any dividends.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from June 18,
2019 to June 21, 2019, both days inclusive and during which no share
transfer will be effected, for the purpose of ascertaining the Company’s
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for
registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 pm on June 17, 2019.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set out
on page 13 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property and equipment of the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 164 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is highly aware of the importance of environment protection
and has not noted any material non-compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to its business including health and safety,
workplace conditions, employment and the environment. The Group
has implemented environmental protection measures and has also
encouraged staff to be environmental friendly at work by consuming the
electricity and paper according to actual needs, so as to reduce energy
consumption and minimize unnecessary waste. For further details of
the Group’s environmental policies and performance, please refer to the
section of “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual
report.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2018 are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements on page 182 of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 183 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s distributable reserves were
US$34.7 million.

BORROWINGS

As at December 31, 2018, the Company did not have any bank
borrowings.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
December 31, 2018.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman lIslands, which would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.
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EERHRE (H)

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE IPO

The net proceeds from the IPO amounted to US$35.4 million after
deducting share issuance costs and listing expenses. During the year
ended December 31, 2018 the net proceeds from the listing were utilized
in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus, with the
balance amounted to approximately US$31.0 million. The balance of
fund will continue to be utilized according to the manner as disclosed
in the Prospectus. The Group held the unutilized net proceeds in short-
term deposits with licensed institutions in Hong Kong. In 2019, the
Company will use the proceeds raised from the IPO in accordance with
its development strategies, market conditions and intended use of such
proceeds. Details are set out in the following table:

BERLRBERSRRFEAR
BRAFEEMSHIBFEARIAEEET (M
B BITRAR ETRAX) - REE-_F—N\F+
“A=+-BIEFEHR - EHAERIEFEDR
EHRRER AR RMSHERSR] —&MH
BREMBER  FHEHRA/0BEETT ° FIRME
HREBERRERREZ BEER - REEERD
RS RIRF AR BRI T RN BB
B —E-NF ARBHRBEERER  T5
BRARERARBEESHESTENRE RS  EH%
FRHE - HEBA TR

Net amount
available as at
December 31,

Actual net
amount utilized

in the year ended

December 31,

Unutilized
amount as at
December 31,

2017 2018 2018

BE-Z-N\F
BE-Z—tF t=H=+—-8H BE-Z-N\F
+=A=+-8 LFEE +=A=+-8H
AEEAEE BRERTE HAEAEE
uUSD’000 USD’000 USD’000
FET FET FET
Investment BE 14,166.1 421.0 13,7451
Development and research R AR 8,853.8 780.3 8,073.5
Expansion of online game business BEEHEBIE 5,312.3 1,084.5 4,227.8
Marketing and advertisement LHKER 3,541.5 1,625.3 1,916.2
Working capital and other general BEESREM—MILERR 3,541.5 501.3 3,040.2

corporate purposes

Total Haet 35,415.2 4,412.4 31,002.8
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DIRECTORS

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and to the date of this annual
report, the Board consists of the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. LU Yuanfeng (Chairman)
Mr. HUANG Guozhan
Mr. HUANG Degiang

Non-executive Director

Mr. MENG Shuqi (resigned with effect from December 27, 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Darren Raymond SHAW
Mr. LI Yi Wen
Ms. Imma LING Kit-sum

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group as at the date of this annual report are set out on pages 18 to 24
in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” to
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with
the Company, under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for
an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served
by either the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an
appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated by not
less than three months’ notice in writing served by either of the Director
or the Company. Under the respective appointment letters, each of the
independent non-executive Directors is entitled to a fixed Director’s fee.

The appointments of the Directors are subject to the provisions of
retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into any
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (excluding
contracts expiring or determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation).

CONTRACT WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Significant Related Party
Transactions” in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no contract of significance was entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December
31, 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year and no contract of
significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into during the year ended December 31, 2018 or subsisted at
the end of the year.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in the section headed “Significant Related Party
Transactions” in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement and contract
of significance to the business of the Group which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or any entity
connected with such a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year
ended December 31, 2018.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group
are decided by the Board with reference to the recommendation given
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and emoluments of the five highest
paid individual in the Group are set out in Notes 33 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 208 to 212 and pages 190 to
192 of this annual report.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director or any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. None of the Directors has waived any emoluments for the year
ended December 31, 2018.

Except as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are
payable, for the year ended December 31, 2018, by our Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

During the year under review, none of the Directors or their respective

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interest in
a business that competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group, other than being a director of
the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have any
other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the
Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On November 24, 2017, each of the Controlling Shareholders entered
into the deed of non-competition (“Deed of Non-competition”) in
favor of the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling Shareholders
have irrevocably, jointly and severally given certain non-competition
undertakings to the Company. Details of the Deed of Non-competition
are set out in the section headed “Relationship with our Controlling
Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus.

The Controlling Shareholders confirmed that they have complied with
the Non-competition Deed for the year ended December 31, 2018. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such review for
the year ended December 31, 2018 and also reviewed the relevant
undertakings and are satisfied that the Deed of Non-competition has been

fully complied with.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts and appointment letters, no
contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or in
existence as at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended
December 31, 2018.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended December 31, 2018, other than the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme as set out in the section under “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Group was not involved in any material legal proceeding during the
year ended December 31, 2018.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group had not made
any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or indirectly, to
the Directors, senior management of the Company, the Controlling
Shareholders or their respective connected persons.
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POST-IPO SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On May 27, 2017, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme approved by the resolutions of our Shareholders. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees,
Directors and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options pursuant to the terms of the Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme (“Options”) for their contribution to the growth and
profits of the Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other
persons to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

Our Board has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited as the trustee
(“Trustee”) for the administration of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
and to hold the Shares which may be granted under the Options through
Epic City Limited (“Nominee”) a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Trustee.
The Trustee shall act in accordance and cooperate with our Board for
the purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Our Company will
use Shares held by the Nominee and new Shares to be allotted by us to
satisfy the Options upon exercise.

Existing Shares held by the Nominee

The Shares which may be transferred from the Nominee upon exercise
of all Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall not exceed 149,999,973 Shares (i.e. being the Shares held by the
Nominee representing 7.5% of the enlarged issued share capital of our
Company as of the Listing Date). Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not be counted
for the purpose of calculating this limit. For the avoidance of doubt,
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules only applies to the grant of options over
new shares or other new securities of a listed issuer or its subsidiaries.
For the Options to be satisfied by transfer of the existing Shares from
the Nominee to the relevant participants of the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme upon exercised, as there will be no new Share allotted by the
Company to satisfy these Options, such grants of Options were not and
will not be governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

New Shares to be issued by our Company

The new Shares which may be issued by our Company upon exercise
of Options to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and
other share option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions
of the Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 200,000,000 Shares
(i.e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit”)), and such grants of options will be governed
by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating this Scheme Mandate Limit.
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The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the exercise of
the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible person under the
Share Option Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme at any time during the period to be determined
by our Board at its absolute discretion and notified by our Board to each
grantee of the Options (the “Grantee”) as being the period during which
an Option may be exercised and in any event, such period shall not be
longer than 10 years from the date upon which any particular Option is
granted in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price (“Exercise price”) shall be such price as determined
by our Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of the
relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the offer of
the grant of the Option), but in the case that any Share would be allotted
and issued to a Grantee upon the exercise of an Option in accordance
with the terms of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price
shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a Business Day, (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange
for the five (5) Business Days immediately preceding the date of grant,
and (c) the nominal value of a Share. For the avoidance of doubt, in the
case that the Share would be transferred from the Trustee to a Grantee
upon the exercise of an Option in accordance with the terms of the Post-
IPO Share Option Scheme, the Exercise Price shall be determined by the
Board, as it may think fit taking into account the Grantee’s contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

A summary of the terms of the Post-IPO Share Incentive Option Scheme,
including the information as required to be disclosed in this annual
report pursuant to Rule 17.09 of the Listing Rules, has been set out in
the section headed “D. Share Incentive Scheme” in Appendix IV of the
Prospectus.
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On February 15, 2018, the Board approved to grant Options from the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme to eligible employees for their past
contribution to the success of the Group, and to provide incentives to
them to further contribute to the Group, the details of which are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated February 20, 2018.

The Options are conditionally vested upon satisfying specified service
vesting condition, which is mutually agreed by the employees and
the Company. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to
repurchase or settle the Options in cash.

On February 15, 2018, 49,498,610 Options, which are to be satisfied
solely by the Shares held by Epic City Limited when they are exercised,
were granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. No new Share
will be allotted to satisfy such Options. The vesting period of the Options
granted is three years and the vesting schedule is 33.33% after twelve
months from the grant date, 33.33% after twenty-four months from the
grant date, and 33.34% after thirty-six months from the grant date. The
exercise price of the Options granted is HK$0.0074 per Share (in respect
of 21,419,696 share options), or US$0.0074 per Share (in respect of
28,078,914 share options) (equivalent to HK$0.0579 per Share based on
the exchange rate of HK$1.00 to US$0.1279). As no new Shares will be
allotted by the Company to satisfy the Options, the grant of the Options is
not governed by Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

No Option has been granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme
to a Director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or an associate of any of them (as defined in the Listing Rules) since its
adoption and up to December 31, 2018.

The Company has not granted any Options to be satisfied by new Shares
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme. Details of movements of the
number of the Options to be satisfied by existing Shares held by the
Nominee under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme for the year ended
December 31, 2018 are set out below:

RZZE-N\E-A+HA EFSHAERSERE
BRGEHARBERNAEER - MRERARMEE
BB B R S R MAE - WARRSHA
SEE-SER  ARFBERARAFAEHA=F
—N\FZRAZTHzZAL -

BTN A BE B kAR BT 5 E A E IR
BEREETRSTERE ARETENRESEDN
EEBREZZRIEEEE -

RZZF—N\F-_A+HB ' ARREREEHERIRHA
S B BB 5 80 9% 149,498,610 BB AR #E -
PIETT{E RS 1812 LAEpic City Limited# A 8% %;

B MAEREFBRDABTZEERENTE -
ZEBRENSBHA=TT  MEBEEXRUT :
R BB+ (@ A E33.33% * WIEEH
HA#E St — /O (E A 55 E33.33% ¢ M B e
=+ ME B 5 B33.34% © AT K R ERN1T(E
B BT 7H0.00745 7T (5621,419,69617 i f% 42
mE) B 10.00743 7T (5128,078,91417 B
RS ) (RIK1.008 0 H0.1279F L 2 [E R HEE
RERAR0.0579787T) - BRAR AT
BRAOUMEBRENTE  WRLBERETIX L™
BAFETHEERE o

BEARHESERBREAIRMNERINEE_F—
NE+TZA=+—0B BEREERARABEEKRE
BrEF BIMARRES  ITRARKEZRRKE
MERETHBEAL (ER2R LR REE
it o

ARRARERBEERAMABERBIRAES SR OME
A # AR A0 T R TR BB A HE - RELE—F—\
FHZA=1t—BLLFE BRRHAEERBRE
FEETHAREAMBHRA RO BRITENE
REBBESMT

Outstanding

Outstanding Exercised Cancelled Lapsed as at
as at February during during during December 31,
15, 2018 the year the year the year 2018 Exercise Price
R=B-N\F R=B-N\F
—At+EA t=A=t—~
e RAT6E ERFRTE EBERFREHE CERFAKXN e RAT6E TEE
49,498,610 0 0 6,843,487 42,655,123 HK$0.0074 or US$0.0074

0.0074/87C5¢0.00743% 7T
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE IN SECURITIES

As at December 31, 2018, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which (a) were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he/
she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as
follows:

Interest in Shares or Underlying Shares of our
Company

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest

RITHABRE SR ER

JEC: )\iﬂL A=+—H8 ARAEFRTH
RENARRRAAEER (E&LES KB G
%’ VES) Bin *Hfaﬁxf’ﬁ&ffﬁﬁwﬁﬁ(a)ﬂ})ﬁ*
REERPIEXVEBETRESD BAMEG AR
BT (BEREESRBEGRIINEX - ?EZ“‘VF
HEREANRDIORE)  (D)RBRIBEESFLHE
1 PIE 35216 R AZIGHIFT BN E LM F © (c)3k
RBFREFARME AR E R AHERIORE
mr

RAEQ B RGN EER G B ER

Approximate
percentage of the
Number of ordinary Company’s issued

shares interested" share capital

EARRAEBITRAN
RE®A EmtE BERENZERHY BMOBEDH
Mr. LU Yuanfeng® Interest in controlled corporation, interest of 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
spouse, interest held jointly with
another person
P IR U o = @) EEmehEEER  BEER  BE AL
KRR AHER
Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in controlled corporation, interest 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
held jointly with another person
\mEREEEO REGDEEER BB - ATHEFEOER
Mr. HUANG Degiang Interest in controlled corporation, interest 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

held jointly with another person

EiEmEL SEGEEER 5 - AT KRB EOER
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Note: Bt 5

(1) The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares. (1) FEILIEZALTRBROOETE -

(2) Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares (2) WREIHFRIEMERO - BERE L SR BRLYF
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned Digital Holdings Limited (2 &#AMAR]) AT
by him. Mr. LU is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (1) IR R A MRS o BESLAE TR AR ()5 B8
Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO is the spouse of Mr. LU; and (2) Mr. HUANG T+ (R AELEENES)  RQ)EEEE
Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang as they are parties acting in concert. ERERBEE (BRBREA—BITHAL) IS

W2 ERHPHEE E -

(3) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all (3) IREFBHFREBEGES - FEHEL AEWEABR()LXT
Shares held by (1) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly Digital Holdings Limited (2 &#ABMHNAE]) i &
owned by him; and (2) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG QFERER A - BEEF LT REEELE (ARE
Degiang as they are parties acting in concert. ERBITBAL) 2RO PHEEERS -

(4) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all (4) IREBEFFREERD - EERREERERBN(1)HDQ
Shares held by (1) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly Digital Holdings Limited (2 &#BMHRAE]) i &
owned by him; and (2) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG QFERER A - BEEF LT REBELE (ARE
Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert. ERBITBAL) 2RO P HEEES -

Interest in associated corporation R EBE R R

Approximate
percentage of

Capacity/nature Number of shareholding

Name of Director Associated Corporation of interest Shares interest
EEnA HEEE 55 EmtE RO EE BMOREBD L
Mr. LU Yuanfeng LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
B R I S5 A LYF Digital Holdings Limited BEn#EA A
Mr. HUANG Guozhan  LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
HEEE A LXT Digital Holdings Limited EnEEA
Mr. HUANG Degiang HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 100 100%
EHE LA HDQ Digital Holdings Limited BEnEBA

Note: BfsE -

(1) Under the SFO, a holding company is regarded as an “associated (1) WEEFHFLHEGED  ZRQFWEE R HEBE

corporation.” As of December 31, 2018, LYF Digital Holdings Limited, LXT
Digital Holdings Limited and HDQ Digital Holdings Limited held 27.64%,
2.85% and 4.91% of our issued share capital respectively and thus are our

associated corporations.

|l - B#EZ-Z—N\F+=-A=+—8 ' LYF Digital
Holdings Limited * LXT Digital Holdings Limited X
HDQ Digital Holdings Limited? B35 % fIH %
TR #27.64% ~ 2.85%124.91% » FE L 2 H I
HREEEE o
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Save as disclosed above and in the section headed “Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme” and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at
December 31, 2018, none of the Directors or the chief executive of
the Company has any interests and/or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

So far as our Directors are aware, as of December 31, 2018, the following
persons will have interests or short positions in Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, will be, directly or indirectly, interested
in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of our Company
and are therefore regarded as substantial shareholders of our Company
under the Listing Rules:

BREXRTERAMEERERES ] —fRE
ERBEERMAAN BE-E-N\FT_A=1—
B BEARRESRITHRARN AR F) R H A
EE (E&RES MERGIEXVED) 8kt - 48
Bk R ESPEEREES LB RIIEXVES
TRESHEAMEARE B T (BRREES
RHEREGRPINIERS  EERE R EA R IR
B RIBEESF MHE GDIF 352187250 A & DI P
BROELMRRBRBERETAANGARR LR
s & SORA -

FERRRESFHED

REZERA BE-_FT-\F+-_A=+—-R8 T
FIA T RIS PR EREES RE F
I EXVER 2837 #F 0 6 X8 T B BR mO R R 3k
B AERIEEEEMEENAEEAER M E
ARAWBRRAE LIREREM AR AEE10%
A bR - FULRE EMRABAR BARE]E
ERR

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of ordinary issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
BEERD HADRBRT
L BEME ZERBEO RAHBOE DL
Mr. LU Yuanfeng®@ Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interests of spouse; interest held
jointly with another person
BEIRIE S @ REHAE RS - BBER
15— AL HFA/AER
LYF Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%

jointly with another person
EsfEAA  BE—ALTHA
AR

LYF Digital Holdings Limited
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of ordinary issued share
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
BERERN HADRBET
RREE,E8B ERtE EBERYA® RANBMOBE DL
Ms. LUO Simin® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interests of spouse; interest held
jointly with another person
BREHxLe RESEE S ¢ BB
BE— ATHEABENHER
Angel Age Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person
Angel Age Limited EnEBA HE—ATHA
HAEMNER
Mr. HUANG Guozhan® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interest held jointly with another person
ERUREEW R EERER R - ATHA
RAEMER
LXT Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person
LXT Digital Holdings Limited Eanff  BE—ATHE
AR
Mr. HUANG Degiang® Interest in a controlled corporation; 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
interest held jointly with another person
EEREEO REGEE RS - RS- ALTHA
AR
HDQ Digital Holdings Limited Beneficial owner; interests held 947,958,387 (L) 47.40%
jointly with another person
HDQ Digital Holdings Limited EanlaA BB - ALHA
AR
7Road Holdings Limited® Interest in a controlled corporation 310,496,901 (L) 15.52%
FHRBEBRBERAFO R HE R
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Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of ordinary issued share

Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest shares interested” capital
BERERN HARATE BT

RREE,E8B EEME ZERZEM BRENBNE D

7Road International Beneficial owner 310,496,901 (L) 15.52%

7Road International EnEBA

The Core Trust Company Limited? Trustee 149,999,973 (L) 7.50%

The Core Trust Company Limited™ A

Epic City Limited Nominee for another person 149,999,973 (L) 7.50%

Epic City Limited

Notes:

(1

()

®)

4)

F—ATHRAEA

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Under the SFO, Mr. LU Yuanfeng is deemed to be interested in all Shares
held by LYF Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly owned
by him. Mr. LU is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i)
Ms. LUO Simin as Ms. LUO is the spouse of Mr. LU; and (ii) Mr. HUANG
Guozhan and Mr. HUANG Degiang, as they are parties acting in concert.

Under the SFO, Ms. LUO Simin is deemed to be interested in all Shares held
by Angel Age Limited, a company which is wholly owned by her. Ms. LUO
is also deemed to be interested in all Shares held by (i) Mr. LU Yuanfeng
as Mr. LU is the spouse of Ms. LUO; and (ii) Mr. HUANG Guozhan and Mr.
HUANG Degiang, as they are parties acting in concert.

Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Guozhan is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) LXT Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Degiang as they are parties acting in concert.
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(2)

3)

4)

FE LI RRZALTRBROPHEFRE -

RIEFEH R EGRA - ERE S EHEBRLYF
Digital Holdings Limited ({8 & &M BHAR]) 4
2RO P EEE R - BESAETERAN)RER
G+ (BRREZ T ARELENERE) R(i)EEEE
EREERAE (BREFA—BITHAL) FED
BEBRRO P EA R o

REESHRBE GG 5B 8L T8 AR Angel
Age Limited (IR 2 EHEH LA HANHEZHMRG
PR o BRI TR AR ()EIRIE KA (B
BESRAERBEALLTHERB) R(i)BEB-LEREEZR
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(5) Under the SFO, Mr. HUANG Degiang is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by (i) HDQ Digital Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly
owned by him; and (ii) Mr. LU Yuanfeng, Ms. LUO Simin and Mr. HUANG
Guozhan as they are parties acting in concert.

(6) Under the SFO, 7Road Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in all
Shares held by 7Road International, a company which is wholly owned by
7Road Holdings Limited.

(7) The Core Trust Company Limited, being the trustee of Post-IPO Share
Option Scheme, directly holds the entire issued share capital of Epic City
Limited, which holds Shares underlying the options to be granted under the
scheme for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to such scheme.

Save as disclosed herein, our Directors are not aware of any person who,
as of December 31, 2018, had interests or short positions in Shares or
underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, will be, directly or indirectly,
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of
our Company.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme, at no time during the
year under review was the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debt
securities including debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

(5) RIEFEHFRHEEGKRA - FEBEEHRBR(IHDQ
Digital Holdings Limited (& & #A®2QE]) K (i)
BERIES A - BREHLZ T REERLE (BRESA
—BITBAL) BENZBROPEEER -

(6) REBEFHRHEEA  ESLREERBRDAER
AR TRoad International (£+ KEZRERAEE
BHRANAR) BANEBRMHPESE -

(7) The Core Trust Company Limited (8] & X 2 5
BERBREEMNXEA) BER BEpic City
Limited#) 2 82 %178 A - MEpic City Limitedfl
REBEZAEAAERSEAENMNRFTEREZTE
HEH B R AR S I AR 1

BAREFEZEN EETANBEE_Z—\F
+=—A=+—8" EHAtmxfﬁﬂaﬁaHx@qﬂ%
BRBEELF R E GG EXVIEE2R35 S HY 15X
BTHBENRZIAR  EEIHEEEHER
FAEEAER TEARBINREAG LIREMNT
A4 B AR AN (B 10% 8k bA £ O 2S -

BEROSEERZH
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest customers accounted for
22.4% of the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 59.9% of the Group’s total revenue.

In the year under review, the Group’s largest suppliers accounted for
34.2% of the Group’s total purchase. The Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for 61.7% of the Group’s total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital)
has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers or the
Group'’s five largest customers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at December 31, 2018, the Group had 182 employees (2017: 136),
46 of which were responsible for game development and maintenance,
90 for game operation and offline events organization and 46 for general
administration and corporate management. The total remuneration
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2018 were approximately
US$6.5 million, representing increase of 132.1% as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2017.

The Group enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover
matters such as position, term of employment, wage, employee benefits
and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination. Remuneration of
the Group’s employees includes basic salaries, allowances, bonus, share
options and other employee benefits, and is determined with reference
to their experience, qualifications and general market conditions. The
emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board
on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence. We provide
regular training to our employees in order to improve their skills and
knowledge. The training courses range from further educational studies
to skill training to professional development courses for management
personnel.
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REBEFEAN  NEBOZAEFEREBRBUIA
22.4% - AEEMARE L AEEAUAS9.9% °

REBEFER  AEENRAHERG A EERE
HEE34.2% - AEBEMAAHEEGE A EERER
E61.7% °
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RZBE—N\F+_A=+—H AEEBEEHF182%
BE (ZZ—+t%F 1 136%) » Ef462 85 EEHM
ERHfE RBEEEEERGE T EDHRSE
M4BBBETHACEER -HE_T—\F+
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L BHEZZE—+F+ A=+ —ALLFEHEMN
132.1% °
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group’s employees in Hong Kong have all participated in the
Mandatory Provident Fund in Hong Kong. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme.

Details of the pension obligations of the Company are set out in Note 23
to the consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transactions for the period
from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018

RIRER G E

AEEEBEEHZ2ETEBREATES o &
B AR IEESRTEBUFEENBRRERRK
BRETEIKE - PRI E AR E & AR HE
ET AL RERKERNGEIHZR - AN HRERETR
Frf MR - Bt RIKERG BT F - AEERKE
—EETREZA BIE R E PR -

ARFIRKS EEHBERARERS G REN
523 -
BRERXS

H-Z-NF-A—-HEZ-FT-)/\F
T-A=+t-BRHBZBHERERS

Annual cap

Amount (Note a)

FELR

&8 (Fffzta)

usD usb

EPH E

Royalty fees charged by 7Road NBRBITHREEHRELKE 2,108,642 4,500,000
arising from content WE 2z i B (Fi3Eb)

distribution agreements (Note b)
License fees and royalty fees charged by 7Road  H&IEEF Al i E AR FE L AE 2,180,640 2,200,000

arising from IP licensing agreements (Note c)

WER 2 FF P & Mg B (Hfste)

(a) The cap is for the period from January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018.

(a) ZERRA-F-NF-—A-BE_ZF-N\F+=
A=+—HHEN LR -
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(b)

(c)

The Group has entered into content distribution agreements with 7Road
with respect to two particular game series originally developed by 7Road,
namely the Wartune series and the DDTank series (the “7TRoad Games”),
under which 7Road granted the Group the right to distribute its web games
in specified language versions or geographical markets. On July 6, 2017, the
Group entered into a content distribution framework agreement with 7Road
(the “Framework Agreement’), pursuant to which 7Road agreed to grant
the right to publish the 7Road Games or other games developed by 7Road
from time to time. 7Road generally received a commission of approximately
15.0% to 23.0% of the gross billings derived from web games.

The Group entered into IP licensing agreements with 7Road on February 1,
2013 (as further amended by a supplemental agreements dated September
1, 2013, January 21, 2014, June 1, 2014, July 10, 2015, August 3, 2015,
July 5, 2017, February 1, 2018 and May 10, 2018), pursuant to which the
Group obtained an IP license and developed several casual shooting games
in mobile formats until June 30, 2023. During the year ended December 31,
2018, the Group paid 7Road license fees of USD2,000,000 and royalty fees
consisting of a fixed advance payment and a revenue sharing arrangement
based on a range of 3.0% to 15.0% of the gross billings generated from the
self-developed games which adopted its IP.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended December 31, 2018,
the Group has not entered into any connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the
requirements of Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Significant Related Party
Transactions” stated in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements,
no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Group was a party and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during the year ended December
31, 2018.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHRE (H)

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
aforementioned continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
these transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or better (as defined in the Listing
Rules); and

(3) on the terms of the respective transaction agreements, which are
fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
auditor of the Company to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued its
unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed as above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2018 are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements contained herein. One of such related party transactions
constitutes a continuing connected transaction under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules and the Company has complied with the requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of such continuing connected
transaction are set out in the section headed “Connected Transaction” of
this Directors’ report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Board, as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the public float as required under the Listing
Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHRE (H)

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance) in relation to the director’s and officer’s liability insurance is
currently in force and was in force during the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognizes the importance of good corporate governance
for enhancing the management of the Company as well as preserving
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Company has adopted
the code provisions set out in the CG Code as its own code to govern its
corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
relevant code provisions contained in the CG Code during the year under
review, save for deviation from code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the responsibility
between the chairman and chief executive officer should be segregated
and should not be performed by the same individual. However, the
Company does not have a separate chairman and chief executive officer
and Mr. LU Yuanfeng currently performs these two roles. The Board
considers that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
in the same person is beneficial to the management of the Group. The
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the senior
management and the Board, which comprises experienced individuals.
The Board currently comprises three executive Directors (including Mr. LU
Yuanfeng) and three independent non-executive Directors and therefore
has a fairly strong independence element in its composition.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the
Company with an aim to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance.

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the

Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 34 to
47 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)
EERHRE (H)

DONATIONS

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group did not make any
charitable donations.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2018 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants, who are proposed for reappointment at the forthcoming
AGM.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company is in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company.

On behalf of the Board
LU Yuanfeng
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, March 22, 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
8 M A% B A R

To the Shareholders of Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Digital Hollywood Interactive
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 102 to 212, which comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at December 31, 2018;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is summarised as follows:
. Revenue recognition — estimates of lifespan of in-game virtual items

with reference to expected playing period of paying players (“Player
Relationship Period”) in the Group’s online game service
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BAZBEERE (&)

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN BNAEERREFSEH

Revenue recognition — estimates of lifespan of in-game virtual
items with reference to expected playing period of paying
players (“Player Relationship Period”) in the Group’s online

game service.
WAHR -2
([IREEI]) - A EEEREENERSZS -

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements
BLHA M BEREMEES

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s
revenue from online games amounted to USD21,453,881,
representing 89% of the Group’s total revenue. It was mainly
derived from the sales of in-game virtual items. The amount of
associated contract liabilities amounted to USD3,041,248, as
at December 31, 2018, representing 29% of the Group’s total

liabilities as at that date.
HEZZ—)\FT_A=+—HILFE = EEEKREBKIBER
BVUC A 721,453,881 7T © 15 BEEELKARSI% - WAER
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HEESTR3,041,248% 7T  EXREERZARNRERE29% °
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We understood, evaluated and validated the key controls in
relation to the recognition of revenue from in-game virtual
items, including oversight exercised by management in
assessing the Player Relationship Periods and computing
the monthly revenue of game virtual items performed by
management; inspection of evidence of management’s
review; testing of the integrity and system logic of data and
information for supporting the determination of the Player
Relationship Periods, on a sample basis.
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We discussed with management and evaluated their
judgements and estimations made in determining the Player
Relationship Period for each game. We also assessed the
accuracy of the management’s judgements and estimations by
comparing to historical patterns on a sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BAZBEERE (&)

Key Audit Matter
BREETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN BNAEERREFSEH

The Group’s in-game virtual items are categorised as both
consumable virtual items and durable items. Revenue
derived from consumable items in its online game service
are recognised once they are consumed. Revenue derived
from durable virtual items in its online game services are
recognised ratably over the lifespan of durable virtual items
with reference to Player Relationship Period (defined in Note
2.20), on a game by game basis. If the Group does not have
the ability to differentiate revenue attributable to durable
items from consumable items for a specific game, the Group
recognises revenue from both durable and consumable items
for that game ratably over the Player Relationship Period.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, all in-game virtual
items were treated as durable items by the Group.
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The determination of the Player Relationship Period for
relevant game virtual items requires significant judgement
and estimates. It is made taking into account all known and
relevant information available to the Group at the time of
assessment. Thus, specific audit focus was placed in this
area.
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We also recalculated the contract liabilities balance based on
the respective Player Relationship Period of each game on a
sample basis.
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Based on the above, we found that the significant judgement
and estimates involved in determining the Player Relationship
Periods adopted by management in the revenue recognition
of in-game virtual items of the Group were supported by the
evidence we obtained.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
BYBBERS ()

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Fong Wan Huen.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, March 22, 2019
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

EHEERER

As at December 31, 2018 R =Z— /\F+=-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note uUsbD usbD
B 5 E EYM
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RRE 6 2,107,128 270,592
Intangible assets WA 7 2,316,324 461,101
Investment in an associate B E R RIHIRE 11 640,233 681,625
Prepayments and other receivables TEAS 3k e H At fE W SR IE 14 4,342,699 191,005
Deferred income tax assets BEIEFTS R EE 12 173,875 239,452
Financial assets at fair value through BRATEAERER
other comprehensive income HEAHMEE
WM S REE 8 2,670,518 -
12,250,777 1,843,775
Current assets RBEE
Contract costs BRI A 695,396 899,724
Trade receivables 2 S5 rWGE 13 3,625,121 4,192,093
Prepayments and other receivables TE A R R H At FE R IE 14 14,561,573 12,896,914
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EHEY 15 32,598,242 43,997,614
51,480,332 61,986,345
Total assets wEE 63,731,109 63,830,120
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EELafE
Equity attributable to owners of the ANTEEAELER
Company
Share capital %N 16 2,000,000 2,000,000
Shares held for the Share Option Scheme PR ES B RS 16 (150,000) (150,000)
Reserves [ 17 38,282,476 35,933,689
Retained earnings REBEF 13,144,180 12,279,521
Total equity MR 53,276,656 50,063,210
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)
AptEEEER (B)

As at December 31, 2018 R —Z— \E+-A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note usbD UsSD
P 5E EYH e
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEFTSH AR 12 56,021 43,573
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B SN RE 19 3,177,289 4,522,484
Contract liabilities AHaE 3,806,299 4,069,400
Receipt in advance TEW IR 136,193 107,893
Other payables and accruals Hib A RIB N EETE A 20 2,652,333 4,322,401
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFTIS L B & 626,318 701,159
10,398,432 13,723,337
Total liabilities FeS=Rit 10,454,453 13,766,910
Total equity and liabilities HWEEREE 63,731,109 63,830,120

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with A E&HHEER FE&R &SN R E— B -
the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 102 to 212 were approved by the — S102E212EMUHHRCAHEEGN_T—NF

Board of Directors on March 22, 2019 and were signed on its behalf. ZRZTZHEEURAEE -
Director Director
BF BF

EREDHEEBR AT ZT—\FFER
’—W
o—/—\%



N

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BftEElER

For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZ—Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—tF
Note uUsbD usbD
B 5 E EYM
Revenue WA 5 24,161,349 28,620,609
Cost of revenue AR 22 (10,842,465) (12,694,912)
Gross profit ER 13,318,884 15,925,697
Selling and marketing expenses HE R EHEMAY 22 (5,377,888) (3,424,909)
Administrative expenses X 22 (5,022,420) (7,536,629)
Research and development expenses A 22 (1,536,779) (452,743)
Other gains/(losses), net Hupuess /(&8) F8 21 711,342 (539,913)
Operating profit R F 2,093,139 3,971,503
Finance income B s A 24 11,851 97,298
Finance costs AR IR 24 (93,418) (39,388)
Finance (costs)/income, net B (AR, WA F5E 24 (81,567) 57,910
Share of loss of an associate DEEE R R ETE 11 (3,355) (47,274)
Profit before income tax R B S 8 AR A 2,008,217 3,982,139
Income tax expense FTiSHiF 25 (1,071,113) (2,255,465)
Profit for the year FREF 937,104 1,726,674
Other comprehensive income Hig 2wz
Items that may be reclassified subsequently AREREBREF N
to profit or loss ZIEEMIER
— Currency translation differences — G E R (445,971) 557,128
Items that may not be reclassified HigRkvgsHmol
subsequently to profit or loss ZEEMIEER
— Changes in fair value of investment in — BERENNFEE
equity securities 89,572 -
Total comprehensive income for the year FRE2EKEEE 580,705 2,283,802
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued)
Aft2ERER (&)

For the year ended December 31,2018 HE T — \F+_A=1+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Note usbD UsSD
B 5 E EYM
Profit attributable to: BT FE{E R R
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ PN 937,104 1,726,674
Total comprehensive income attributable to: LA E(G 2 E RS AEE :
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEF =N 580,705 2,283,802
Earnings per share BREBR (USREWIIR)
(expressed in USD cents per share) 26
— Basic — &K 0.05 0.13
— Diluted —E 0.05 0.13
Dividends i8S 27 - -

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be LA EA G2 TS K E BARE R A9 I s — GTBGE
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EOEREBR

For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZ—Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAREE AELRL
Shares
held for
the Share
Share Option Retained
capital Scheme  Reserves earnings Total
P RES A
BE  BEZRG =1 REEF @t
Notes usD usD usD usD usD
Bzt ESH ESH ESH ESH ESH
Balance at January 1, 2018 RZE-N\F
—B—HHEE 2,000,000 (150,000) 35,933,689 12,279,521 50,063,210
Profit for the year FREF - - - 937,104 937,104
Other comprehensive income Efh2EKE
- net gains from changes in fair - RATEGE
value of financial assets BEZHHA
at fair value through other Hib2E e
comprehensive income e REEN
Yean 3 8,12 - - 89,572 - 89,572
— currency translation differences - BB ER 17 — - (445,971) - (445,971)
Total comprehensive income for FAZHEKNREE
the year - - (356,399) 937,104 580,705
Transaction with owners in their HEAA (UEFASHR)
capacity as owners B
Appropriation to statutory reserves BREELERE 17(a) = = 72,445 (72,445) =
The Share Option Scheme B2
— value of employee services - EERBKEE - - 2,632,741 - 2,632,741
Balance at December 31, 2018 R=Z-N\F
+tZA=+-BN&EH 2,000,000 (150,000) 38,282,476 13,144,180 53,276,656
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
AORESBE (R)

For the year ended December 31,2018 HZ—Z— \F+-A=+—HILtFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAREE AR
Shares
held for
the Share
Share Option Retained
capital Scheme Reserves earnings Total
R 2
BRA HEzRG R REEF @i
Note uUsbD uUsbD UsbD uUsbD UsbD
(o= = = = = =
Balance at January 1, 2017 RZB—tfF
-A-BMES 10,000 ~ (394,315) 11,175,806 10,791,491
Profit for the year EREA - - - 1,726,674 1,726,674
Other comprehensive income Efh2EKE
— currency translation differences - ERBEER 17 - - 557,128 - 557,128
Total comprehensive income for FAZEKNREE
the year - - 557,128 1,726,674 2,283,802
Transaction with owners in their HEAA (UEFASHR)
capacity as owners B
Shares allotted for the share SR 7 B EN =T 2
incentive scheme e 1,111 (1,111) - - -
Capitalisation issue BAILET 1488,889  (148,889) (1,340,000) - -
Shares issued pursuant to the IPO BEERAREE
B1RO 500,000 - 36,487,917 - 36,987,917
Appropriation to statutory reserves BREELERE 17(a) - - 622,959  (622,959) -
Balance at December 31, 2017 RZB—tF
+t-A=+-BH&EH 2,000,000 (150,000) 35,933,689 12,279,521 50,063,210

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in LA EE RSB R EEMEMN M — 0 RE -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BREBSEREGR AR —T—\FFER
’—W
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BOHRETRER

For the year ended December 31,2018 HEZ—Z— \F+_A=+—HILFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Note uUsbD usbD
B 5E ES ET
Cash flows from operating activities RELETHNRER
Cash generated from operations KBTS S 28 1,330,361 1,313,529
Income tax paid EARATIEH (1,046,725) (3,570,061)
Net cash generated/(used in) from TEEBE(FTA)
operating activities REZRE 283,636 (2,256,532)
Cash flows from investing activities RERETZHNEERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment HEWME  WEREE (2,226,696) (94,510)
Purchases of intangible assets HERLEE (2,955,663) (573,000)
Prepayment for investment BEB AR (3,500,000) -
Payment for financial assets at fair value MERAFEFEAESE
through other comprehensive income AR 2 E WS
SEVEERR (2,559,607) -
Net cash used in investing activities REZBHFMARSEE (11,241,966) (667,510)
Cash flows from financing activities REMEZTBNRERE
Proceed from IPO and over-allotment BRAAREER
FBEERC B FTIS RUR - 40,320,000
Payment for IPO costs EPNNGE: S # NP (363,147) (1,541,678)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BMETES (FTA),
financing activities RERE (363,147) 38,778,322
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and REeRRESEEY
cash equivalents CRD) /& inFE (11,321,477) 35,854,280
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUNRERBSEEY
of year 43,997,614 8,130,169
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and RekReEEYD
cash equivalents B3 (F518) W (77,895) 13,165
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRORERESEEY
the year 32,598,242 43,997,614

DA & GHER &M 2 2 B ER BE PN B9 Y S — FBAE -

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman lIslands on November 24, 2014 as an exempted
company with limited liability. The address of the Company’s
registered office is P.O. Box 2075, George Town, Grand Cayman
KY1-1105, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the development, operations and publishing of web-based games
and mobile games business (“Game Business”) in North America,
Europe, The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and other
regions.

On December 15, 2017, the Company completed its initial public
offering on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “IPO”).

The Group’s Game Business is carried out through several operating
companies, namely Proficient City Limited (“PCL”), a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), Angame
Inc. (“Angame”), a limited liability company incorporated in the
BVI, Game Hollywood Hong Kong Limited (“Hollywood HK”), a
limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong, Now To Play
Game Limited (“N2PG”), a limited liability company incorporated in
Hong Kong, BN A FREMGEEBR AT (Guangzhou Suiyue
Niandai Software Technology Company Limited, “Guangzhou Suiyue
Niandai”), a limited company incorporated in the PRC, E/I}# {5 &8
I AR AR (Guangzhou Youlai Information Technology Company
Limited,“Guangzhou Youlai”), a limited company incorporated in
the PRC and BEMZ&HIFEERHXBRAF (Guangzhou Zhang Ying
Kong Information Technology Company Limited, “Zhang Ying Kong”).
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng, Mr. Huang Deqgiang and Mr. Huang Guozhan
(collectively as the “Founders”) are the founders of the Group.

The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars
(“USD”), unless otherwise stated, and have been approved for issue
by the Company’s Board of Directors on March 22, 2019.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the

years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

TEEHRRME

AIERFIREUEE HFUBHRRERAHZ T
BEHEE - REAETI  ZEBREEM
ERNRZ2FINMAFE

21 REEE

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4 below.

Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 21 REEE @)
2.1.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group 2.1.1 REBERMN 2 35 REHEET 4R
The following amendments to standards have been LATAERIEETRASER —Z—
adopted by the Group for the first time for the financial NE—A— Bz BB BE
year beginning on or after January 1, 2018: EEIRERA :
IFRS 2 (Amendment) (Note 2.19) Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment

Transactions

B B B RS A RIS 258 (8 RTHR) (Fif3E2.19) AR NZ SN DB RETE

IFRS 15 (Note 2.2.1) Revenue from Contracts with Customers
RS B 7 i 5 AE R ZE 1558 (Pf95E2.2.1) KEEFE LA
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
0 % B 75 3 e R B 955% SLRMTIA
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
B REREEEeREE22% HNER 5 RFBR(E
Annual Improvements to IFRSs Retirement of Short-term Exemptions in IFRS 1
2014-2016 Cycle
I R B 7 2 5 22 ) Ui [e] B B B 75 2 5 HE R 22 1 SR BV KR BR AR 2

“E-MEE - RFEPNFERE
Clarifying Measurement of Investments under IAS 28
BRI g ERIE 285 E THIRE T &

Amendment to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

R at AR 285 S FT hik REEE R ARG ERARINIRE

Amendments to IFRSs effective for the financial year RZZE-—N\F—A—B=z2E&RAR
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 do not have a MBI E £ B RS iR &
material impact on the Group’s financial statements and BIMERT  BREIBRBA RS SRS R E
did not require retrospective adjustments, except for IFRS 155850 - BIRE BH) B R I
15. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 15 are disclosed BEAXRE  EEELHBEPHAE -
in Note 2.2.1 below. RANBIRR B 75 3R 5 A RIS 155 A 32

ZETXHIF2.21HE -

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR @



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New standards, amendments to existing standards
and interpretations not yet adopted

FESHTHERE @

21 RBEE ()

212 MARRMEFER] - REERIN
CHPGS

Effective for annual

periods beginning
on or after
RTSRHARK %
FRNFEERBER

Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle (Note(a))

BERMBHREEN —FT—0FE
T EFRMNFESRE (HFE))

IFRS 19 (Amendments) (Note(a))

B B s i R EE195% (1E£RTHR)
(KizE(a))

IAS 28 (Amendments) (Note(a))

B B i iR 5 AR5 285k (1&RThR)
(Mf3E(a))

IFRIC 23 (Note(a))

BRI iR ERELZ 8 @R EE235
(fi3E(a))

IAS 19 (Amendments) (Note(a))

BIFR &t ERIE 1958 (BRThR)
(Mf3E(a))

IFRS 16 (Note(b))

B B s iR R 165% (FiIFE(b))

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (Amendments)
(Note(a))

B B 15 3R S R 105% M
Bl & st AR5 285 (ERThR)
(Mi7E(a))

Previously held interest in a joint operation,
income tax consequences of payments on
financial instruments classified as equity

and borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
BEESLEBTRHENER RO BAERN
ERITENFTMEHER  ARGEBERL

B e B R AR
Financial Instruments

TRIA

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures
REFE AR MAECENRAER

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

PRS2 1 T e i 1

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
FTENEET - HURSEE

Leases

HE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEEEBE QRN
SERACENEELESTE

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018

January 1, 2019

—E-NF—H—H

January 1, 2019

—T-NF—A—H

January 1, 2019

—T—-nF—H—H

January 1, 2019
—Z-hF—-HA—H

January 1, 2019
—E-NF—-HA—H

January 1, 2019

—E-NF—H—H

To be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New standards, amendments to existing standards
and interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

(a)

The Group has already commenced an assessment

2 FESHBERHEE @

21 RBEE ()

2.1.2 WARRMHFTAER -

SRR ]

EIERT K2t ()

(a)

AEB DB EZENR

of the impact of these new or revised standards, s & 5T ZE I A R A& BT Al Y
and amendments, which are relevant to the Group’s TE ERBEAKEENER
operations. According to the preliminary assessment E#@- BREESENY LT
made by the directors, no significant impact on the fty - JEEAZ SR RETTAE
financial performance and positions of the Group is WiE - BT edIr~EENE
expected when they become effective. BRIBIARNERNERNTE -

(b) IFRS 16 Leases (b) FIFREISREERAIE169HE
Nature of change 2‘% =g

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result
in almost all leases being recognised on the
consolidated balance sheet by lessees, as the
distinction between operating and finance leases
is removed. Under the new standard, an asset (the
right to use the leased item) and a financial liability
to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions

are short-term and low-value leases.

B B B 75 R 5 E B BB 165E 10
ZE-RFE-ABMG HF
BYETREHELHAEA
EaHEEAERER &
EHEHEBEHEENE D
WM o RIFZILER - &
EZEEBRENEARE)
HYNESNS M A EHKE

oo ME—PISNE RRE B RIE
BEHEE -
Impact FE
The finance department of the Group has reviewed E BB IR A AERIE
all of the Group’s leasing arrangements over the 165&@%?‘3%9’\]%)?5 TR IR
last year in light of the new lease accounting rules HA REBNPKIEH
in IFRS 16. The standard will affect primarily the AREEFFENMBEHESR
accounting for the Group’s operating leases. HEEITERM - ZERBEE

As at the reporting date, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of USD2,877,310, see
Note 30(b). Of these commitments, approximately
USD36,504 relate to short-term leases which will be
recognised on a straight-line basis as expense in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

EREHEEBRL

FEARHEKEHEHEN G
BIf o

REEBH AEBEF
B RS E R E
2,877,310% st (R M =
30(b)) ° Rz E&EPER + 4
36,504 LR E A
B MZzeEBRESER
EfEENERNER AR
gz o

—EN\EER @
D



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.2 New standards, amendments to existing standards
and interpretations not yet adopted (Continued)

(b)

IFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Impact (Continued)
The Group does not have any activities as a lessor.

The impact of adoption of IFRS 16 is still under
assessment by the Group however it is not expected
to have a significant effect on the financial statements
of the Group.

Date of adoption by the Group

The Group will apply the standard from its mandatory
adoption date of January 1, 2019. The Group intends
to apply the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year prior
to first adoption. Right-of-use assets for property
leases will be measured on transition as if the new
rules had always been applied. All other right-of-use
assets will be measured at the amount of the lease
liability on adoption (adjusted for any prepaid or
accrued lease expenses).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

2.2.1 IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers from January 1, 2018 which resulted
in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The Group has adopted the new rules retrospectively
and has restated comparatives for the 2017 financial
year. In summary, there was no impact to the Group’s
consolidated statement of comprehensive income nor
retained earnings, while the following adjustments were
made to the amounts recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet at the date of initial application (January 1,

2 FESHBERHEE @

2.2 S HREH

221 BB SRS R E 1565 K B

EPAHHBA
AREBEAE-ZT—N\F—A—H#
FRANBI R B 75 SRS BRI 1555 2R B
BEFAHHRA - EHEHBURE
P REVERRANERNSHIER
B REEDBPRMAFTHRA - 1
BTt FHREESEIN R
HF - BE  ZEAEAEEN
At ElERSIRE BT ER
2. WREXERBE (B ZT—
NFE—R—B) HEAHEEAR
KNERN S REED A THE

2018);
December 31, January 1,
2017 Reclassification 2018
—E—+F —E-N\F
+-A=+—H ok —A—AH
usD uUsSD usD
e T En
(IAS 18 carrying (IFRS 15 carrying
Note amount) amount)
(GlES -5l (BIRR B 5 R 522 B
B sE Z185IRMEE) E15SIREE)
Assets BE
Current assets REBEE
Contract costs BHIRR a - 899,724 899,724
Prepayments and other BT
receivables ot fE Y SR a 13,796,638 (899,724) 12,896,914
Liabilities =i
Current liabilities REBEE
Contract liabilities AHEE a - 4,069,400 4,069,400
Deferred revenue R A a 3,436,567 (3,436,567) -
Receipt in advance Sl Gers a 740,726 (632,833) 107,893

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

221 1FRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
(a) Presentation of assets and liabilities related to
contracts with customers

The Group has also voluntarily changed the presentation
of certain amounts in the consolidated balance sheet to
reflect the terminology of IFRS 15:

. Contract costs recognised in relation to contract
acquisition costs were previously presented
as part of prepayments and other receivables
(USD899,724 as at January 1, 2018, net of
impairment allowance).

. Contract liabilities in relation to game publishing
service revenues were previously presented
as part of deferred revenue and receipt in
advance (USD3,491,201 as at January 1,
2018). Contract liabilities in relation to licensing
revenues were previously presented as part
of deferred revenue and receipt in advance
(USD578,199 as at January 1, 2018).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries 2.3 fBAF
2.3.1 Consolidation 231 & AR

A subsidiary is an entity (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group’s accounting policies.

(a) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Subsidiaries (Continued)

2.3.2 Separate financial statements
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

2.4 Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investment in an associate are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investment in an associate include goodwill identified
on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in
an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate
and the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESHBERHEE @

2.4 Associates (Continued) 2.4 B¢ NT) ()

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses
in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to ‘share of profit of investments accounted
for using equity method’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

2.5 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as
the executive directors that make strategic decisions.

AEBERGEEBROBER A HFEZEK
BmANER  MEEEKBROE GBS
T W 2 D B Lt 2 T M e O FERR
I $2% E O BRE(E VE L AR R - fi
REBEEBZEDRNERENXIEBR
HR B & R EmEa (B EREmE
EREEGIR)  BIREE TSR E—
FER BRIFEERRZBERREL
VETE S E B A SR A RAERIER o

FEEREREDHEERTEEMNT
BREBREARNBEEQARNKRECHE -
M5 AEEGERESES T RZH
EREE AR A £ 5R B E AR (B 2 A
ZR AR EHFEEWER AN [HRA
BEAARNBERERN] SR X

T o

NS | B E B 8 ) 2 TR O O K TR
RHEENBRNAEENPBRER
R MEAFRBREE R E QAN
AR - RERERTIALE B
AR ZRMAEEEERENER
fERIGH - B2 AR BRERE R
TEHEEE) - PARELR B S B R A B UK
iﬁ °

RE AR BEEEE SR E
BERaemPiaER AR o

2.5 D EH/E
KESMITBHRFEBLLEARANA
MRE—BHIRER - T ELELEREK
ANBEREDHNERDER LKRBT
f BEWERAELRBERENNITE
$ °

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR

N ke N
%ﬁ



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional currency”).
Consolidated financial statements are presented in
USD, which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to cash
and cash equivalents are presented in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income within “finance
income or costs”. All other foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income within “other gains/(losses), net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.6 IMNBEH]E @)
(c) Group companies (c) &BERQF

The results and financial position of all the Group entities FERABIREREENIEE

(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary BOEEER (EPHEEGHA

economy) that have a functional currency different RECHEBHE)  HEBERMTE

from the presentation currency are translated into the H%Ri’ﬂhzT@JEfW HEREWME

presentation currency as follows: 3

+  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet item e MEBEEAGBREHZIH
presented are translated at the closing rate at the BEERBE RZHEHH
date of that balance sheet; W ERRE

. income and expenses for each statement of e WMEZEKZEREEHWA
comprehensive income item are translated at MY - BREHEXRBE (B
average exchange rates (unless this average is not FZTFHELIERS A BHG
a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect TEXZFAFENAGEY
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in B EZBERLT WA R
which case income and expenses are translated at TEX S HENERBE
the rate on the dates of the transactions); and K

« all resulting exchange differences are recognised in e FEARAUEANEHLZFEY
other comprehensive income. FEME2ER AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the statement of comprehensive income during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of estimated useful lives

or remaining lease term
Office equipment 5 years
Computers 3 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.10).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within “Other gains/(losses), net” in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018

2 FESHBERHEE @

2.7 ¥ MERRE

WE - BERREEE LKA RS T
ERRESIR - FELRA SR IEER
BERABNL -

HEORAGT AEENREEANLER
RBUAE (WHEMR)  EERREZ
TH B BB A R RASE R A A BE R AR
SENZEBNKAER FHFENE
e ERMTUMREEIUBRER © T
FEMEERENEEENY B HBE
2mRERAME -

ME - BERREAEBREAETINEN
REMGF AT BERRNDBEERANT

HEYEEE EEFABERRHT
THE (AREE RE)
MRERE 5%

E 3F

& 40 T 4 (1B B T R 45 0 3R 2
R BURET AL A o

HWEEMREEAREMGESATRD S
B AIEEMREERRRONEE AT IR
El&R (f5E2.10) -

& A U Es K B 1R T % AT S R 0R B
FREELBMEE  WRA G 2EEE
FAE THEMYE (B18) F8E ] JER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

(c)

Licenses

Separately acquired licences are shown at historical cost.
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
licences over their estimated useful lives of 3 years to 5.5
years. Amortisation is expensed to cost of revenues or
offset against the revenues.

Computer software

Acquired computer software stated at historical cost less
amortisation. Acquired computer software licenses are
capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire
and bring to use the specific software, and are amortised
over their estimated useful lives of three years.

Research and development expenditures

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense
as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved
products) are capitalised as intangible assets when
recognition criteria are fulfilled. These criteria includes:
(1) it is technically feasible to complete the game product
so that it will be available for use; (2) management
intends to complete the game product and use or sell
it; (3) there is an ability to use or sell the game product;
(4) it can be demonstrated how the game product will
generate probable future economic benefits; (5) adequate
technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the game product are
available; and (6) the expenditure attributable to the game
product during its development can be reliably measured.
Other development expenditures that do not meet those
criteria are recognised as expenses as incurred. During
the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there
were no development costs meeting these criteria and
capitalised as intangible assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) Research and development expenditures (Continued)
Development costs previously recognised as expenses
are not recognised as assets in subsequent periods.
Capitalised development costs are amortised from
the point at which the assets are ready for use on a
straight-line basis over their useful lives.

Research and development expenses consist primarily
of (i) salary and benefits for the Group’s research
and development personnel, and (ii) the technology
outsourcing payment to third-party companies.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, all research
and development expenditures were recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as the recognition
criteria for capitalisation have not been fulfilled (2017:
same).

2.9 Prepaid royalty fees

The Group licenses online games from game developers and
pays royalty fees to game developers as sharing of proceeds
earned from selling in-game virtual tokens (“Game Tokens”)
and other virtual items (Note 2.20). Royalty fees are either paid
in advance and deferred on the consolidated balance sheet as
prepaid royalties or accrued according to the licensed period.
These royalty fees are expensed to cost of revenues (where
the Group is a principal) or offset against the revenues (where
the Group is an agent).

At each balance sheet date, the Group evaluates the
recoverability of prepaid royalty fees to determine amounts that
it deems unlikely to be realised through revenues generated
from the games. This evaluation considers multiple factors,
including the term of the agreement, forecasted demand, game
life cycle status, game development plans, and current and
anticipated game revenue levels, as well as other qualitative
factors such as the success of similar games. To the extent
that this evaluation indicates that the remaining prepaid
royalty payments are not recoverable, the Group records an
impairment charge to administrative expenses in the period
that impairment is indicated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 210 S REERE

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible ﬂ*ﬁﬂﬁﬁ—ﬂiﬁﬁiﬂﬂmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂi—l
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and HERNERAEDANE %fﬁ IEl
are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to E/E\Uﬁit/ﬁiﬁ CATHIENAES
amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or EHRIBER “{bﬂémﬁﬁﬁﬁ—ﬁ%ﬂ/ﬁ%
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount Bl - EITRER - REBEDREA
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for ENREAERBLEKE SN S ER
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its Foo AT Bl & R R E E K A T E R
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of ERAEFAEENRSE © KTHER
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the B BEDEREBUIZINASRE
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the MREED GReELESMN) 2E - BER
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash TEE’HF‘:EV&ﬁE (TEEENE) RERSE
flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than H HRig &0 Al sE AR BB ©

goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.11 Investment and other financial assets MBRERHMEMEE
2.11.1 Classification 2111558
On January 1, 2018 (the date of initial application of RZZ2-NF—-A—H (BXEHA
IFRS 9), the Group’s management has assessed which BIRR B 53R SR B9 B E)
business models apply to the financial assets held by the REEEEEC T A AEEBRER
Group and has classified its financial instruments into the BARNAEEMPFENEREE -
appropriate IFRS 9 categories, namely: WEHEEMIAESERGENE

RIS S #ERIZE9SRE R - B

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value e HEERATEFEMNEHRI
(either through profit or loss or other comprehensive B(FREmlHMbEEEK
income (“OCI”), or through profit or loss), and @) R

«  those to be measured at amortised cost. o REHEAKAFENERIA -

The classification depends on the Group’s business model NEDNRIAEEEESRMEERN

for managing the financial assets and the contractual EBEARR S RENELNIERM

terms of the cash flows. TE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11Investment and other financial assets LMBREREMERMEE 5)
(Continued)

2.11.1 Classification (Continued) 211948 ()

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.11.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership.

2.11.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered
in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows
are solely payment of principal and interest.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESHBEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)

LMBEREMERMEE @)

211 Investment and other financial assets
(Continued)

2.11.3 Measurement (Continued) 2135 E (&)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The Group
currently only classifies its debt instruments at amortised
cost, as these assets are only held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or
loss and presented in other gains/(losses), together with
foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses
are presented as separate line item in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on
equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets measured
at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the
statement of comprehensive income as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 =ESFBERBE @
POLICIES (Continued)

MMBEREMEREE )

211 Investment and other financial assets
(Continued)

2114 E

2.11.4 Impairment

From January 1, 2018, the Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by IFRS 9, that is to measure the loss
allowance at the amount equal to lifetime expected credit
loss at initial recognition and through its life of the asset.
The Group use practical expedients when estimating life
time expected credit losses on trade receivables, which
is calculated using a provision matrix where a fixed
provision rate applies depending on the shared credit risk
characteristics of the trade receivables.

In assessing the shared credit risk characteristics of
the trade receivables, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

2.11.5Accounting policies applied until December 31,

2017

The Group has applied IFRS 9 retrospectively, but has
elected not to restate comparative information. As a
result, the comparative information provided continues to
be accounted for in accordance with the Group’s previous
accounting policy.

Until December 31, 2017, the Group classified its financial
assets in the following categories: loans and receivables.
The classification depended on the purpose for which the
financial assets were acquired. Management determined
the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the
Group only had loans and receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESHBERHEE @

21N2HHEMIA

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated balance sheet when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.

2.13Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from platforms or payment
channels for proceeds earned from selling Game Tokens and
other virtual items (please refer to Note 2.20). If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.14Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand and deposits at call with
banks, and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.15Share capital and shares held for the Share

Option Scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

The consideration paid by Share Scheme Trust (see Note 16)
for acquiring the Company’s shares, including any directly
attributable incremental cost, is presented as “Shares held for
the Share Option Scheme” and the amount is deducted from
total equity.

When Share Scheme Trust transfers the Company’s shares to
the awardees upon vesting, the related costs of the awarded
shares vested are credited to “Shares held for the Share
Option Scheme”, with a corresponding adjustment made to
“Share premium”.

2.16 Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities
if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred
tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company’s
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in
tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
in the consolidated financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(c)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and an associate, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries only to the extent that it is probable the
temporary difference will reverse in the future and there
is sufficient taxable profit available against which the
temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

218 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group’s companies incorporated in the PRC
contribute based on certain percentage of the salaries of
the employees to a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan and other defined contribution social security plans
organised by relevant government authorities in the PRC
on a monthly basis. The government authorities undertake
to assume the retirement benefit obligations payable and
other social security payables to all existing and future
retired employees under these plans and the Group has
no further obligation beyond the contributions made.
Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
Assets of the plans are held and managed by government
authorities and are separate from those of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2 FESHBERHEE @

218 BEEA (45

218 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

Employee entitlements to sick and maternity leave are not
recognised until the time of leave.

2.19 Share-based payments

The Group operates the Share Option Scheme (as defined
in Note 16), which is an equity-settled shared based
compensation plan under which share awards are granted to
employees as part of their remuneration package.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the share-based awards is recognised as an
expense over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied,
and credited to share premium under equity. The total amount
to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of
the share-based awards granted:

- including any market performance conditions;

— excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and

- including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of share-based awards that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, with a corresponding adjustment to
equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Share-based payments (Continued)

If the terms of a share-based award are modified, at a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified. An additional expense is recognised for
any modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee and other qualifying participants, as measured

at the date of modification.

2.20 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
the provision of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s

activities and is recorded net of value-added tax.

The Group recognises revenue in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered. Depending the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, the services
may be rendered over time or at a point in time.

If contracts involve the sale of multiple services, the transaction
price will be allocated to each performance obligation based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. The services provided
by the Group under each contract are integrated and treated as
one performance obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
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2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.20 W AFERR ()
(a) Game publishing service revenue (a) HEREITARIFUA

The Group is a publisher of online games developed
by third party game developers or its own. The Group
licenses online games from game developers and earns
game publishing service revenue by making a localised
version of the licensed games and publishing them to
the game players through distribution platforms, include
major social networking websites (such as Facebook),
online application stores (such as Apple Inc.’s App
Store (“Apple App”) and Google Play installed in mobile
telecommunications devices), web-based and mobile
game portals in certain countries and regions (collectively
referred to as “Platforms”), including the Group’s websites.
The games licensed to the Group are operated under a
free-to-play model whereby game players can play the
games free of charge and are charged for the purchase of
Game Tokens or other virtual items via payment channels,
such as the various mobile carriers and third-party internet
payment systems (collectively referred to as “payment
channels”).

(i) Principal Agent Consideration
Third party developed games
Proceeds earned from selling Game Tokens and
other virtual items are shared between the Group
and game developers, with the amount paid to game
developers generally calculated based on face value
of Game Tokens or other virtual items determined by
game developers, after deducting certain deductible
fees, multiplied by a predetermined percentage for
each game. The deductible fees are predetermined
and negotiated game by game, including the fees
paid to the payment channels and the Platforms, as
well as the credit allowable for deduction for each
game.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
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2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.20 W ARERR ()
(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued) (a) BEELEITERISUA (%)
(i) Principal Agent Consideration (Continued) (i) ZHERE (5B)
Third party developed games (Continued) E=FREOER (&)
1) The Group acts as Agent 1) AEEEZARRE

With respect to the Group’s game licenses
arrangements entered into during the year
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
Group considered that the (i) game developers
are responsible for providing the game product
desired by the game players; (ii) the costs
incurred by the game developers to develop
the games are more than the licensing costs
and game localisations costs incurred by the
Group; (iii) game developers have the right to
determine the pricing of in-game virtual items
and the specification, modification or update of
the game proposed by the Group. The Group’s
responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and market promotion
service, and thus the Group views game
developers to be its customers and considers
itself as the agent of game developers in the
arrangements with game players. Accordingly,
the Group records the game publishing service
revenue from these licensed games, net of
amounts paid to game developers.

Games operated directly by the Group

Games operated directly by the Group are
in the form of self-operation on its own
websites and cooperation with Platforms,
which the Group is responsible for determining
Platforms and payment channels, hosting and
maintenance of game servers for game running,
providing customer service as well as marketing
activities. For games self-operated by the
Group, payment channels are responsible for
payment collections related to the games. For
games cooperated with Platforms, Platforms
are responsible for distribution, platform
maintenance, paying player authentication and
payment collections related to the games.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group
(Continued)

As the Group is responsible for identifying,
contracting with and maintaining the relationships
of Platforms and payment channels, commission
fees paid to Platforms and payment channels
are included in cost of revenues and presented
on a gross basis. The Group considers it is
the primary obligor to game developers for the
reasons identified above as it has been given
latitude by game developers in selecting Platform
and payment channels for its service to game
developers.

Different from the above analysis, for games
cooperated with Facebook if it had been
specified by game developers and Apple App,
the game developers are fully aware of Facebook
and Apple App’s roles and responsibilities.
The Group considered that Facebook, Apple
App and itself provide services to the game
developers together, as the Group does not have
the latitude in selecting and negotiation with
Facebook and Apple App and does not have the
primary responsibility to game developers for the
service provided by them, commission charges
by Facebook and Apple App are deducted from
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games subcontracted to Platforms

Certain games are subcontracted to Platforms
to operate directly. For such subcontracted
games, Platforms are responsible for
determining secondary Platforms and payment
channels, hosting and maintenance of game
servers for game running, providing customer
service as well as marketing activities. The
Group’s responsibilities are delivering games to
Platforms, and thus the Group views the game
developers to be its customers and considers
itself as the agent of game developers in the
arrangements with Platforms, as the Group
does not have the primary responsibility to
game developers for the service provided by
these Platforms. Accordingly, the Group records
revenue on a net basis, amounts paid to game
developers and revenue-sharing amounts paid
to Platforms or third party payment vendors are
deducted from revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

2)

The Group acts as Principal

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, there was a game license arrangement
under which the Group takes primary
responsibilities of further game development and
updates, game operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels, providing
customer services, hosting game servers, if
needed, and controlling pricing and game and
services specifications during the license period.
The Group bears the cost incurred to further
develop the game. Under this type of game
license arrangement, the Group considered itself
as a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly,
the Group records the online game revenue from
this third party licensed game on a gross basis.
Commission fees paid to Platforms and payment
channels and amortisation of license fees paid to
third party game developer are recorded as cost
of revenues.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Principal Agent Consideration (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(i)

2)

The Group acts as Principal (Continued)
Self-developed games

The Group sometimes enters into license
arrangements under which the Group takes
primary responsibilities of game development
and game operation, including determining
Platforms and payment channels, providing
customer services, hosting game servers, if
needed, and controlling pricing and game and
services specifications. The Group bears the
cost incurred to develop the games. Under
this type of agreements, the Group considers
itself the principal. Accordingly, the Group
records the online game revenues from these
games on a gross basis. Commission fees
paid to Platforms and payment channels and
amounts paid to licensor are recorded as cost
of revenue.

The Group self-develops mobile games.
Revenues derived from self-developed games
are recorded on a gross basis as the Group
acts as a principal to fulfil most obligations
related to the mobile game operation.
Commission fees paid to Platforms and
payment channels are recorded as cost of
revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition
Third party developed games

(ii)

1)

The Group acts as Agent

Games operated directly by the Group

For the purposes of determining when services
have been provided to the respective players,
the Group has determined the following:

— Consumable virtual items represent items
that are extinguished after consumption
in the form of fixed charges levied on
each round of games played. The paying
players will not continue to benefit from
the virtual items thereafter. Revenue is
recognised at a point in time (as a release
from contract liabilities) when the items
are consumed and the related services
are rendered.

— Durable virtual items represent items that
are accessible and beneficial to paying
players over an extended period of time.
Revenue is recognised ratably over the
average life of durable virtual items for
the applicable game, which the Group
makes best estimates to be average
playing period of paying players (“Player
Relationship Period”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(ii)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games operated directly by the Group
(Continued)

The Group estimates the Player Relationship
Period on a game-by-game basis and
re-assesses such periods semi-annually. If
there is insufficient data to determine the
Player Relationship Period, such as in the
case of a newly launched game, it estimates
the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group
or by third-party developers until the new game
establishes its own patterns and history. The
Group considers the games profile, target
audience, and its appeal to players of different
demographics groups in estimating the Player
Relationship Period.

If the Group does not have the ability to
differentiate revenue attributable to durable
virtual items from consumable virtual items for
a specific game, the Group recognises revenue
from both durable and consumable virtual
items for that game ratably over the Player
Relationship Period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Game publishing service revenue (Continued)
Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)
Third party developed games (Continued)

(ii)

1)

The Group acts as Agent (Continued)

Games subcontracted to Platforms

Revenue of games subcontracted to Platforms
are recognised ratably over the Player
Relationship Period, for (i) the Group has a
continuous obligation to game developers to
coordinate Platforms for providing service to
game players, and (ii) the Group does not
have the ability to differentiate revenue from
games subcontracted to Platforms attributable
to durable virtual items from consumable virtual
items for a specific game.

The Group acts as Principal

Revenue of third party developed games when
the Group acts as a Principal are recognised
ratably over the Player Relationship Period
or as the durable virtual items are consumed,
which is similar to the policy of third party
developed games operated directly by the
Group when the Group acts as an Agent
mentioned above.

Self-developed games

Revenue of self-developed games are recognised
ratably over the Player Relationship Period or as the
durable virtual items are consumed, which is similar
to the policy of third party developed games when the
Group acts as a Principal mentioned above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Licensing revenue

The Group authorises third parties to operate its online
games. The Group receives additional up-front license
fees from certain third-party licensee operators who
are entitled to an exclusive right to operate the Group’s
games in specified geographic areas. The revenue from
licensing agreements is recognised when the content has
been delivered and the Group has no further obligations
when the third-party licensee operators are customers
of the Group. Depending on the terms of the respective
agreements, revenue is recognised either at a point in
time that upfront upon the beginning of the licensing
agreement to the extent of the fixed and non-refundable
amount received upfront or ratably over the license
period under which the Group need to provide consistent
services.

Server rental revenue

Server rental revenue is derived principally from server
rental arrangements. The Group enters into server rental
arrangements with third parties to allow them to use the
servers rented by the Group over a particular period of
time. The Group recognises revenues ratably over the
term of the lease.

Advertising revenue

The Group provides advertising placement for a specified
period on the interface of online games. The Group
recognises revenue ratably over the period during which
the advertising services are provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.20 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(e) Contract liabilities and contract costs

For game publishing service revenues, contract liabilities
primarily consist of royalty fees received in advance from
customers, and the unamortised revenue from sales of
Game Tokens and virtual items for web-based games and
mobile games, where there is still an implied obligation
to be provided by the Group and will be recognised as
revenue when all of the revenue recognition criteria are
met. For licensing revenue, contract liabilities represent
the unamortised balance of the initial license fee paid by
licensees where there is still an implied obligation to be
provided by the Group and will be recognised as revenue
when all of the revenue recognition criteria are met.

Contract costs are mainly related to contract acquisition
costs, which primarily consist of unamortised commission
costs charged by distribution platforms. The Group
recognises contract costs in relation to commission
charged by distribution platforms, which meet contract
acquisition cost criteria as an incremental cost of
acquiring a customer contract. They are capitalised
as contract acquisition costs and amortised over
their respective Player Relationship Periods, which is
consistent with the pattern of recognition of the associated
revenue.

2.21 Interest income

Interest income mainly represents interest income from bank
deposits and is recognised using effective interest method.

2.22 Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are
classified as operating leases (Note 30). Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from
the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

2.23Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or directors, where

appropriate.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk and interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
strategy seeks to minimise the potential adverse effects on the

financial performance of the Group.

Risk management is carried out by the senior management of

the Group and approved by the Board of Directors.

(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”)
and Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investment
in foreign operations. The finance department of the
Group is responsible for monitoring and managing
the net position in each foreign currency. The Group
currently does not hedge transactions undertaken in
foreign currencies but manages its exposure through
constant monitoring to limit as much as possible the

amount of its foreign currencies exposures.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

3 MREBER @

3.1 BEAEKREE @)

(a) Market risk (Continued) (a) TZER (&)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) SMEREE (B)

The Group has certain investments in foreign AEBBHETREBINERD

operations particularly in the PRC and Hong Kong, "E BIAERPBEEE

whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency B REEBNFEESR

translation risk. Currency exposure arising from SNEE IR B R B o ANEE K E

the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations INEEFEENMELENEY

considered not material therefore no separated RERERAETER Bt

sensitive analysis is included. mEABLEREDT -

For the year ended December 31, 2018, if USD had HE_Z-NF+_A=+

weakened/strengthened by 5% against RMB with all —HBLEFE WMETLAR

other variables held constant, post-tax profit for the M E  FHES% M AT A E A

year would have been approximately USD37,000 BEEBTE  BFAKRT

(2017: USD28,000) higher/lower, respectively, mainly BEFED B, R A

as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on 37,000k T (=T — 4 ¢

translation of RMB-denominated receivables and 28,0003 7T) * EBRAHNK

payables. HARBFHENEKHRIE R
BT RRIBEE £ WIBE 3 U ss
fE18 o

The cash and cash equivalents, receivables and AEENEBERBNES R

payables of the Group’s Hong Kong entities are ReEEY - BWHKERE

denominated in HKD, which is pegged against USD, NFRIBAEITEE - MAT

and are not therefore subject to significant foreign BIETHE - Bt mAR

currency risk. BBARINERBR ©

(i) Interest rate risk (i) FFEE R
Other than interest-bearing bank deposits, the Group BRat BRITHERIN KEE

has no other significant interest-bearing assets. The
directors of the Company do not anticipate there
is any significant impact to interest-bearing assets
resulted from the changes in interest rates, because
the interest rates of bank balances are not expected
to change significantly.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Market risk (Continued)
(iii) ~ Price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity securities price
risk arises from investments held by the Group and
classified in the balance sheet as at FVOCI (Note
8). The investments are made either for strategic
purpose or for the purpose of achieving investment
yield. Each investment is managed by senior
management on a case by case basis.

Sensitivity analysis is performed by management
to assess the exposure of the Group’s financial
results to equity price risk of financial assets at
FVOCI. If equity prices of the respective instruments
held by the Group had been 5% higher/lower as
at December 31, 2018, the other comprehensive
income would have been approximately USD134,000
higher/lower. As at December 31, 2017, the Group
had no financial assets at FVOCI.

Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash
and bank deposits, trade and other receivables.

(i)

Risk management

The carrying amounts of each class of the above
financial assets represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.
To manage this risk arising from cash and bank
deposits, the Group only transacts with reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions in the PRC and Hong Kong.
There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions.

Individual balances of trade receivables exceeding
10% of the Group’s total trade receivables as at
December 31, 2018 accounted for approximately
54% (2017: 55%) of the Group’s total trade
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk management (Continued)

Trade receivables and certain other receivables at
the end of each reporting period were due from the
Platforms and payment channels in cooperation
with the Group. If the strategic relationship with
the Platforms and payment channels is terminated
or scaled-back; or if the Platforms and payment
channels alter the co-operative arrangements; or if
they experience financial difficulties in paying the
Group, the Group’s game development receivables
might be adversely affected in terms of recoverability.
To manage this risk, the Group maintains frequent
communications with the Platforms and payment
channels to ensure the effective credit control. In view
of the history of cooperation with the Platforms and
payment channels and the sound collection history
of receivables due from them, the directors of the
Company believe that the credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding trade receivable balances due
from the Platforms and payment channels is low.

For other receivables not due from payment
channels, management makes periodic collective
assessments as well as individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on
historical settlement records and past experience.
The directors of the Company believe that there
is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding balance of other receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has one type of financial asset that is
subject to the expected credit loss model:

- trade receivables for royalty fee, license fee,
server rental, advertising, etc.

While cash and bank deposits are also subject to the
impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables, which is calculated using a provision
matrix where a fixed provision rate applies depending
on the shared credit risk characteristics of the trade
receivables.

In assessing the shared credit risk characteristics of
the trade receivables, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBERER W

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BEAEKREE @)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EERR (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) (i) =EEEHE (&)
Trade receivables (Continued) B 5 EWGRTE (5&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at December R EE RZZT—-N\F+
31, 2018 (on adoption of IFRS 9) was determined as ZRA=+—8 (REMNER
follows for trade receivables: B ELRERE) BHES
JE R IR TE DA TS B B 1R
1#
December 31, 2018 Category 1*  Category 2*  Category 3*  Category 4* Total
“E-\f+ZA=t-H -8 -t £=8 EmE @t
Expected loss rate BHEBRX 5% 30% 50% 100%
Loss allowance FiRRE 146,833 405,270 13,072 1,070,401 1,635,576
* The Group’s loss allowance categories of trade * AEEESERRENE
receivables are as follows: BREERINT
Category 1 — Highest grade, lowest credit risk E—H-K5&H %E
BB
Category 2 — Medium grade, low credit risk FoE-PREKR - EE
=0
Category 3 — Poor standing, high credit risk EZHE-ERAN =2EE
[ B
Category 4 — High likelihood of default, very high EIE - SENTREN -
credit risk FERNEERR
The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach AEBFERABEBRYEREE
to measuring expected credit losses which uses BIB9S ML 0% » AT 2
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade TEHEEBE EAmE
receivables. This resulted in no change of the loss B 5 fE WOk TE R & B 7E A
allowance on January 1, 2018 for trade receivables. EEiE G o WA EER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)
(ii)  Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)
The closing loss allowances for trade receivables as
at December 31, 2018 reconcile to the opening loss
allowances as follows:

EERER &
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(b) EERRE (8
(i) =EEEHE (&)
Z 5 el IE (8)
RZE—N\F+ZA=+—
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Trade receivables

g 5 EWFIE
2018 2017
—g-NE —T %
uUsD (U]
E ET
Opening loss allowance as at January 1 — A —A—BHEYIEIE
calculated under IAS 39 BiE - REEERgE
HEREI A E 1,698,689 1,358,953
Amounts restated through opening BRFVRERBFET
retained earnings B &8 - -
Opening loss allowance as at January 1 — Mm—A—B8FYEE
calculated under IFRS 9 B — BBRERG %
WEEAEIRETE 1,698,689 1,358,953
Receivables written off during the year FRE S A] Y [E i
as uncollectible B FE U 8 (30,000) -
(Reversal of)/provision for trade receivables &5 EUKE (B#EEE),~
B (33,113) 339,736
Closing loss allowance as at December 31 R+ -A=+—HAKERX
— calculated under IFRS 9 EERE — REREER B
WMEEREIFFE 1,635,576 1,698,689

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented
as net impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Previous accounting policy for impairment of trade
receivables

In the prior year, the Group assessed at the end of
each reporting period whether there was objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial
assets was impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets was impaired and impairment losses
were incurred only if there was objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
“loss event”) and that loss event (or events) had
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that could
be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment included indications that
the debtors or a group of debtors was experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or late
payments (more than 30 to 120 days overdue), the
probability that they would enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation, and where observable data
indicated that there was a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in
arrears or economic conditions that correlated with
defaults.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s finance department maintains
flexibility in funding by maintaining adequate cash and
cash equivalents.

The table below analyses the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

3 MREBER @

3.1 MBEAEKREE @)

(c) RBEZRER
ARBEERKENORERAS
U RENSEEES DT
U - AREOHHBEBREEN
MRS RASSEY WA
B -

TRENFEEHEANIHROR
ERHEARE 0 7 AR SR BIR AR RE 2 HA AR Y
NIETESRAE - RAWE
MEBR/EMNAURADRE -

Between Between

Less than 1 year and 2 year and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
DM 15225 2F E54F #BEt
(UR]] uUsD UsSD uUsSbD
EH EP EH EP
At December 31, 2018 RZE—N\EFE
+=B=+-—8H
Trade and other payables and & 5 & H i & {5 ZUE A
accruals (excluding salary EETER (TeE
and staff welfare payables E#He kB TEF
and taxes payable) K EHTIE) 3,837,631 350,284 459,022 4,646,937
At December 31, 2017 RZE—+tF
+=BA=+—8H
Trade and other payables and & 5 K& E b & FRIEF
accruals (excluding salary B TER (e
and staff welfare payables ENEHeREIRH
and taxes payable) M ESFIE) 6,938,350 505,532 325,415 7,769,297
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBERER W

3.2 Capital management 3.2 EAEE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to AEEEBEANBIRRREARE@mE

safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part
of this review, the directors of the Company consider the cost
of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares
or sell assets to reduce debt. In the opinion of the directors of
the Company, the Group’s capital risk is low.

3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group’s financial instruments are carried at fair value
as at balance sheet dates, by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as
follows:

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from
prices) (level 2).

. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBERER W

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 33 AFEME @
No asset instruments carried in level 2 or level 3 for the year HE-ZT-\F+ZA=+—HBIEF
ended December 31, 2018 and no asset instruments carried in B WEEF-_NUE=NFEEEET
level 1 to level 3 for the year ended December 31, 2017. The A mEEE-E—+tF+=-A=+—H
following table presents the Group’s financial instruments that EFE UEBEETARFE—RESESSE
are measured at fair value using level 1 inputs: E=R - TRITAEEBFERE —RE

NERAHEFENERTA :

As at December 31, 2018
R-ZZE-NE+=ZA=+—H

usbD
E0
Financial assets SRVEE
— Financial assets at FVOCI (Note 8) —BAFEFEAEHE
B AHMEEKED
TREE (H:E8) 2,670,518
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets RERTHEEENERTANATED
is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet dates. EREEBNTISMEH - WRERE
A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and BREHAXZIHT RHE - £48
regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry T 1TEEE - TERE  EEHA
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices BB MZEFEBRRERZATFTRIER
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions REMEENTISERS « AIT5HER
on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for BB RASEMBAENSRIEERA
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. MTIZREDNEZEMEAE - ZET A
These instruments are included in level 1. FTAE—RA o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBERER W

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

3.3 A EME &)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market is determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable
market data where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
for evaluating the fair value of a financial instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

. Dealer quotes for similar instruments;
. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the
present value of the estimated future cash flows based on

observable yield curves; and

. Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis,
are used to determine fair value for financial instruments.

WIHREEMSGEEN SR TANRF
ENRBGBEEEE - ZSHEEEE
ERABENTSEE (E) REA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

41 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Estimates of the Player Relationship Period in the
Group’s game development
As described in Note 2.20, the Group recognises
revenue from durable virtual items ratably over the
Player Relationship Period. The determination of Player
Relationship Period in each game is based on the
Group’s best estimate that takes into account all known
and relevant information at the time of assessment. Such
estimates are subject to re-evaluation on a semi-annual
basis. Any adjustments arising from changes in the Player
Relationship Period as a result of new information will be
accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting
estimate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Impairment of trade receivables is made based on an
assessment of expected credit loss of trade receivables.
The identification of expected credit loss requires
management’s judgement and estimates. Provision is
made based on the Group’s expected credit loss model.
Where the actual outcome or further expectation is
different from the original estimate, such differences
will impact the carrying value of the receivables, and
the amount of doubtful debt expenses or write-back
of provision for trade receivable in the period in which
such estimate has been changed. Based on the Group’s
assessment on the expected credit loss of trade
receivables, impairment provision of USD1,635,576 was
made as at December 31, 2018 (2017: USD1,698,689).

Current and deferred income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that were initially recorded, such
differences will impact the current and deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Recognition of share-based payments

As mentioned in Note 18, the Group has granted share
options to its directors and employees. The Company
has used the Binomial option-pricing model to determine
the total fair value of the options granted, which is to be
expensed over the vesting period. Significant estimate
on assumptions, such as risk-free interest rate, expected
volatility and dividend yield, is required to be made by the
Company in applying the Binomial option-pricing model.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

5

WA 7 EER

(a) RAFFEHNHBAz2DHF

Year ended December 31,

BEt-ZA=t—-HLEE

2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—t5
usbD UsD
ES =7
Online game revenue PER B EA 21,453,881 28,265,058
Licensing revenue LSRN 2,693,224 300,398
Server rental revenue AREAERA 4,860 39,540
Advertising revenue EEWA 9,384 15,613
24,161,349 28,620,609

Online game revenue R BERBA
Mobile games B E e 11,253,850 17,740,603
Web-based games FkeREy 10,200,031 10,524,455
21,453,881 28,265,058

Timing of revenue recognition, by category:

AR RIE D 2 WATERR T

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2018 2017

—E-NF —B—t%

uUsbD uUsD

EH ET

At a point in time SRR 2 2,600,000 -
Over time BERS B & 21,561,349 28,620,609
24,161,349 28,620,609
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

5 WARDIBEER =)

(a) REAFEFEHNHNRAZTDHF

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts

with customers (Continued)

For management purpose, the executive directors of the
Company consider that the Group generates revenue primarily
from the provision of game services. The executive directors of
the Company review the operating results of the business as
one segment to make strategic decisions about resources to be
allocated. Therefore, the executive directors of the Company
consider that there is only one segment of the Group.

The Group has a large number of game players, no individual
game players generate revenue which exceeded 10% or more
of the Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018
(2017: same).

The revenue generated from top five largest revenue collection
platforms, accounted for 60% (2017: 62%) of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018.

I ADE LR A4 R B R A F)(Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing
Network Technology Co., Ltd.), which is a fellow subsidiary
of 7Road International Group Limited, a company that
holds a 15.5% shareholding equity interest of the Company.
7Road International Group Limited and its fellow subsidiaries
(collectively, “7TRoad”) were the Group’s game licensor. The
revenue generated from the games licensed by 7Road,
accounted for 16% (2017: 21%) of the Group’s revenue for the
year ended December 31, 2018.

wYIE R B R A F)(Shenzhen Haituo Shidai Network
Technology Co., Ltd., “Shenzhen Haituo”) were the Group’s
game licensor. The revenue generated form the games
licensed by Shenzhen Haituo accounted for 18% (2017:6%) of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Revenue from games licensed by a single company or group
which exceeded 10% totally accounted for 34% (2017:21%) of
the Group’s revenue for the year ended December, 2018.

Besides that, no revenue from games licensed by a single
company or group exceeded 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: same).

(&)
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REEBEAHEREANEETR B2
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AEI10% KA F (ZE—+4F - 48R) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDSIEE o)

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (@) REEFEFEHNHNKBAZDIF
with customers (Continued) (458)
Non-current assets other than financial instruments and ZERE O >HERBEE (EIAN
deferred income tax assets, by country: BEEFTSTREERIN) ¢

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
usD usD
ES I
BVI REBEZES 5,165,823 -
The PRC ey 3,166,898 1,042,748
Hong Kong 't 1,012,850 499,532
Other locations H b in 2h 60,813 62,043
9,406,384 1,604,323
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WARDSIEE o)

(Continued)

(b) Assets and liabilities related to contracts (b) EEFEHNERANEERE
with customers i
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities REBEHERATEEFSNEMANE
related to contracts with customers: ERAE:

As at December 31,

R+=—BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
uUsbD UsSD
ES ET
Contract liabilities — unamortised EHBE - HERARBEER R
revenue from sales of Game Tokens FHIERL A BB E Y
and virtual items for web-based Fr 15 80 R 88 S5
games and mobile games 3,041,248 3,378,368
Contract liabilities- royalty fees ABHBEE - BRWEBAMRER
received in advance 382,672 112,833
Contract liabilities — unamortised EHBE - VFHUERD
balance of the initial license fee REESH S 382,379 578,199
Total current contract liabilities AEE B ERE 3,806,299 4,069,400
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

6 WX BERRE

Office Leasehold
equipment Computers improvements Total
WAERE Bl HEWERES st
usD usD usD usD
En EYH EPH EpH
Year ended December 31, 2018 BE-2-N\&¥
tTZA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 32,231 106,344 132,017 270,592
Additions = 25,668 106,568 2,162,176 2,294,412
Depreciation charge (Note a) FEER (fizta) (12,164) (63,299) (294,900) (370,363)
Currency translation differences EMmE R (2,256) (7,237) (78,020) (87,513)
Closing net book amount EREEZRE 43,479 142,376 1,921,273 2,107,128
At December 31, 2018 R-ZB-NE+ZA=+—-H
Cost AR 110,920 400,101 2,080,394 2,591,415
Accumulated depreciation 2EtiTE (67,441) (257,725) (159,121) (484,287)
Net book amount REFE 43,479 142,376 1,921,273 2,107,128
Year ended December 31, 2017 BE-Z—+t&
+tZA=+—HLEE

Opening net book amount FHREFE 54,345 80,873 266,289 401,507
Additions NE 1,759 57,684 - 59,443
Depreciation charge (Note a) WEER (Mita) (26,648) (38,327) (146,953) (211,928)
Currency translation differences EXBEEE 2,775 6,114 12,681 21,570
Closing net book amount FREEEFE 32,231 106,344 132,017 270,592
At December 31, 2017 R=-B—+H&+=-H=+—H
Cost P& 91,335 314,621 452,899 858,855
Accumulated depreciation RitE (59,104) (208,277) (320,882) (588,263)
Net book amount RHERE 32,231 106,344 132,017 270,592

(a) Depreciation charges were charged to administrative expenses
during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS BREEE
Computer
Licenses software Total
FAfE e E s et
usb usbD uUsD
EH Ep Epe
Year ended December 31, 2018 BE-ZE—-N\&
+—HA=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 449,436 11,665 461,101
Additions NE 2,339,974 13,864 2,353,838
Amortisation (Note a) iy (Mita) (494,958) (2,699) (497,657)
Currency translation differences ERMmE - (958) (958)
Closing net book amount FEREEZEE 2,294,452 21,872 2,316,324
At December 31, 2018 R=B-NF+=A=+—H
Cost B AR 3,124,848 43,904 3,168,752
Accumulated amortisation e 3 (830,396) (22,032) (852,428)
Net book amount IREFE 2,294,452 21,872 2,316,324
Year ended December 31, 2017 BE—-Z—+t%
+ZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 56,255 12,493 68,748
Additions NE 523,000 - 523,000
Amortisation (Note a) By (Msa) (129,819) (2,434) (132,253)
Currency translation differences EpmE s - 1,606 1,606
Closing net book amount FAREREEE 449,436 11,665 461,101
At December 31, 2017 R-ZB—+tF+=A=+—H
Cost AN 2,324,875 30,998 2,355,873
Accumulated amortisation Rt (1,875,439) (19,333) (1,894,772)
Net book amount IREEE 449,436 11,665 461,101
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOt ERRME (F)
7 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 7 BREEE @
(a) Amortisation charges were expensed in the following categories (a) HHEERARAHZEWIRANUTE
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income: RIS 88 -
Year ended December 31,
BE+t-A=1+—HLEE
2018 2017
—=2-N\F T —+F
usb USD
Ep e
Cost of revenue BN 418,778 129,819
As a reduction to revenue EBIRARFIR 76,180 -
Administrative expenses TR 2,699 2,434
497,657 132,253

8 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 8 AT EEBH®HAH

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EERENEREE
INCOME
Classification of financial assets at FVOCI BEAFEFTEEHSETT AHM
3¢ =t >
THKRENEREEZSE
Financial assets at FVOCI comprise: RATEFZEEEEZHT AELMEZAWENS
MEEBRE
(i) Equity securities which are not held for trading, and which the (i) WIHFHIEEEBAEEE R VIR ERR
Group has irrevocably elected at initial recognition to recognise AT HH [0 4 38 1 T UL AR B A i R O RR AR
in this category. These are strategic investments and the Group FH e WEBEHTDREIERE - MAK
considers this classification to be more relevant. BRI ERE R#EY) -
(i) Debt securities where the contractual cash flows are solely (i) FROREARELERATELRFENES
principal and interest and the objective of the Group’s business BE - AN EE A FEEE TS B UER
model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows GRHeRERNESREEMENR -

and selling financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

8 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (Continued)

Equity investments at FVOCI

Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following investment:

8 BAFEFERHSHTAH
EEKENEREE @

REAFEFEEHESHT AR
b2 ERFENREIRE

REATESEAHEBI AL 2 AR
AR EBIEUTRE

As at December 31,

R+=A=+-—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
usbD uUsD
E EL
Non-current assets FREBEE
Listed securities LTS
FingerTango Inc. (Note a) FERUiBIER AR AT (MiTa) 2,670,518 -

(a) During the year ended December 31, 2018, USD2,559,607
was invested by the Group to acquire approximately 0.6%
of common stocks of FingerTango Inc., a company listed in
Hong Kong which is principally engaged in the development,

operation and publishing mobile game business in the PRC.

The following table presents the changes in financial assets at
FVOCI:

RBE-_ZE-NFT_A=+t—HLHF
€ - AR5 B R #E2,559,607% T W 5
KRB AR R FAI0.6%H) BB
FZRBEFTELT  TEETEERM
I REBERBETTRERE -

(a)

TREFIRATEIEA LS

tEERENEREE 2E

HETAE

As at December 31,

R+=A=+—8

2018 2017

—B2-N\EF —E—tF

usbD USD

E3 ET

As at January 1 n—H—H — -

Addition NE 2,559,607 -

Gain recognised in other comprehensive income 7 & th 2 U a5 R A U 25 110,911 -

As at December 31 R+—A=+—H 2,670,518 -
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group did not REBE-ZT—NF+-A=T—HILF

have any investment in debt securities. B AEEVETMESESFKLE -

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORIES 9 ZERIEIsHERmIA

As at December 31,

R+=—B=+—~H
2018 2017
—=2-N\F T —+tF
usb USD
Ep x5
Financial assets* SREE"
Financial assets at amortised cost REENATENSREE
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 R EMERFHIE
(excluding prepayments and deposits) (TEFEENRRES) 16,644,000 16,255,433
— Cash and cash equivalents - BekREFED 32,598,242 43,997,614
49,242,242 60,253,047
Financial asset at FVOCI BAFEFEBEZESHTA
EmrmianemiE
— Investment in equity securities — RRARBHFIEE 2,670,518 -
Financial liabilities SRaE
Liabilities at amortised cost REERATENAE
— Trade and other payables and accruals — B 5 MEAMEAKIEM
(excluding salary and staff welfare ErrER CreEEN
payables and taxes payable) HekETIENKE
JEFBIIR) 4,646,937 7,769,297
* See Note 2.1.1 for details about the impact from changes in accounting * BT RESNTE  FL2EME2.1.1 -
policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B EmRMEE ()

10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 10 RIBARKIKRE
Particulars of the subsidiaries of the Group as at December 31, AEEBR-_Z—N\FE+_A=+—HHHER
2018 are set out below: AIFFBOT ¢

Issued and Equity interest
Place and date of paid-in capital/ held as at

incorporation/ registered  December 31,  Principal activities

Company Name establishment capital 2018 and 2017  and place of operation

RZZ-NER
BRTR ZE-tF
B#&Ex,/ +-A=1-H

DAER BMAY /KLt HRAS HMEL BENKRE IZTEBRCEHY

Directly owned

HEHE
Digital Hollywood International Limited BVI/ usD100 100%  Investment holding/BVI
(“Hollywood BVI") November 25, 2014
Digital Hollywood International Limited REERES/ 100%7T 100% REER ZBELES
([ Hollywood BVI]) “Z-MET-AZTEA

PCL BVI/ UsD50,000 100%  Operation of web-based and mobile

January 25, 2011 games/Global markets, mainly in
North American market

PCL ERRAES/ 50,000 T 100% EEWMERTHEE/ 2HT5 -
—Z-—%-JCZ+IA FEELETS

Angame BVI/ UsD100 100%  Operation of mobile games/mainly in
July 5, 2005 Vietnam and Malaysia

Angame EERAES/ 100%7T 100% EEFEEH/TEEEBRERED
—TZhE+ALA

Indirectly owned

BEEE

Hollywood HK Hong Kong/ HKD1 100%  Operation of online games/mainly in
December 5, 2014 Hong Kong and Taiwan

Hollywood HK BE/ 187 100% EE@GBER TEEEARAE
“Z-NmE+-ARA

N2PG Hong Kong/ HKD10,000 100%  Operation of web-based game overseas/
March 29, 2011 mainly in North American market

N2PG EE/ 10,0007 7T 100% EESEEH 8 TBEELETS
ZZ-—5=AZTAR

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR

N ke N
%/—o



‘—W

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

10 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place and date of
incorporation/

Issued and Equity interest

paid-in capital/
registered

held as at

December 31,

10 AKBRARMNKRE &

Principal activities

Company Name establishment capital 2018 and 2017  and place of operation
RIZ-NER
ERITR ZE-tF
E4Ex,/ +-A=t-8
NEER ERARY RSB ER AL dMEX BRNRE IEEBREEHE
Guangzhou You Lai The PRC/ USD2,000,000 100%  Technical support services/the PRC
May 13, 2015
Bk g 2,000,000%7 100%  RATERS/ HE
—“Z2-nfRA+=A
Rl EESMEARAH (Beijing You Tang  The PRC/ RMB2,000,000 100%  Investment holding/the PRC
Information Technology Company Limited, July 17, 2015
“Beijing You Tang”)
ITRBEZESHEERAG ([LREZ]) HE/ AK#2,000,0007C 100% REER/ HE
“Z-RFEATEA
Zhang Ying Kong The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Development of mobile games/the PRC
March 6, 2013
s wE/ AE#1,000,0007 100% FZFHEE/+
“Z-=5=RAKH
Guangzhou Suiyu Niandai The PRC/ RMB1,270,000 100%  Marketing and technical support service/
June 12, 2010 the PRC
BMRAFR M/ AE¥1,270,00070 100%  THEHEREITERSE /&
ZZ-TERATZA
SR HEERHEBR AR (Beiiing YouLlai  The PRC/ RMB1,000,000 100%  Investment holding/the PRC
Information Technology Company Limited, November 14, 2014
“Beijing You Lai")
I RERERRBFERAT (HERER]) M/ AK1,000,0007 100% REZR/ HE
ZZ-ME+-ATEA
Notes: The Company has set up a structured entity (“Share Scheme Trust”) M ARARERI —REBEERE ([RHETEIE

solely for the purpose of administering and holding the Company’s
shares for the Share Option Scheme (Note 16), the Company has
the power to direct the relevant activities of Share Scheme Trust and
it has the ability to use its power over Share Scheme Trust to affect
its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets and liabilities of Share
Scheme Trust are included in the Group’s balance sheet and the
shares it held are presented as a deduction in equity as shares held
for the Share Option Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

11 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 11 REEERARNIRE
The amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet are as RAEHEEABRRABRNSENT -
follows:

As at December 31,

R+=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
usbD uUsD
E Ep
Associate iRl 640,233 681,625
The loss recognised in the consolidated REHEERERNERD
statement of comprehensive income is BRI
as follows:

Associate NG| 3,355 47,274
Set out below are the details of the associate of the Group. The AT EPIA LB E QA RIHER o TNXFT5IEE
associate as listed below has share capital consisting solely of KON TS A S B I SRR - AR A
registered capital, which are held directly by the Group. HAEBEEES -

Details of investment in an associate as at December 31, 2018 and 5’\ E-NERFT—+F+_A=+—HR
2017: H“%%’Aia’mémﬁ\ﬁ °
Place of business/country % of ownership ~ Nature of the ~ Measurement

Name of entity of incorporation interest relationship method

EEEH Y BRAIER FERERRE D (%) BEME HEFE

HEEERBAERAT (Shanghai Jiying Technology The PRC

Company Limited, “Shanghai Jiying”) 20 (i) and (ii) Equity

FREERRERAT ([ HEEE]) e 20 (i) B (i) B

(i) The Group has designated a member in the Board of Directors (i) AEBEREEGRER—EKE  FX
which enables the Group to exercise significant influence SENER2HEHEE RERKBETE
in Shanghai Jiying through the participation in operational, REBEBITEEAZE N - Bt -
investing and financing actions. Consequently, Shanghai Jiying BEELIE—REBESATIALE -
has been accounted for as an associate.
Shanghai Jiying is a private company engaged in game FEEBER—ZRUEEHEENTLER
operation and there is no quoted market price available for its Al EREWETS®E -
equity.

(i) There were no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s (i) HEY N AEBREE QNSNS
interest in the associate. REME o

HEROEBHEEFRAT —T—N\FFH @

w
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

11 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

Summarised financial
associate

Set out below is the summarised financial

information of the

information of the

associate which is accounted for using the equity method.

11 REEE DN TNIRE &)

BEQRANMBERRAE

VAT 8 51 B
Ty g

/NG
FEHERW -

RAMMTBHREREE - BREHR

Shanghai Jiying

LEEE

As at December As at December

31, 2018 31, 2017

R=ZZE—-N\F =

+=ZA=+-8 +=-—A=+—H

uUsbD UsD

EPH e

Current assets MENEE 961,760 1,135,083
Non-current assets ERBEE 194,377 68,392
Current liabilities mEAE (274,971) (252,949)
Net assets BEE 881,166 950,526

Summarised statement of comprehensive 2HKNERBE
income
Shanghai Jiying
FBERE

Year ended Year ended

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017

BE-ZE-N\F #HE_ZT—tF

+=A=+—-8 +ZA=1+—H

LEFE HFE

uUsbD UsD

EYH e

Revenue WA 472,522 264,516
Cost of sales SHERA (105,263) (62,662)
Administrative expenses THRAX (359,661) (438,253)
Other income H AU A 2,591 -
Other loss HbEE (26,848) -
Interest income FBUA - 248
Interest expense F B (116) (219)
Loss for the year FRER (16,775) (236,370)
Other comprehensive income Hfth 2 [ W8 - -
Total comprehensive loss ZHEEELE (16,775) (236,370)

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EOtE SRR M (])

11 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 11 REEE DN TNIRE &)
Summarised statement of comprehensive PHKRERBE @)
income (Continued)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the NEER KRB SRR EREEINNEEE
financial statements of the associate (and not the Group’s share (MIEAREBE(NEE) - WE AN S E 1S
of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies RElZ BN HREEELAE -

between the Group and the associate.

Reconciliation of summarised historical BB EERBEYR

financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to 25 I EERBEENEE A TIRENER
the carrying amount of investment in the associate. EH R -

Summarised historical financial information BEHBERBE

Shanghai Jiying

LEER
Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2018 2017

WE-S-N\F BE-TLF
+=B=+-8 +-A=t-A

LFEE IEEFE
usbD uUsSD
EPH ET
Opening net assets January 1 FUNFEE(—A—H) 950,526 1,120,365
Loss for the year FREE (16,775) (236,370)
Currency translation differences EsmE R (52,585) 66,531
Closing net assets MRFEE 881,166 950,526
Interest in associate (20%) B A R H) R (20%) 176,233 190,105
Goodwill [EES
— Initial amount — ta &R 464,000 491,520
— Impairment — BE - -
Carrying value BREE 640,233 681,625

EREDEEERAT —T— \GER @
Q—(/‘W
%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFE R M (&)
12 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 12 IEFEFRER
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as BIEFERMEAERBENSTAOT
follows:
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—8
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —T—+F
usbD USD
EY ET
Deferred income tax assets: EEFTSREE -
— to be recovered within 12 months — B 12{E A R e 173,875 239,452
Deferred income tax liabilities: BRIEEHAE :
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — AR E121E A & Y8 (21,339) -
— to be recovered within 12 months — 1218 A AL E (34,682) (43,573)
(56,021) (43,573)
Deferred tax assets — net FEERIBE EF5 117,854 195,879
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BB RME (&)

12 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 12 IEIEFREBR
Movement in deferred income tax assets without taking into EIEFEBHEEMNES (Tt KA —FHE A
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax RS IR

jurisdiction is as follows:

Contract
liabilities Provisions Total
EHEE B st
usbD usb usbD
EPH EPH E0
Year ended December 31, 2018 BE-ZE—-N\&
+TZA=+—-HLEE
At beginning of the year REW] 135,748 103,704 239,452
Charged to/(credited to) the income  #1fr 8 (5t A) WX
statement (60,858) 2,649 (58,209)
Currency translation differences ERBmE R (1,533) (5,835) (7,368)
At end of the year RER 73,357 100,518 173,875
Year ended December 31, 2017 BE-ZE—tF
TZA=+—-HLEE
At beginning of the year REW) 117,940 29,951 147,891
Credited to the income statement AR E R 14,955 69,783 84,738
Currency translation differences BE¥mE = 2,853 3,970 6,823
At end of the year REF 135,748 103,704 239,452

EREDHEEBR AT ZT—\FFER @
Q—(/‘W
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

12 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Movement in deferred income tax liabilities without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax

jurisdiction is as follows:

12 EEMER @)

BEFREHREBENEY (T KA —HB DA
R AR ALY T

Changes in
fair value of
financial assets

Contract costs at FVOCI Total
RAFENE
BEHEH#EHA
Hih 2 mE
HWERmEE
BHEE ZRFEES st
usbD uUsD usb
EH E E0
Year ended December 31,2018 HE-Z—N\F
+=ZA=+—-BLEFE
At beginning of the year REH (43,573) - (43,573)
Charged to other comprehensive R HE b & E UK
income - (21,339) (21,339)
Credited to the income statement  :f AUz & 8,303 - 8,303
Currency translation differences EB®hEER 588 - 588
At end of the year RER (34,682) (21,339) (56,021)
Year ended December 31, 2017 &HBE-Z—tF
+=-A=+—-HLEFE
At beginning of the year REH (27,362) - (27,362)
Charged to the income statement ~ RUzERNGE (15,180) - (15,180)
Currency translation differences B R (1,031) - (1,031)
At end of the year RER (43,573) - (43,573)

Deferred income tax liabilities of USD689,756 (2017: USD624,623)
as at December 31, 2018, have not been recognised for the
withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries. Such amounts
are permanently reinvested. Unremitted earnings totalled
USD13,795,125 (2017: USD12,492,466) as at December 31, 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFE R M (&)
13 TRADE RECEIVABLES 13 EZERFIE
As at December 31,
R+=—B=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F B
usbD USD
EY ET
Trade receivables (Note a) Z S W E (Hiika) 5,260,697 5,890,782
Less: allowance for impairment of B BB RBGRIERE R
trade receivables (Note (b)) (B &E(D)) (1,635,576) (1,698,689)
3,625,121 4,192,093
(a) Trade receivables are arising from the development and (a) BHEBFIBEBREBEEMEBORE
operation of online game business. The credit terms of trade R&EE - BTTFERE=ZFNFRBH
receivables granted to the Platforms and third party payment EENEBESREINAIBEZEEBES R A
vendors are usually zero to 120 days and zero to 30 days, TE120BRTE30H - REBRBLEHE
respectively. Aging analysis based on invoice date of the gross HEREZRBWRIBELHEZER A BN
trade receivables at the respective balance sheet dates is as BT ¢
follows:
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —tF
usbD uUsD
EH ET
0-30 days 0%30H 1,085,622 1,278,010
31-90 days 31£290H 1,106,756 1,757,240
91-180 days 91£180H 764,506 948,332
Over 180 days HBi®180H 2,303,813 1,907,200
5,260,697 5,890,782

EREDEEERAT —T— \GER @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

13 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) As at December 31, 2018, trade receivables of USD5,260,697
(2017: USD2,236,959) were impaired. Movements on the
Group’s provision for impairment of trade receivables are as

13 ESEWRAE »

(b)

R-_ZE—-N\F+-_HA=+—H BFE
I 37 785,260,697X( 0 (ZF — + F ¢
2,236,959 70) BRE - NEEME HE

follows: OB R ER RN BB T
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—8
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
usbD USD
EH ET
At beginning of the year REW) 1,698,689 1,358,953
(Reversal of)/provision for trade B S EWEIE (BERR) BE
receivables (33,113) 339,736
Receivables written off during the YE B AT UL [B] M 4F POl 54 1Y e U 5k IE
year as uncollectible (30,000) -
At end of the year RERXR 1,635,576 1,698,689

The provision and reversal of provision for impaired receivables
have been included in “administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and
the Group’s exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk can be found in Note 3.1.

(c) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables are
denominated in the following currencies:

(c)

EORE M E YR IR B B E
PAAMEEEERN TTHRAX] A
R o

BB RN FRRE RSB TE Y
MEERR - SNERR LRI XEROE
£t AT2RIMEES o

REBNE SRR REETIAT
FIEHEEHE -

As at December 31,

R+t=A=+-8

2018 2017

—8-N\F N

usD usb

57 %5

usD %5 3,735,911 4,325,432
RMB AR 1,519,674 1,481,180
HKD BT 5,112 84,170
5,260,697 5,890,782
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

A BRI BRI ()
13 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 13 ESZEKIE @)
(d) As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair value of trade d) RZZE—N\FER_ZFT—+F+-_A=+
receivables approximated their carrying amounts. —B - ESREHENATFEELERR
B -

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date AEBRRE AT HZAEERR
is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned " P EERERRIENREE - A8
above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. B EREE R RERER

14 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14 FE{R &R H L EWKIE

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—8
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—t5
uUsbD uUsD
E ET
Included in non-current assets FAAERBEE
Prepayment for intangible assets W EEBMNR 235,700 50,000
Prepayment for leasehold improvements THEMEREAMNK - 35,067
Prepayment for equity investments (Note a)  Bx A& T (Fista) 3,550,000 50,000
Prepayment for game development HE G SN 504,193 -
Deposits e 52,806 55,938
4,342,699 191,005
Included in current assets FARBEE
Receivables relating to payment channels AN REENEYIE (H3Eb)

(Note b) 12,864,097 11,930,540
Prepaid royalty fees AT RiEE 1,310,731 636,183
Prepaid advertising charges ENESER 51,307 38,649
Prepaid server rental expenses A RIARFEEER X 120,079 95,168
Deposits (to be recovered within 12 months) &% (#7128 A R4k E) 60,577 63,574
Others Efth 154,782 132,800

14,561,573 12,896,914
18,904,272 13,087,919

EREDHEEBR AT ZT—\FFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

14 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

(a)

Two prepayments for equity investments:

Prepayment of USD50,000 was for the right to equity purchase
of certain shares of a company engaged in game operation,
which is to be determined at a later stage.

On April 20, 2018, the Company made a prepayment to
the shares to be issued by Nouveau Capital Partners Corp.
(“Nouveau”) to the Company, which is a company established
with limited liability in accordance with the laws of BVI,
and it is principally engaged in investment holding, at a
total consideration of USD3,500,000. As at the date of this
report, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, Nouveau held
approximately 16.27% of the issued share capital in Bright
Idea Life Company Limited (78A 4 )& &5 B R A 7], “Bright
Idea Life”). Bright Idea Life is a company established with
limited liability in accordance with the laws of Taiwan district,
which is principally engaged in the provision of cultural and
art promotion services via multimedia, animation, games and
virtual reality technologies. The right to purchase of the shares
will be effective when the Investment Commission in Taiwan
approve this transaction.

Receivables relating to payment channels mainly represent
the balances in PayPal and Skrill (formerly Moneybookers), for
cash collection from game players for games operated on the
Group’s websites.
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(a)

(b)

RRIE IR AR B MRS 3K

BB -RUFEERZENARE TR
10 9 BSU#E B8 B #E # FB 1 5050,0003< 7T
TIR BRI RETE -

RZE-—N\NFHEA=Z+H AQF
FtNouveau Capital Partners Corp.
([Nouveau]) #§mAR 7 E1TH RN 1E
HIEAS 3R 42 & /3,500,000 7T °
Nouveau’ — R IR & R E & LA § &
BRUNERLAF TEREREE
e BEARSAMS HRESFHA
Nouveau$§ B E A £ & Ik H B R A A
(MMEAEE]) BETHRAL16.27% -
BAEER—RIRESERIERNIN
BRAF FTEREABZHER B
B BEERERRERITER UL RE
MHEERS - B2 EZ 8 SHE
B 5% BEROENGSEER -

FENREBENERRRBEBEZERN
PayPal X Skrill (5] fMoneybookers)
WEV SRR - TR AN B Ak 258 1) i
B m R R RN IR S



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFMBHRRME (F)
15 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 15 RERBEEEY
As at December 31,
R+=A=+-—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
usD usb
E e
Cash at bank RITHRS 32,598,242 43,997,614
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following ReERIRESEBYWIIATIEEE -
currencies:
As at December 31,
R+=A=+-—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
usD usb
E T
usD eV 3,153,443 2,959,158
RMB AR 1,583,614 595,684
HKD BT 26,353,280 39,226,042
EURO BT 1,507,905 1,216,730
32,598,242 43,997,614
The conversion of USD denominated balances into foreign DAETEHEN SRR E BINE K 15 3% LAYNEE
currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies SAENRITESRNIRSERTE - AE<FhE
denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are subject BT B BB R YN E & I35 B K 3R 7] -

to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

16 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD FOR

THE SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The total authorised share capital of the Company comprises
4,000,000,000 ordinary shares (2017: 4,000,000,000 ordinary
shares) with par value of USDO0.001 per share (2017: USDO0.001 per
share).

As at December 31, 2018, the total number of issued ordinary
shares of the Company was 2,000,000,000 shares (2017:
2,000,000,000 shares) which included 149,999,973 shares (2017:
149,999,973 shares) held under the share incentive scheme. They
have been fully paid up.

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital and
shares held for the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

16 RAR B BRETEFEHR

il

XA B B 48 % IR AN 8 $54,000,000,000%
LB (—F —+4F : 4,000,000,0000% & ;

B - MEKREER0.001ET (ZT—+4:
F0%0.001ZE7T) ©

RZZE—NF+_A=+—"H8 XARQRADZ%
77 & 3@ A% 48 $1 52,000,000,0000% (=& —+
4 :2,000,000,0000%) © B 35 8% D BB &
2|3 A 19149,999,973/ B (—F —+ 4 :
149,999,973/%) - :ZZEMR M BB BRI ©

BMELT

Shares held
Number of for the Share
shares in issue Share capital Option Scheme
BB RES &
ERITROEE &S BENRS
uUsD usD
EH E
(Note a)
(Mf7Ea)
At December 31, 2018 and 2017 RZ-Z—\F K
—T—tF+=ZA=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000,000 (150,000)

(a) According to the written resolutions of all the members of the
Company dated November 2, 2015 and capitalisation issue
dated November 24, 2017, an aggregate of 150,000,000
ordinary shares were authorised and reserved for the issuance
to the employees, directors of the Group and other persons
pursuant to the share incentive scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) adopted by the Company.

The Company has appointed Core Trust Company Limited
as the trustee to assist with the administration and vesting of
options granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme. On May
27, 2017, the Company allotted and issued shares to Epic City
Limited (“Share Scheme Trust”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Core Trust Company Limited, which are or will be used to
satisfy the options upon exercise. The shares held by Share
Scheme Trust are presented as a deduction in equity as shares
held for the Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Share Scheme
Trust has not transferred any ordinary shares of the Company
(December 31, 2017: nil) to the grantees vesting of the
awarded shares (Note 18).
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(a) REEHR-_ZT-—RF+-HA-BAR
FAE2BERNERRZRELAPRA-E
—tET-AZTEANERLET
& #£150,000,0000% & 3 i & % # &
R ARIE AR X B R A ) B A 22 B 5t &)
(MRSt S ) BT PAREMES
BERHEMAL

A X 7] B £ fECore Trust Company
Limited{E 52 LA LIBENE R R BRER
BEREFEEONERE R —
tFERAZ+T+H  KAAFMEpic City
Limited ([ #&{p 5t #I{55E] - Core Trust
Company Limitedth & & B A 7))
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

17 RESERVES

17 %

Share-based Currency
Share payment Statutory  translation Other
premium reserves reserves difference reserves Total
NRGBHER
RGEE WERRE EEfRE EBREEZE Hibfite by
usb usb usb usb usb usD
E E E E E E
Balance at January 1, 2018 RZE-N\E
-A- AW 35,603,166 1,235,402 249,908 (412,455) (742,332) 35,933,689
Appropriation to statutory reserves (Note a) ~ EEZ XTI (fitita) - = 72,445 = = 72,445
The Share Option Scheme - value of BRETE - BERY
employee services (Note 18) {EfE ([fi7E18) - 2,632,141 - - = 2,632,741
Net gains from changes in fair value of RATEHEBEARE
financial assets at fair value through SIAHMEANER
other comprehensive income (Note 8, 12) SREENLTEEY
Y FE (fisre - 12) - - - - 89,572 89,572
Currency translation differences EHREER - - - (445,971) - (445,971)
Balance at December 31, 2018 RZE-N\E
+-ASt+-AMEE 35603166 3,868,143 322,353 (858,426)  (652,760) 38,282,476
Balance at January 1, 2017 RoB-t%
-B-ANgEH 455249 B12443 249908 (969583)  (742332)  (394,315)
Appropriation to statutory reserves (Note a) ~ EAZEFRE (Hiita) - 622,959 - - - 622,959
Capitalisation issue BALET (1,340,000) . . . ~ (1,340,000)
Shares issued pursuant to the IPO REEALNAEERTRG 36,487,917 - - - - 36487917
Currency translation differences ERBEES - - - 557,128 - 557,128
Balance at December 31, 2017 RIE-tE
TZA=+-BNER 35,603,166 1,235,402 249,908 (412,455) (742,332) 35,933,689

(a)

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the
PRC and the Articles of Association of subsidiaries located
in the PRC, it is required to appropriate 10% of the annual
statutory net profits after offsetting any prior years’ losses
as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to the
statutory surplus reserve fund before distributing the net
profit. When the balance of the statutory surplus reserve fund
reaches 50% of the share capital, any further appropriation is
at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory surplus reserve
fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any, and
may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares to
shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding or by
increasing the par value of the shares currently held by them,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve fund after such issue is no less than 25% of share
capital.

(a) RFEFPEMMEEEEERRCATER
WEH B AR M ASERRMAE - RHIR
SFom AR - AREHEIERR R AR
ETMEIMNBTFEEEERE  BFEX
EFREFMI0%BEE AT BB AES -
BEATESAESEHEDRAN50%
B REEHE—PEBAKRERBR
F o AERBAES A AR KEAESF
EWEE () HAEBRRIRERE
B £t 191 ) S BROBE 1T 3T AR (D sk A8 A0 18 55 B
AIFEMBROEEMBRAKRA - HZ
BRTBRATEBATBSNESRTEERE
REARE25% °

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR

N ke N
%/—o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

18 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 18 LARD B EM AR

On February 15, 2018, 21,419,696 and 28,078,914 shares options
were granted under the Share Option Scheme, with exercise price
of HKD0.0074 and USDO0.0074 per share, respectively. The vesting
period of the share options granted is three years and the vesting
schedule is 33.33% after twelve months from the grant date, 33.33%
after 24 months from the grant date, and 33.34% after 36 months
from the grant date respectively.

The directors have used the Binomial option-pricing model to
determine the fair value of the share options as at the grant date.
Key assumptions, such as risk-free interest rate, expected volatility
and dividend yield, are required to be determined by the directors
with best estimates. The risk-free interest rate, expected volatility
and dividend yield were assessed to be 2.65%, 54.58% and 0%,
respectively.

Movements of the number of share options outstanding and their
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

RZZ—NFE=-F+HHB 21,419,696/ &
28,078,914 17 & fR # 5 RIAR & B AR A 51 &1 %
- 1TEE D B A EAR0.00747%8 7T 50.0074
- MELERENEBESA=F m
REREANBELESNET _—_BARKE
33.33% ' NIFHAEER -+ INEAKRES
33.33% ' KRFELBEHE=1+NEALESB
33.34%

ERCEA_BRARREEERETRERE
RIFL BN A TE - EFAUKELERE
EERBRX  EHRERRRESFEIER
& o mERFIE - FEENE R R DRI
732.65% ~ 54.58% 0% ©

WARTTEERENE B 28 Mz SRR
BRI IITEED T

Number of shares
under the option

BREETROHE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
uUsD usD
E ET
Average exercise price
FHITEE
As at January 1 - -
n—BA—H
Granted USDO0.0046 49,498,610 -
g 0.00463£7T
Forfeited USDO0.0044 (6,843,487) -
BRI 0.00443 7T
As at December 31 USD0.0046 42,655,123 -
R+=-—H=+—H 0.0046% T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B EmRMEE ()
19 TRADE PAYABLES 19 ESENRIE
As at December 31,
B+=—A=+—8
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
usb usD
EY ET
Third parties ksl 3,177,289 1,128,017
Related parties (Note 29(d)) FE=7 (M5E29(d)) - 3,394,467
3,177,289 4,522,484
Trade payables primarily related to the revenue sharing collected BoEMNZREBEFEENRRE R ESWER
by payment channels and Platforms which is payable to cooperated WADELEER  EESEAERBEEASE
game developers according to respective cooperation agreements. EEN T EERE 3R - REHERE T
The credit terms of trade payables granted by the vendors are WE SENFTEEZESH K A30290H -
usually 30 to 90 days.
The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as BEEMNZTBENER®ZST (REZEZHH) @
follows: T
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\f e =
usb usD
E3 eV
0-90 days 0£90H 1,043,598 1,399,572
91-180 days 91£180H 978,536 1,052,690
181-360 days 1812360H 345,849 1,239,275
Over 360 days HEiE360H 809,306 830,947
3,177,289 4,522,484

EREDEEERAT —T— \GER
’—W
%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B EmRMEE ()
19 TRADE PAYABLES (continued) 19 EFEMAIE @)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables are AEENE S RN FEMNEREEBE AT EE
denominated in the following currencies: =HE
As at December 31,
R+=-—A=+-—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F B
usbD uUsSbD
EY ET
uUsD E7T 2,984,516 4,120,690
RMB AR 192,773 401,794
3,177,289 4,522,484
As at December 31, 2018, the fair value of trade payables R-_E—NEFE+_A=+—8B BHENKX
approximated their carrying amounts (2017: same). BEHNAVEEHEEmMEMEASE (ZE—+4F : 18
@) e
20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 20 HitEENRERESTER
As at December 31,
R+=—A=+-—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F e
usb usbD
EPH ET
Other taxes payable H b B IE 480,307 447,037
Salary and staff welfare payables EfEHe EIRHA 702,378 628,551
Listing expenses payable FEfS ETR 58,087 1,996,539
Accrued professional service fees JEET B X RIS B 614,444 484,321
Advertising payables ENEEE 324,569 228,850
Amounts due to related parties (Note 29(e))  FEf ARt T 7B (HiE29(e)) - 20,206
Rent payable RS 279,348 279,062
Others Efth 193,200 237,835
2,652,333 4,322,401
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

20 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other payables and accruals
are denominated in the following currencies:

20 HENRERESER &

A& E e E A RN IR R B R B B AREE TS
AT EHEHE

As at December 31,

R+=-—A=+—8H

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+F

usbD usD

ES ET

usD ESH 1,462,482 3,073,460
RMB AR 1,183,805 1,248,941
EURO BT 6,046 -
2,652,333 4,322,401

As at December 31, 2018, the fair value of other payables
approximated their carrying amounts (2017: same).

RZZE-N\F+ZR=+—0 HMENK
HEHAFEEAREEAS (Z2—tF 8
R) -

BHREBEREARAR —T-N\FFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

21 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

21 Hiplas (BE) B8

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
usbD USD
EH ET

Other gains Htb Y 8
Initial license fee forfeited by a licensee FrEENENRVETEER 500,000 -
Foreign exchange gain, net bE 5 s 5 58 186,445 -
Others Hib 26,050 33,776
712,495 33,776

Other losses HibgE
Foreign exchange losses, net FE 5 e85 58 = (572,463)
Others Hit (1,153) (1,226)
(1,153) (573,689)
Other gains/(losses), net Hibls (EBE) FHE 711,342 (539,913)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

22 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of revenue, selling and marketing
expenses, administrative expenses and research and development
expenses are analysed as follows:

22 ZMEETHRAX

PR - SEE RS R - 1T R
RXWFEX AT

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2018 2017
—=2-N\F —T—+tF
usbD USD
EH ET
Commission charges by Platforms and third & & 58 = 5 2R T4 fE v U B )
party payment vendors AeEH 8,083,420 10,853,537
Employee benefits expenses (Note 23) EERFIRZ (M23) 6,544,435 2,842,819
Advertising expenses BERX 3,137,211 2,014,619
Servers rental expenses FRBHAERS 1,887,180 1,575,362
Depreciation and amortisation e Ry 791,840 344,181
Auditors’ remuneration TZ A B
— Audit services — FA RS 660,500 418,000
— Non-audit services — IEEFTARTS 68,000 64,191
Other professional service fees HEMEXREE 411,206 91,129
Office rental expenses PAEHERS 410,589 434,256
Royalty fees hi 1 B 323,766 (108,308)
Office charge WREER 101,361 95,909
Outsourcing research and development SNBAEE R
expenses 69,956 37,947
Travelling and entertainment expenses EIR R IREAR ST 68,222 97,524
Tax surcharges KopIiEsa 20,981 50,269
Listing expenses isitha - 4,760,820
(Reversal of)/provision for trade receivables & 5MEWFTE (BEEREE) /B (33,113) 339,736
Other expenses HE 233,998 197,202
22,779,552 24,109,193
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFE R M (&)
23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES 23 EEEFBEX
Year ended December 31,
BE+-RA=+t—HILEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
usbD USD
EY Er
Wages and salaries TERH® 3,344,339 2,705,618
Share-based payments (Note 18) VARG B AR 30 (MI5E18) 2,632,741 -
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BEEKAN — REHFGTE
(Note a) GEDY 273,988 76,770
Other social security costs, housing benefits ~E bt @RER A - (EEBF KL
and other employee benefits HiEERF 293,367 60,431
6,544,435 2,842,819
(a) Pension costs — defined contribution plans (a) EEBEHA — REMMETE

Employees of the Group’s companies in the PRC are required
to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group contributes funds which are calculated on a fixed
percentage of 14% of the employees’ salary (subject to a
floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to
each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the
employees.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued) 23 EERAMAX @

(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEESFHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in HE-_Z-N\F+-A=+—HIL#F
the Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 include nil o AEENREESFMA LT TE
director. (2017: 3 directors whose emoluments are reflected in REF(ZT—LF:38EF - FEN
the analysis shown in Note 33) The emoluments payable to the DRI R B K I3 RE D AT) ©
remaining 5 (2017: 2) individuals for the year ended December HE-Z—- )/ \F+-A=+—HIEF
31, 2018 is as follows: B BB TE (ZE— 1% 28)
ANTEEBIT

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+t—-RLEFE

2018 2017

=T Pt —E—t5

usbD UsD

ES ET

Wages and salaries TERHS 224,659 149,661

Pension costs — defined contribution plans &BZ&A — R EMHKE 2] 20,164 10,745
Other social security costs, housing EMtgmRERES - FEEF

benefits and other employee benefits KEAMEEE A 23,113 14,057

Share-based payments LABRA B LA 3K 1,784,635 -

2,052,571 174,463
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

23 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

23 EEEABEX @

TEBEHMAL @
HENTATEE
Number of individuals
AE

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—BHLEFE

2018 2017
—®-N\F —F— 7

Emolument band ZrN € E
Nil — HK$1,000,000 = — 1,000,000/ 7T - 2
HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,000/%5 7T — 2,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,000 — HK$3,000,000 2,000,000 7T — 3,000,000/8 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,000 — HK$4,000,000 3,000,000 7T — 4,000,000/%& 7T 3 -

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, neither
directors nor the five highest paid individuals received any
emolument from the Group as an inducement to join, upon
joining the Group, leave the Group or as compensation for loss

of office.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFE R M (&)
24 FINANCE (COSTS)/INCOME, NET 24 B1% (FA) /WA SEEE
Year ended December 31,
BE+=-A=1+—HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
usbD USD
EH ET
Finance income BB A
Interest income F B U A 11,851 2,728
Foreign exchange gains, net P& 5 s 558 - 94,570
11,851 97,298
Finance costs U 2%
Foreign exchange losses, net FE 5 54 5 58 (93,418) (39,388)
Finance (costs)/income, net B (BA), WA FE (81,567) 57,910
25 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 25 Fri8FHiREx
The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended December AEEREBEE-_ZT—\FR=ZT—+tF+=A
31, 2018 and 2017 is analysed as follows: ST —RIEFERNMBRAIS AT
Year ended December 31,
R+=—BA=+—H
2018 2017
—2-NF —E—+%F
usbD uUsD
Ep ETT
Current income tax BVERFT 1S B
— PRC and Hong Kong — R REE 724,189 1,895,444
— Overseas withholding income tax — BINEHIFEH 297,018 429,579
Deferred tax (Note 12) IRIEFE (Mi3E12) 49,906 (69,558)
1,071,113 2,255,465
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

25 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from
Cayman Islands income tax.

British Virgin Islands income tax

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the company
incorporated in BVI are not subject to any income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profits for each of the
years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017.

The PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations
in the PRC has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended December
31, 2018 and 2017, based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

The PRC withholding income tax (“WHT”)

According to the applicable the PRC tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the PRC to a
foreign investor with respect to profits derived after January
1, 2008 are generally subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign
investor incorporated in Hong Kong meets the conditions and
requirements under the double taxation treaty arrangement
entered into between the PRC and Hong Kong, the relevant
withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

During the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the
Group does not have any plan to require its PRC subsidiaries
to distribute their retained earnings and intends to retain them
to operate and expand its business in the PRC. Accordingly, no
deferred income tax liability on PRC WHT was accrued as of
the end of each reporting period.
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25 FRiSFiB X )

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

SRR MEHR

ARBRBREHRSHEBERRENRFSH
BEMKINERLAERAR - Bt
RARERLHNFASEBAEN -

KEELBEMEH

RBRBRELEFSHOAMNEMRO - RHR
B B2 2 B SRR M A SL ) 2 R B R BN T
AIFASH °

EBFEH
HE_Z—N\FER-_Z—+tF+=-A=
T—BIEFE  BIEHE16.5%E(FaT
ERBEFHER B ERBE -

FEREEMRESHR ([RERE
)

RIBAMBAEN  2BRIEN - A&
B AR T ENEBHENMSHER
TERE2B%HBE T \FR-F
—tF+ A=t -BIEFENGEE
RBUBEMETE o

REIFEAEH ([ RHOH 1)

RBEANOTEBRBER - NP BEKZ
MAR—TENE-A-AZKREE
B N A SN R E E D IR BLR — AR R
BAN10%R TR o 650 &8 oE i Ak
SHINEIRE E T A PR EEE 2 HR]
VB ERBIROLZ IR TR LR
E o AEBEEAES R B R10%RRE
5% °

REBEE_ZT—-N\FRER=ZFT—+tF+=A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

25 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

()

(9)

The Vietham WHT

The Group has subcontracted games to a platform operating
in Vietnam. According to the applicable the Vietnam tax
regulations, royalty fees generated from Vietnam are subject to
a 10% WHT.

The Brazil WHT

The Group cooperates with a platform in Brazil. According to
the applicable the Brazil tax regulations, income generated
from Brazil is subject to 10% remittance tax and 15% income
tax, which is withheld by the platform.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differ from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate
in the PRC of 25% as follows:

25 FRiSFiB X )

(f) MEFENB

REBBER D BT —EEMEEER
T REBEERBEREEN - 8
EARIREERBN10% T

EBAEENB

AEHRE—FAEERNFEEE - RE
HRAEARBEN - KEEELRKA
TABN10%E TR R 16% 15T - M
FAEH -

(9)

AR B BERR B A N O 75 1R HE A R
BUAERE2%BHNERSREER
LU

Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1t—HLEE

2018 2017
—2-n\% i
usbD UsD
Ep e
Profit before income tax BR AT BB AR R 2,008,217 3,982,139
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 25% R E25% T H T TE 502,054 995,535
Effect of different tax rates available to  FERNAEBTRKBA A
different subsidiaries of the Group TRABENTE (124,898) (175,440)
Expenses not deductible for tax PR T E R A HUR AR S
purposes 396,939 1,005,791
Overseas withholding income tax EBINBIIATE R 297,018 429,579
Income tax expense FRERHEX 1,071,113 2,255,465
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

26 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue less shares held for the Share
Option Scheme during the year ended December 31, 2018.

26 BREF

B2
REBE-Z-N\F+-A=+—HILFE "
BERRF ((SREF]) HRARRERA
JE A28 M B LA B 384T B9 A 7 35 B AR BUR 3L
FERERT B AR At E -

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F

Profit attributable to owners of the RARHER AEEH (ET)
Company (USD) 937,104 1,726,674

Weighted average number of ordinary shares & 28778 hniE 15 & 58 A%
ORI AR R B B R )

in issue less shares held for the Share
Option Scheme (Note a) (FizEa)

— Basic EPS (in USD cents/share)

1,850,000,027 1,371,917,835

— BREAREF (E,R) 0.05 0.13

(a) Pursuant to the shareholders’ resolutions passed on November
24, 2017, an aggregate of 1,488,888,778 shares of USD0.001
each were allotted issued, credited as fully paid at par, by way
of capitalisation of the sum of USD1,488,889 from the share
premium account, to the then existing shareholders of the
Company on December 15, 2017. In determining the numbers
of ordinary shares in issue for December 31, 2017, a total of
1,500,000,000 ordinary shares were deemed to be in issue
since January 1, 2017.

The EPS is based on that 1,850,000,027 and 1,371,917,835
shares were the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue excluding the 149,999,973 (2017:149,999,973)
shares held for the Share Option Scheme for the year ended
December 31, 2018, without taking into account any shares
which may be granted and issued by the Company pursuant to
the Share Option Scheme.
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(@) BER-_Z—tF+-A-+THABEBE
B FORE S - BB R ERR T &
71,488,889 TIERER W T —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFE R M (&)

26 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 26 SREAEF @)
Diluted #E
The share options granted by the Company have potential dilutive AARRENERESTRET B ETEEE
effect on the EPS. Diluted EPS is calculated by adjusting the A EREERR BB BT S @mARAY
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue less shares BER B ERE BB EITEINRNDE B
held for the Share Option Scheme outstanding by the assumption of TEAEME - ML IREAD IR E B
the conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares arising from ERMEEANAEZ TR T AR EEKR (&
share options granted by the Company (collectively forming the HEARFESRBERFONE) - BF (9
denominator for computing the diluted EPS). No adjustment is made F) WEEFRE -

to earnings (numerator).

Year ended December 31,

BE+T-A=+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
Profit attributable to owners of the RARE AEREF (F7T)
Company (USD) 937,104 1,726,674
Weighted average number of ordinary shares & %77 & 8@ A% hn4E 7 19 B0,
in issue less shares held for the Share PEERES EIS B ORG
Option Scheme 1,850,000,027 1,371,917,835
Adjustments for share options PR R AR 10,403,520 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares B {ExtE &A% 58 2 1) #9385
for the calculation of diluted EPS kT HER 1,860,403,547 1,371,917,835
— Diluted EPS (in USD cents/share) — FREEAT (EILR) 0.05 0.13
No adjustment has been made to diluted EPS for the year ended AR AATIR-_E—+tF+-_A=+—RI1E
December 31, 2017 as the Company did not have any potential {FAA] 2L 1T AN BB RS & ey T mak -
ordinary shares outstanding as at December 31, 2017. Wl ESEE—"T—+FE+_A=+—HIF

B GRS B AR -

27 DIVIDEND 27 RE
The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment of AKRABEETEERNHE_Z—N\F+=-A
any dividend for the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: same). =+ —HIEEZEAREE (ZE—+F : 48
Rl °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SOFE R M (&)
28 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 28 KEMBRE
Year ended December 31,
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
usbD USD
EY ET
Profit before income tax FRETS B AT R T 2,008,217 3,982,139
Adjustments for: PN SIBEL %
— (Reversal of)/provision for trade — B HERIE (BEREE),
receivables (Note 22) BE (H722) (33,113) 339,736
— Depreciation of property, plant and — W BEEREEE (HiEe)
equipment (Note 6) 370,363 211,928
— Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 7)  — ML &R (MI57) 497,657 132,253
— Share of losses of investment accounted — B AEREARS
for using the equity method (Note 11) BEEE (MiE11) 3,355 47,274
— Share-based payments — AR BER R 2,632,741 -
— Foreign exchange (gain)/losses, net —BX (&), BiEFE (189,474) 501,935
5,289,746 5,215,265
Changes in operating assets and liabilities K& EEREEEH
— Trade receivables — BB RUGRIE 430,587 (793,841)
— Prepayments and other receivables — A R R B R R IE (1,816,981) (745,384)
— Contract cost — B 204,328 (358,712)
— Trade payables — B ENFIE (1,345,195) (1,689,850)
— Contract liabilities —AKak (263,101) 185,433
— Other payables and accruals — b ERRIB R ERH B A (1,197,323) (91,978)
— Advance from customers — BREF A 28,300 (407,404)
Cash generated from operations KERBHRS 1,330,361 1,313,529
During the year ended December 31, 2018, no changes in liabilities REBE-T-N\F+_A=1+—HBIEFE I
arose from financing activities (2017: same). ERERHELANEEESY (-5 H

R) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 29 EXEBARS

TRANSACTIONS

(a) Names and relationships with related (a) PAESE S M & 78 K B BA B 5 1Y
parities [£2REA

THRRRBEARRBE_Z—N\FER
ZEtF+ A=t -BLEFEHAR

The following companies and individuals were related parties
of the Group that had transactions and/or balances with the

Group during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017:

Name of related party

MBS B8

SEER S R G E) R = B B
FH

Relationship with the Group
BEAKEMNEER

Mr. Yu Ching Ming

RIGEASLE

Guangzhou Lanquan Information Technology
Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Lanquan”)

BMNERIESRRBERAR ([EMNEE )

Anhui Tips Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Anhui Tips”)

LRREHBEPARAT ([ZHEEH])

Shenzhen 7Road Technology Co., Ltd.

RYNFELERBRHER AR

Shenzhen Qianhai Huanjing Network Technology

Co., Ltd

RN RS LR E R A A]

Shanghai Jiying
LEEE

Shareholder of the Company

RARIMER

An entity controlled by Mr. Lu Yuanfeng, one of the Founders,
before the entity deregistered at February 7, 2018

ZEBR-_Z—\EF_RAtREVEZMAT - BERE TS
(BIPFAZ —) ZEHIEE S

An entity was held 15.6% by Mr. Lu Yuanfeng, one of the
Founders, before the entity deregistered at May 31, 2018

ZEBN_Z— \FRA=+—BBUEMA
mERIESEE (BIFAZ—) HE15.6% RN E R

A fellow subsidiary of 7Road International Group Limited, one
of the shareholders which has 15.5% equity after the IPO of
the Company and significant influence over the Group
before December 27, 2018

7Road International Group Limited ¥R ZK{E AR
M7Road International Group Limited & 22 &) & X AR
BERBEAERRAIS5%RENRR L — RZT—/\F
TR ERAEAEETRERTED

A fellow subsidiary of 7Road International Group Limited,
one of the shareholders which has 15.5% equity after the
IPO of the Company and significant influence over the
Group before December 27, 2018

7Road International Group Limited®9[F ZKE A 7]
M7Road International Group Limited &R A A B & X AR
BEREARNNFSL%KRENRR s — KRB N\F
TZAZTERAEAEETREATE

Associate of the Group

REEHBE QA

el

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B EmRMEE ()
29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 29 EXRBHBARS @)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Significant transactions with related (b) EEEB A NERR S
parties
The following significant transactions were carried out between AR ERA 5 i 7 5 (B B 5 RR Bt 77 PO &L
the Group and its related parties during the year ended EE-N\FTA=T—HILEFEE
December 31, 2018. In the opinion of the directors of the T ARREERE  BHMARXIH IR
Company, the related party transactions were carried out in the HEXEBRPERNEEREEE @@
normal course of business and at terms negotiated between 77 HE P R FGEETT o

the Group and the respective related parties.

—NE+ZA=T—HI1LF

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the following REBZE-T
transactions were carried out with related parties: & AT 5 Th L Ra T 1T

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

uUsbD UsD

Ep ET

License fees and royalty fees charged RAEE T W T A B AR IEE

by related parties:

— 7Road — B KB 514,817 (197,381)

— Anhui Tips — TR EHT - 14,323

514,817 (183,058)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b) Significant transactions with related
parties (Continued)

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group paid
7Road USD2,000,000 for game licenses, which was recognised
as intangible asset (2017: nil). The amortisation of license
fees recognised as intangible asset was USD334,177, and the
royalty fees charged by 7Road was USD180,640.

29 ERBEBERS

(b) EHEEBANERR S (@)

RBE_Z-N\F+_-_A=+—BILF
B - REE LA AT R E L REX
72,000,000 7T © WHER B ELEE
—EF R BAREREED
FRFEE R R334177R L ME
EREWE RO A B 43 180,64055 T ©

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-HLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
usb uUsD
EH ET

Royalty fees offset against revenue: AR REE
- 7Road — B+ KB 2,108,642 3,476,017
— Guangzhou Lanquan —EMERE = 159
2,108,642 3,476,176

The transactions of royalty fees charged by related parties
amounting to USD2,108,642 (2017: USD3,476,176) were
deducted from revenue according to revenue recognition (Note
2.20) for the year ended December 31, 2018.

HE-_Z-N\E+-_A=+—BI#HF
E - B WAk iE B 2,108,642 7T
— T —+4F:3,476,176F% T) BB IE
W AHER (Ki5E2.20) HEUAIER,

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 29 EXBHARE @)
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c) Key management personnel (c) BREEEAENTMH
compensations
The compensations paid or payable to key management HESRGENIEMNAREEEBASR
personnel (including directors and CEO) for employee services (RREFERERANTE) NHMNZ RN
are shown below: Ik

Year ended December 31,

BE+-A=+—-BHLEFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

usbD UsSD

EYH e

Wages and salaries ITERHS 242,889 374,712

Pension costs — defined contribution plans BESHRA — REHFGTE 14,514 30,345
Other social security costs, housing benefits ~E bt @RER A - (EEEH

and other employee benefits REMIEBRF 18,556 38,781

275,959 443,838
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Year-end balances arising from significant
transaction with related parties

29 ERBEBERS

(d) BEEBINEARZELEN
FEREGER

As at December 31,

R+=—A=+—8
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
usbD UsSD
ES ET
Trade payables to related parties FESTRERE 5 B 5 S 5RIE
(Note 19): (FF&E19) -
— 7Road -+ KE - 3,324,748
— Guangzhou Lanquan —BEMNER - 69,719
- 3,394,467

The non-executive director of the Company representing
7Road International Group Limited resigned as a director of the
Company on December 27, 2018 (Note 33(a)(iv)) and 7Road
International Group Limited no longer has significant influence
over the Group since that, therefore, 7Road was not related
party of the Group thereafter.

The balance represented the payable due to revenue sharing
between the Group and related parties for games licensed by
related parties.

XX 7Road International Group Limitedf)
AARFRITEER _T—N\F+=_A=
THRBEARRFES (FF7E33(a)(iv))
iM7Road International Group Limited 5 It
THEREEEASATE N  AkE+L
NEBUTBAREBEREET -

ZIRME IR AN S B B R R 0 BB Oy
BRENEEETRADEMEEWEN

A o

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Year-end balances arising from significant
transaction with related parties (Continued)

Balances with related parties were unsecured, interest-free and
repayable according to agreed credit term.

29 ERBEBERS

(d) BEREBINEARZEEN
FRESR @)

ST WERSERR RS REAR
BEEEGRREE -

As at December 31,

Rt+t=A=+-8H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF
uUsbD uUsD
EY ET
Prepayments to related party: M) BA S 77 TR K ¢
— Shanghai Jiying — LBEE 261,000 215,040

This amount as at December 31, 2018 represented prepaid
royalty fee to Shanghai Jiying for a virtual reality game.

Balance with related party was unsecured, interest-free and
repayable according to agreed credit term.

(e) Year-end balances arising from operations
and capital contributions/distributions

ZER_E-NFtZA=t—HHE
HERER - EERERERALERE
AN EIRIEE -

BT AR REERR RS RAR

HEEBEGRESR -

(e) BEREAXHE DIRELE
B9 R4S R

As at December 31,

Rt=A=t-8
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—tF
usD usb
£7 %5

Amount due to related parties
(Note 20):

Non-trade FES
— Mr. Yu Ching Ming — RIEBEEE

JE < BB 73 R (BRRE20) ¢

- 20,206

The balance as at December 31, 2017 mainly represented
the unsettled rental payments to related parties. It was settled
during the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

BO B EmRMEE ()
30 COMMITMENTS 30 A
(a) Capital commitments (a) EREIE
The Group’s capital expenditure contracted for at the end of AEBRERBITNOHEHREELENER
the year but not yet incurred is as follows: N
As at December 31,
R+=—BA=+—8H
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E—+tF
uUsbD uUsD
EH ET
Not later than 1 year NS - 665,099
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHEAE
The Group leases office buildings under non-cancellable AEBBBERITHENEEHAEHER
operating lease agreements. The lease terms are between 1 ERATKIE - HEHBI1FEIF -
years to 9 years.
The Group’s future aggregate minimum lease payments under AREBRE AT RENKEEHERARK
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: SEEENRBEAT :

As at December 31,

R+=—BA=+-—H

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+5F

usbD USD

EPH e

Not later than 1 year TER1F 382,279 553,446

Later than 1 year and not later than 2 years EBIMFETER2F 359,525 375,813

Later than 2 year and not later than 3 years ~ ER2FBTERIF 364,966 356,611

Later than 3 year and not later than 5 years ~ ER3FEBTERSF 743,499 738,214

Later than 5 years BR5F 1,027,041 -

2,877,310 2,024,084

31 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 31 HREE
There were no significant contingent liabilities as at December 31, RZE-NFRZZE—EF+_A=+—8#
2018 and 2017. MERNRAE -

EREDEEERAT —T— \GER
Q—(/‘W
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

EOtE SRR M (])
32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 32 A AREESBXREFEHESD
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
As at December 31,
R+=—HA=+—~H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
uUsD UsD
EPH e
ASSETS &E
Non-current assets FkREBEE
Financial assets at FVOCI BAFEFEEEESTA
Hip2mlasnemEE 2,670,518 -
Investments in subsidiaries RETBARMEE 455,449 455,449
Prepayments FEFTR 50,000 50,000
3,175,967 505,449
Current assets REEE
Amount due from subsidiaries i = NEIE ] 20,033,116 10,644,492
Prepayments and other receivables TR R S EL A P W SRR 43,987 43,987
Cash and cash equivalents Re kIR EEY 25,398,071 37,683,982
45,475,174 48,372,461
Total assets HWEE 48,651,141 48,877,910
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES ExkEaE
Equity s
Share capital & A< 2,000,000 2,000,000
Shares held for the Share Option Scheme ThEERR T Bl A M AR D (150,000) (150,000)
Reserves 1 38,937,922 36,215,609
(Accumulated losses)/retain earnings (R&HE1B) REBAF (863,570) 2,799,438
Total equity R 39,924,352 40,865,047
Liabilities 8
Non-Current liabilities kRBEE
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMGHAaE 21,339 -
Current liabilities REAE
Amount due to subsidiaries N NGIE S 8,423,623 5,988,049
Other payables and accruals EMEMA AR ERTEA 281,827 2,024,814
Total liabilities FeS=Rit 8,726,789 8,012,863
Total equity and liabilities HEZNEE 48,651,141 48,877,910

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on March 22, 2019 and was signed on its behalf.

%

Director

5=

Director
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

32 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

2 ARNFEERERRREEE

(&)

(a) XA EEE

Share-based

Retained Share payment Fair value
earnings premium reserves reserves Reserves
LR HER
REEBF RHHEE IREE AFEES ]
usbD usbD usbD usbD usbD
E E E E EH
Balance at January 1, R-ZZB—N\F
2018 —B—B#8 2,799,438 35,603,166 612,443 - 36,215,609
Losses for the year FREE (3,663,008) = - - -
The Share Option Scheme ¥ #Est2]
— value of employee —EERBKBEE
services - - 2,632,741 - 2,632,741
Change in fair value of BATEAEREES
financial asset at FVOCI st AEMEE KSR
CREELZ N TEE - - - 89,572 89,572
(863,570) 35,603,166 3,245,184 89,572 38,937,922
Balance at December 31, R=—ZE—N\F
2018 +=ZB=+—H#&8
Balance at January 1, R-ZT—+tF
2017 —B—B#8 (2,904,265) 455,249 612,443 - 1,067,692
Profit for the year F N5 A 5,703,703 - - - -
Capitalisation issue B AR EELT — (1,340,000) - — (1,340,000)
Shares issued pursuant BREBXARABE
to the IPO TR - 36,487,917 - — 36,487,917
2,799,438 35,603,166 612,443 - 36,215,609

BREPEEFRAF T \FFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

B BHRERME ()

33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments

The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the
year ended December 31, 2018 is set out below:

3BEEERANEANE (FBQAK
Bl (55622F) 55383f% » A A
(REBEEZENZER) R (5
622GE) REER L MHRRIAR
ERHE)

(a) EEREETBRAENME

SREERBBTRABRBE T —
NE+= A=+ B FE O HIES
m -

Other social
security
costs,
housing
benefits Pension
and other cost-defined
employee contribution

Name Salaries(i) benefits plans Total
Hitdt &
RER A
EEEAR BEEHEK -
®E () HtEERRAN REEREE st
usbD usbD UsD UsD
E E E E
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng (Note ii) RIS (B 5L 60,324 6,306 4,838 71,468
Mr. Huang Guozhan (Note iii) =@ LA (Ff i) 52,581 6,125 4,838 63,544
Mr. Huang Degiang (Note v)  =7&Es& %4 (M5Ev) 52,581 6,125 4,838 63,544
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Meng Shugi (Note iv) wEF A (MFTiv) - - - -
Independent Non-executive BN HITES

Directors
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw  ABfE4E %A (M &tvi)

(Note vi) 25,801 - - 25,801
Mr. Li Yi Wen (Note vi) PRk A (Fistvi) 25,801 - - 25,801
Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum RN A (MEtvi)

(Note vi) 25,801 - - 25,801

242,889 18,556 14,514 275,959
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO MRNE ()

33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 33 EEFEARAE (BB LK
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED Bl ($£622%) $3831% - A A
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG (RBRESFEER) 20 (B
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622GE) REE L MR B R
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF EHHE) )

INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s () EERBEITHRAENME
emoluments (Continued) ()

The remuneration of every director and chief executive for the BREERGESTHABEREZ T —
year ended December 31, 2017 is set out below: tF+ A=+ —HIEFEOHHET
e

Other social
security
costs,
housing
benefits Pension
and other  cost-defined
employee contribution

Name Salaries(i) benefits plans Total
Hbrg
RIERKZ -
FEEMNE BEEKAE -
e Fa@) HMESRFN REHNKEE wEt
uUsD uUsD uUsD UsD
ET ET ET ET
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lu Yuanfeng (Note ii) R R g S A (B Rii) 60,169 6,079 4,339 70,587
Mr. Huang Guozhan (Note iii) Z=BIELEA (M 5Eii) 52,449 5,723 4,339 62,511
Mr. Huang Degiang (Note v)  &=fZE38 54 (Mistv) 28,241 2,939 2,272 33,452
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Meng Shugi (Note iv) wEF A (MiFtiv) - - - -

Independent Non-executive BEIFHTES

Directors
Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw BRTEAE S A (Bt sEvi)

(Note vi) - - - -
Mr. Li Yi Wen (Note vi) R AE (B sEvi) - - - -
Ms. Imma Ling Kit-sum ERL A (Miskvi)

(Note vi) - - - -

140,859 14,741 10,950 166,550

EREDEEERAT —T— \GER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(a) Directors’

and chief executive’s

emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(M)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid or
receivable in respect of that person’s other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its

subsidiary undertakings.

Mr. Lu Yuanfeng was appointed as director and re-designated as
executive director as well as chief executives of the Company and
chairman of the Board on November 24, 2014.

Mr. Huang Guozhan was appointed as director and re-designated

as an executive director of the Company on November 2, 2015.

Mr. Meng Shugi was appointed as director and re-designated as
a non-executive director of the Company on November 2, 2015.
Mr Meng resigned as a director of the Company on December
27, 2018 due to personal reasons. He confirmed that there was
no disagreement with the Board and nothing relating to the affairs
of the Company needed to be brought to the attention of the

shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Huang Deqgiang was appointed as director and re-designated
as an executive director of the Company on June 28, 2017.

Mr. Darren Raymond Shaw, Mr. Li Yi Wen and Ms. Imma Ling
Kit-sum were appointed as independent non-executive directors of
the Company on November 24, 2017.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, no directors waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments (2017: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
AR RN ()

33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP.
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF
INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by the
directors in respect of their services as directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or other services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking during the year ended December 31,
2018 (2017: nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended December 31, 2018, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
payable (2017: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

No consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties
for making available directors’ services subsisted at the end of
or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017:
nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

No loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such directors subsisted at the end of or at any time during the
year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

SO MRNE ()

33 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 33 EEFEARAE (BB LK
DIRECTORS (DISCLOSURES REQUIRED Bl ($£622%) $3831% - A A
BY SECTION 383 OF THE HONG (RBRESFEER) 20 (B
KONG COMPANIES ORDINANCE (CAP. 622GE) REE L MR B R
622), COMPANIES (DISCLOSURE OF EHHE) )

INFORMATION ABOUT BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS) REGULATION (CAP. 622G)
AND HK LISTING RULES) (continued)

(f) Directors’ material interests in () EBERRE - ZHELEHNN
transactions, arrangements or contracts BEAER

No other significant transactions, arrangements and contracts MERARTAZ2EFRARAREENE

in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was REEAEZ (TwmEAEMEE) BEAR

a party and in which a director of the Company had a material SEXEFBENEMEARS  RHR

interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of AHREBE_T-N\F+ZA=+—H

or at any time during the year ended December 31, 2018 (2017: IFFEE RGP BT A EERAE

nil), except for the transactions disclosed in Note 29. E(ZZT—+t5F : |&) W29 KR ER
HIZZ BRI -

@ Digital Hollywood Interactive Limited Annual Report 2018
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